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PART |
Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors

Statements contained in this annual report on Fdi¥K, or Annual Report, regarding our expectatid®iefs, estimates, intentions or
strategies are forward-looking statements withertteaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act@83 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Any statements containedihé¢hat are not statements of historical fact maylbemed to be forward-looking
statements. For example, words such as "may,","Wilhould," "estimates," "predicts," "potential¢ontinue," "strategy," "believes,"
"anticipates,” "plans," "expects," "intends," amuitar expressions are intended to identify forwérdking statements. You should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statemextttual results and trends may differ materiallynfr historical results or those projected in
any such forwardeoking statements depending on a variety of factbhese factors include, but are not limited tarkat acceptance of new
existing services and features, success of ourteffo target mid-market and larger distributecegmises, changes in the competitive dynamic
of the markets in which we compete, customer céatéas and rate of churn, impact of current ecoieactimate and adverse credit market:
our target customers, our ability to scale our hess, our reliance on infrastructure of third-pawywork services providers, risk of failure in
our physical infrastructure, risk of failure of casftware, our ability to maintain the compatilyilaf our software with third-party applications
and mobile platforms, continued compliance withuisily standards and regulatory requirements, rislasing to our strategies and objectives
for future operations, including the executionmtgration plans and realization of the expecteg:fies of our acquisitions, the amount and
timing of costs associated with recruiting, tragnend integrating new employees, introduction atwption of our cloud communications and
collaboration services in markets outside of thé&dhStates, and general economic conditions thaticadversely affect our business and
operating results. The forwatdeking statements may also be impacted by thetiaddi risks faced by us as described in this Rejpueluding
those set forth under the section entitled "Ristt&ia." All forwardiooking statements included in this Annual Repoetlzased on informatic
available to us on the date hereof, and we asswnobligation to update any such forward-lookingestaents. Readers are urged to carefully
review and consider the various disclosures madeisnrAnnual Report, which attempt to advise insézd parties of the risks and factors that
may affect our business, financial condition, resaf operations and prospects.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each calendar.yEach reference to a fiscal year in this AnReglort, refers to the fiscal year ended
March 31 of the calendar year indicated (for examfiscal 2014 refers to the fiscal year ended M&TL, 2014). Unless the context requires
otherwise, references to "we," "us," "our," "8x8idathe "Company" refer to 8x8, Inc. and its cordatied subsidiaries.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a leading provider of unified communicatiand collaboration, or UCC, services in the clomdsimall and medium businesses, or
SMBs, and mid-market and distributed enterprises.déliver a broad suite of UCC services to in-effamd mobile devices spanning cloud
telephony, virtual contact center and virtual megthrough our proprietary unified software asmise, or SaaS, platform. We currently serve
approximately 38,000 business customers with 008r@0 subscriptions, making us a leading providésCC services in the cloud. Our
software abstracts complex networking, redundasegurity and interconnection requirements to p@édeamless and easy-to-use solution
for our customers. Our software also integrateh leiading enterprise resource planning, or ERRpmer relationship management, or CRM,
human capital management, or HCM, and other thindypapplication suites, such as Salesforce.comNmt8uite, to provide organizations an
integrated, fully functional business communicasi@md collaboration experience that is criticabperate their businesses.

Our customers range from startups to large, digih enterprises. We offer customers a secureayrsolution which can be deployed easily
through our proprietary integrated cloud servispans the breadth of communications and collalmrateeds and is provided reliably and at
an affordable cost. This allows customers to famusheir business instead of trying to manage @meptexities of deploying UCC platforms
and integrating these platforms with other appiaes that have already been outsourced to the ckuah as ERP, CRM and/or HCM.
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Available Information

We were incorporated in California in February 188 reincorporated in Delaware in December 1996 nvsintain a corporate Internet
website at the address http://www.8x8.com. Theamstof this website are not incorporated in oenilise to be regarded as part of this
Annual Report. We file reports with the Securiitesl Exchange Commission, or SEC, which are availablour website free of charge. These
reports include annual reports on Form 10-K, quigrteports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Fori &d amendments to such reports,
each of which is provided on our website as soarasonably practical after we electronically ileeh materials with or furnish them to the
SEC. You can also read and copy any materialsleefth the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Rabh®0 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. You can obtain additional information abitngt operation of the Public Reference Room byrogllhe SEC at 1.800.SEC.0330. In
addition, the SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gloa) contains reports, proxy and information stegets, and other information regarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC, indihg 8x8.

Our Industry

Businesses are increasingly focused on utilizingititp and UCC solutions to enable increased pragitg, improve interactions with
customers and partners, and enhance organizatigitidy and responsiveness. Legacy solutions hawegn to be increasingly expensive and
cumbersome and do not meet these evolving busiagagements. Companies of all sizes are managingcaeasingly mobile and globally
distributed workforce that seeks to leverage midtipeans of communications and collaboration, idiclg voice, text, video and desktop. The
rapid rise of mobile devices in the enterprise ¢rasited demand for "bring your own device," or BY,@bbvisioning capabilities. Additionall
companies are looking to increase their competé#iyge by integrating ERP, CRM and HCM applicatiand other back-office information
technology, or IT, systems with their communicasi@md collaboration systems. Finally, as cyberatsrproliferate and hackers become more
sophisticated, voice and data security and comgdiaane at the forefront of business requiremerggaty providers have struggled to keep up
with the new business paradigm and continue toiredpng, high-touch sales and setup cycles infemmtéo solve carrier and hardware
complexity. New cloudsased providers deliver point solutions and typycab not provide a secure, comprehensive UCC quiatfin the cloud

Cloud Market Opportunity

We believe that the addressable market for ouiadthfloud communications and collaboration servisdarge, growing and underpenetrated.
Our services directly address multiple markets.okding to TechNavio, an independent research fineworldwide Unified Communications
as a Service, or UCaaS market will grow at a 2488@R from $2.0 billion in 2012 to $4.9 billion ir026. Gartner forecasts that the cloud-
based Contact Center market will grow at an 18.5%@R from $467 million in 2012 to $921 million in 26. The global web event services
market is forecasted by Frost & Sullivan to grovadt5.4% CAGR from $354 million in 2012 to $628Imoil in 2016. We address these
markets with our Virtual Office, Virtual Contact Gter and Virtual Meeting solutions, respectively.

We believe the market has reached an inflectiontpeihere existing legacy providers are unable twigie a broad UCC solution, and the
adoption of cloud-based UCC services will increeseompanies embrace its significant benefits.

L egacy Approaches are Cumbersome and Expensive

Companies are facing increasing complexity withlogments of communications and collaboration s&wid he exponential growth and
variety of mobile devices (with employees seekmgniport their personal devices into the workplangironment), a globally distributed
workforce, demand for full functionality with thixdarty applications and other back office IT systeand increasing security and regulatory
concerns create numerous challenges for compageding a comprehensive UCC solution, including:

e Hardware/Software Vendor, Carrier and Sub-Carrier Complexity. Establishing connectivity and communications tigtothe myriad
of hardware and software vendors, carriers, subiecarand international carriers is becoming everartomplex. Companies need
reliable connectivity without complex configurat®that require long lead times to implement.

e Device Proliferation / BYOD. The exponential growth of mobile devices has resuith BYOD in the workplace and, as a result, has
increased companies' need for communications all@booation services in order to improve employesdpctivity. Furthermore,
companies need to manage and secure voice and/bidegprotecting customer privacy.
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e Globally Distributed Enterprises and Workforces. Companies of all sizes and their employees arelis¢éd globally and there is a
need to support communications and collaboratioossdocations and between employees on a unifig@ms that can be easily
deployed and work reliably.

e Applications Regquirements. As companies look to gain an edge in an increagiogipetitive environment, ERP applications help
improve efficiency while CRM applications help mgeaand streamline customer interactions and HCMigijpns facilitate
communication with companies' employees. Many e$¢happlications provide additional benefits anprovied productivity when
integrated with a communications and collaboratiuite, allowing employees to communicate inforaatuickly.

e Compliance. Increasing regulations and compliance procedurdsachplexity to the already difficult task of managy
communications for dozens or hundreds of employ@esipanies need a way to secure data and prewaewiuient use of
communication services. Additionally, a continuadlyolving regulatory environment requires complefwgare to secure voice and d
communications and comply with privacy protectiegulations.

e Cost of Deployment . In addition to these complex requirements, chifsfrmation officers are facing increased budgetticy and a
need to implement a scalable solution at an affiledeost.

Shortcomings of Existing Solutions

The current market is primarily comprised of twaegpries of solutions that are unable to adequatgdiyess today's business communication:
and collaboration requirements:

e Legacy Providers. Legacy providers typically provide on-premise siolog that require a long, complex and high-toudbssand setup
process with proprietary hardware. These on-presofigions are difficult to deploy and expensivertaintain in multiple locations for
a globally distributed workforce. In addition, tlegacy solutions do not provide the resiliency bodiness continuity capabilities
required by customers.

e Point Solution Cloud Providers. New cloud providers have emerged to address the foeeapid provisioning and simple deployment
of communications or collaboration software. Howeweese solutions are typically siloed and doawtently provide a comprehens
communications and collaboration suite.

The 8x8 Solution

The 8x8 solution runs on our unified software @ati. At the core of our platform are two centralieologies delivering functionality for
today's business requirements. Our Infrastructumedder abstracts complex global interconnectiwtyveen VolP and traditional PSTN to
provide easy-to-use connectivity for our customéns: Integration Manager integrates with third-papplications, including Salesforce.com,
Microsoft Dynamics, NetSuite and many others, twvjate integrated applications functionality witliar communications and collaboration
services. We have been awarded 92 United StateatpaOur solution provides the following key bétsef

e Comprehensive SaaS Suite. Our services consist of Virtual Office, Virtual Gant Center and Virtual Meeting, providing a single
platform for our customers' UCC needs. Our platf@srimtegrated and enables cross-suite functigndlitir customers receive
transparent subscription pricing without the bilicomplexities and minute overages typically asdgedi with traditional providers.
Furthermore, software updates and related seraigedelivered without complex hardware or on-prenmigrastructure upgrade cycles
and can significantly reduce set-up times.

e Rapid Cloud Provisioning. Our UCC in the cloud solution allows for rapid pigigning of business phones and mobile devices
globally. Customers only need to install our apgdiien on their mobile device or plug in our pre-figared IP phones to use a turnkey
cloud telephony solution and access our softwaatqim.

e ApplicationsIntegration. We integrate with thirgearty applications including Salesforce.com, Miafd®ynamics, NetSuite, Zende
SugarCRM, eAgent and many others to provide enltafusetionality within our UCC services.

e Security and Compliance. We have invested heavily in complying with statd &ederal regulations including FISMA, HIPAA,
HITECH and PCI DSS.




e Affordability. Our cloud UCC services are typically more afftridahan traditional services and offer more UCGctionality at a
fraction of the cost of traditional providers, evefore including additional system integrationtsdbat are likely to be incurred when
deploying traditional services.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to provide our reliable, scaladtel profitable cloud UCC solutions globally. Wedeage our proprietary, standards-based,
unified software platform to deliver innovative sgeo-deploy, highly secure and competitively pdicgferings to small and medium size
business ("SMBs") and mid-market and large distatenterprises. We intend to bring higmality cloud telephony, virtual contact centerd
virtual meeting services to businesses at an afdedprice. Our cloud UCC solution enhances the euaycustomers communicate and
collaborate. We intend to continue to focus ourkating primarily towards our business customerises:

Our Growth Initiatives

Our growth initiatives reflect our goal to be tleadling global provider of UCC in the cloud. Thddaling are key elements of our growth
strategy:

e Upsell our Products and Services. Our services provide additional benefits when usembncert, and we intend to upsell our products
and services by educating our customers on theiawlali functionality that can be achieved with @€C platform.

e Increase Mid-Market and Distributed Enterprise Adoption. We plan to capitalize on the increasing penetratiocioud-based
communications and collaboration solutions in midrket and distributed enterprises by increasieggamn our direct and channel si
strategy.

e Expand Globally. We intend to focus on penetrating select marketsiadel the United States in order to capture moté@frowing
global market for UCC in the cloud which we beliegs@inderpenetrated and lends itself to a cost&ffe and easily deployable cloud
solution.

e Build New Products and Service Offerings on our Platform. We believe our unified software platform can bestaged to offer
additional products and services. We intend togirte our service offerings further and provideitiaial functionality for our
customers.

e Pursue Strategic Acquisitions. We intend to identify, acquire and integrate sgat¢echnologies, assets and businesses that vevydel
will build out our breadth of SaaS offerings and/ergrowth, both domestically and internationally.

Our Platform

Our unified software platform delivers a comprelemseasy-to-use communications and collaboratibation for SMBs and mid-market and
distributed enterprises. Our Infrastructure Managdtware abstracts complex global interconnegtibétween VolP and traditional PSTN,
enabling a turnkey UCC solution for our customéwditionally, our Integration Manager software igtates with third-party applications and
other back-end IT systems, allowing our customei@ctess important data while communicating widirtblients or collaborating with
colleagues. These core components of our softwatfopm enable rapid workspace and phone proviegaind seamless deployment of our
UCC solutions globally. Furthermore, we have ingddteavily in complying with state and federal fatjans, including FISMA, HIPAA,
HITECH and PCI DSS. Although we cannot ever beateithat our systems fully comply with these compiegulations, we have expended
significant resources on developing software artdinlmg third party risk assessments that enabte sserve customers that are required to
comply with these regulations.

Our services work on smartphones, tablets, PCshtides and mobile phones. In addition, our platfitegrates with third party applications
such as Salesforce.com, NetSuite, Microsoft DynancigarCRM, Zendesk, eAgent and many others tag@@nhanced functionality.
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Our Services
Virtual Office

Virtual Office, our flagship service, was launchiedvlarch 2004 and is targeted at the SMB and midketaand distributed enterprise markets.
Virtual Office is an affordable, easy-to-use alagive to traditional business phone, PBX systenSartrex class services from legacy
telecommunications providers that offers features services neither provide. Virtual Office allousers with a broadband Internet connectiol
anywhere in the world to be part of a virtual PBMttincludes automated attendants to assist catienderence bridges, extension-to-extensio
dialing and ring groups, in addition to a rich ‘edyi of other business class PBX features typidallymd on premise based PBX equipment. The
service is provided through our proprietary sofevéirat runs on our UCC platform located in our lizgh centers. In some instances, we sell
pre-configured office phones used in connectiom wiir services to our customers.

As a completely cloud-based service, Virtual Offsebles SMB customers to rapidly deploy and easélyage enterprise-grade PBX and
business telephony capabilities, including full ntibh with no upfront capital expense and no regaient for in-house IT resources.
Furthermore, our cloud-based delivery model pravigisamless connectivity across multiple officesfandities, worldwide, for our larger
mid-market and distributed enterprise customers.

Virtual Office subscribers have the ability to ckeany phone number available to our subscribgerdéess of a user's geographic location.
Subscribers also can port existing telephone nusni@luding toll-free numbers, from other servizeviders at no additional cost. Each
extension in the virtual PBX can be located anywherthe world that is serviced by a high-speedrhndt connection. Virtual Office extension-
to-extension calls and transfers are accomplished the Internet, anywhere in the world, free df@xharges from third party
telecommunications carriers. Virtual Office offéine following features:

Auto-attendant providing dial by extension, namg@up;
Unlimited calling to the US, Canada, certain addi&il countries and other subscribers to our sesym&well as low international rates;
Phone numbers in more than 50 countries with asjretarea code for each extension;
Conference bridge, three-way calling, music on ho#dl park/pick-up, call transfer, hunt groupsdalo not disturb;
Business-class voice mail including email alertd dinect transfer to mailbox;
Call waiting / Caller-ID;
Distinctive tone ringing;
Optional receptionist console application offering:
o Multiple call viewing and handling;
o Direct transfer to extension's voicemail;
o Supervised transfers; and
o View of extension status.

In order to meet the needs of our growing mid-miakel distributed enterprise customers, we proaienterprise offering of Virtual Office
called Virtual Office Pro. Virtual Office Pro isgowerful unified communications service that allesubscribers to manage essential, advance
business communications functions online throughrdralized web-based portal via a PC, laptopetair smartphone. Integrated with Virtual
Office, Virtual Office Pro enhances business praiditg by providing users with a comprehensive,idiypaccessible suite of communication
tools used in everyday business interactions. \&&@ sl the Virtual Office Pro service on a standalbasis so that a business customer woul
no longer be required to buy a physical VolP tetaghfrom us in order to access our Virtual Offieevices. Virtual Office Pro offers the
following features:

e A visual overview and online control of Virtual @fé business calling activity including point-aalitk access to inbound and outbo
calls and call management features such as cafiferg do not disturb ("DND") and call forwarding;

e Microsoft Outlook Contacts and Corporate Directiotggration;

e Virtual Meeting - allows subscribers to createnjand invite participants to web, audio and videxetings;

e Virtual Office Mobile extension - to place and reeeVolP calls and access common Virtual Officevegrs and functions from an
iPhone/iPod Touch/iPad/Android mobile handset;




e Fax - enables users to send and receive unlimibessfusing either a separate phone number forrfthecsame number as your 8x8
extension;

e Call recording - enables any inbound or outbourktede recorded and later reviewed, downloadedebeted;

e Presence management - tells other co-workers whattser is logged in, logged off, on the phonétha phone or currently
unavailable; and

e My Inbox overview - gives a comprehensive view lbvaicemails, recordings, FAX messages, calls, emak history.

Virtual Contact Center

We introduced the Virtual Contact Center servicduty 2007. Virtual Contact Center is a fully intatgd cloud-based call center solution that
works with any broadband Internet connection amdiges enterprise class contact center functignatitmbined with Virtual Office calling
features. The Virtual Contact Center allows comesamd quickly deploy and operate multi-channel aontenters within our Virtual Office
infrastructure without the time and expense of pasing, installing and maintaining costly, spezidi equipment. Delivered entirely as a cl
service, the Virtual Contact Center requires ncigieed hardware or software, no telecom equipraadtno up-front capital expenditures by
the customer. Virtual Contact Center offers featimech as skills-based routing, multi-media managemeal time monitoring and reporting,
voice recording and logging, historical reportihgeractive Voice Response, integration with thpedty CRM and ERP solutions, and contact
and case management tools.

Virtual Meeting

We launched our Virtual Meeting service in Septen®9 as an affordable, easy-to-use web evenicsetivat allows businesses to meet with
customers, share and edit documents collaboratigelyduct training classes or deliver presentatimms any computer with any browser from
any location. Virtual Meeting allows unlimited migts of unlimited duration for up to 50 participsupter meeting. Additionally, Virtual
Meeting seamlessly integrates with Virtual Officeusers can easily search the corporate directosiiare their workspace with other meeting
participants. Virtual Meeting also enables meetegprding and management. Delivered as a clouddbses®ice, Virtual Meeting requires
nothing more than a web browser for customerseaterweb events. Additionally, we offer Virtual Rooca video collaboration service, which
is a low-cost alternative to traditional tele-pmese solutions.

Sales, Marketing and Promotional Activities

We currently sell and market our services to eretsughrough our direct sales force, website, amhicél partners. Our sales force primarily
handles inbound telephone calls and website leditshvare generated from third party lead generatmmnces and direct web advertising such
as Google, or traditional advertising channels sagh-flight magazines and billboards. Sales regmtatives are paid a base salary or hourly
rate and monthly commission for selling our produantd services. The commission is based on new salde by the sales representative. OL
sales department employs more than 100 people.

Competition

Given the breadth of our communications and colation platform, we face competition from a variefyfirms, none of whom currently
competes directly with our entire set of cloud U§HEvices, but who separately compete with us oroomeore of such services. We believe
that the principal competitive factors affecting ability to attract and retain customers are praadl quality, reliability, customer service, and
breadth of services delivered via the Internet.fore information regarding the risks associatati siich competition, please refer to our
"Risk Factors" below.

Incumbent Telephone Companies and Alter native Voice Communications Providers

In telephony, we face competition from incumbeleggbone companies, cable companies and alternatice and video communication
providers, including cloud telephony providers. 8ese most of our target customers are already asirgdp communications services from one
or more of these providers, our success is depengd@m our ability to attract these customers afkam their existing providers.
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The incumbent telephone companies are our primampetitors in telephony. These competitors incladé&T, CenturyLink and Verizon
Communications. These competitors are substantaiyer and better capitalized than we are and tievadvantage of a large existing
customer base, and larger marketing budgets tharmawe Moreover, they also provide some of thediivaad services that are required to use
our service, which is a significant competitive adtage. However, the services offered by these etitags are typically more expensive to
adopt, typically require on-premise implementatiand require regular hardware and IT infrastructypgrades. Furthermore, these
competitors typically provide limited functionalityeeded for our customers to integrate their conication systems with their IT
infrastructure, therefore requiring additional gystintegration investments and set up.

Competitors of our cloud telephony and contacteesgrvice also include traditional PBX providersluding Cisco Systems, Inc. and Avaya
Holdings Corp. and other cloud telephony and cdrdenter providers such as Comcast Corporatiomrnitézt, Inc., Microsoft Corporation a
RingCentral, Inc. These competitors have servitiesings primarily limited to telephony and do radfer the breadth nor deployment
simplicity of our cloud UCC services.

We believe our integrated UCC services competerédbbp with our competitors because a deploymera odllection of their services offered
that is equivalent to a similar deployment of oemvices is likely to be more expensive and difficalmanage. In addition, in a distributed
office setting, on-premise solutions typically wikk more expensive due to the requirement to lanajgremise equipment in each office
location. Furthermore, the incumbent telephone @nigs may not have service offerings across thmes's entire office footprint due to the
geographic centric business model of traditionigic@mmunications companies that limits their terrakservice offering to geographies where
they have physical network facilities. By way obexple, the largest incumbent telephone exchangiesado not have nationwide coverage
across the United States for their traditional dixee telephony service.

Communications and Collaboration Software Vendors

We also face competition from communications arithboration vendors, including Citrix, Microsoft Mivare, Cisco and other companies.
These competitors provide software solutions tbatete with our cloud-based services offering intact center, unified communications,
and virtual meeting. While none of these compegitarrrently have services offerings that span thieesbreadth of our services offerings, they
each have strong software solutions for their retbpe communications and/or collaboration silos.nylaf these competitors are substantially
larger and better capitalized than we are and ttevadvantage of a large existing customer basklaager marketing budgets than we have.
However, we believe that a deployment of a coltectf their software solutions that is equivalenatsimilar deployment of our services is
likely to be more expensive for the customer.

Operations

Our Infrastructure Manager consists of data managémmonitoring, control and billing systems thapsort all of our products and services.
We have invested substantial resources to develdpnaplement our real-time call management inforamasystem. Key elements of our
Infrastructure Manager include a prospective custoguiotation portal, customer provisioning, custoateess, fraud control, network secu
call routing, call monitoring, media processing aiadmalization, call reliability, detailed call re@ storage and billing and integration with
third-party applications. We maintain a call switghplatform in software that manages call admissaall control, call rating and routes calls
to an appropriate destination or customer prengsépenent.

Network Operations Center

We maintain a network operations center at our tyeaders in San Jose, California and employ a efadpproximately 50 individuals with
experience in voice and data operations to proidaour operations support, seven days per weekud&'earious tools to monitor and
manage all elements of our network and our partnets/orks in real-time. We also monitor the netwvelements of some of our larger
business customers. Additionally, our network ofiena center provides technical support to troutdes equipment and network problems.
We also rely upon the network operations centedsrasources of our telecommunications carrier pastsuch as Level 3 Communications,
Inc. and data center providers such as Equinix,tthaugment our monitoring and response efforts.
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Customer and Technical Support

We maintain a call center at our headquarters mJ®ae, California and have a staff of more thaheiployees and contractors that provide
customer service and technical support to custarheeidition, we have outsourced some customgratipctivities to third parties.
Customers who access our services directly throughwveb site receive customer service and techeiggbport through multilingual telephone
communication, web-based and "chat" sessions, andilesupport.

I nterconnection Agreements

We are a party to telecommunications interconnedtservice agreements with VolP providers and P&I&ommunications carriers, such as
Level3 Communications, Verizon Communications amdliquent. Pursuant to these agreements, VolB ogljinating on our network can be
terminated on other VolP networks or the PSTN. €pondingly, calls originating on other VolP netksand the PSTN can be terminated ot
our network.

Research and Development

The UCC in the cloud market is characterized bydrégchnological changes and advancements. Acagigdive make substantial investments
in the design and development of new products andces, as well as the development of enhancenaadtfeatures to our existing products
and services. Future development also will focutheruse and interoperability of our products agdises with emerging audio and video
telephony standards and protocols, quality andp@dnce enhancements to multimedia compressiomithgs, support of new customer
premise equipment, new unified software servicestha enhancement of existing products and serttiggsare essential to our success.

We currently employ more than 75 individuals ine@sh, development and engineering activities imnfacilities in San Jose, California as v
as outsourced software development consultantgdRes and development expenses in each of thé yisaess ended March 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 were $11.6 million, $8.1 million and $fiflion, respectively.

Regulatory Matters

VolP and other communications and collaboratiorises, like ours, have been subject to less reigulat the state and federal levels than
traditional telecommunications services. Providdrsaditional telecommunications services are scitjo the highest degree of regulation,
while providers of information services are largekempt from most federal and state regulationgguomg traditional common carriers. The
FCC has subjected VolP service providers to a msllbset of regulations that apply to traditideédécommunications service providers and
has not yet classified VolP services as eithectetenunications or information. The FCC is currekamining the status of VolP service
providers and the services they provide in multggen proceedings. In addition, many state reguylatgencies impose taxes on VolIP servi
and certain states take the position that offerlmg¥olP providers are intrastate telecommunicatiservices and therefore subject to state
regulation. These states argue that if the beginaird end points of communications are known, fadme of these communications occur
entirely within the boundaries of a state, theestain regulate that offering. We believe that t8€fhas preempted states from regulating VolF
offerings in the same manner as providers of ti@atil telecommunications services. However, thesiéshas not been resolved definitively as
matter of law, and it remains possible that the FEG80ld determine that such services are not infaomaervices, or that there could be a
judicial or legislative determination that the statire not preempted from regulating VolP senaseisaditional telecommunications servic

We cannot predict how this issue will be resolved@ofuture impact on our business at this time.

The effect of any future laws, regulations and osd® our operations, including, but not limiteddar cloud-based communications and
collaboration services, cannot be determined. Bt general matter, increased regulation and tpesition of additional funding obligations
increases service costs that may or may not beveegble from our customers, which could result eiking our services less competitive with
traditional telecommunications services if we ims®@ our prices or decreasing our profit margimgeifattempt to absorb such costs.
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In addition to regulations addressing Internetght;y and broadband services, other regulatorgsseelating to the Internet, in general, could
affect our ability to provide our services. Congréas adopted legislation that regulates certgiacis of the Internet including online content,
user privacy, taxation, liability for third partgtivities and jurisdiction. In addition, a numbdrimitiatives pending in Congress and state
legislatures would prohibit or restrict advertisimgsale of certain products and services on ttexret, which may have the effect of raising
cost of doing business on the Internet generally.

Federal, state, local and foreign governmentalrirgaions are considering other legislative andil@gry proposals that would regulate anc
tax applications running over the Internet. We cdpredict whether new taxes will be imposed onsaiwices, and depending on the type of
taxes imposed, whether and how our services woallaffected thereafter. Increased regulation ofritkernet may decrease its growth and
hinder technological development, which may negdyivmpact the cost of doing business via the hdepr otherwise materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations. Please refer to Part I, Item RisK Factors" for a discussion of regulatory
risks, proceedings and issues that could adveadfedygt our business and operating results in thedu

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our ability to compete depends, in part, on oulitglib obtain and enforce intellectual propertptaction for our technology in the United
States and internationally. We currently rely priliyeon a combination of trade secrets, patentpydghts, trademarks and licenses to protect
our intellectual property. As of March 31, 2014, agve been awarded 92 United States patents, imame50 of which we currently hold and
which we expect to expire between 2014 and 2032h#¥e additional United States and foreign patpetsling. We cannot predict whether
our pending patent applications will result in isdypatents.

To protect our trade secrets and other proprigtdoymation, we require our employees to sign agreas providing for the maintenance of
confidentiality and also the assignment of rigbtenventions made by them while in our employ. Ehesin be no assurance that our means of
protecting our proprietary rights in the Unitedt8tor abroad will be adequate or that competitidihnot independently develop technologies
that are similar or superior to our technology, lthape our technology or design around any of aiepts. In addition, the laws of foreign
countries in which our products are or may be slolehot protect our intellectual property rightdtie same extent as do the laws of the Unitec
States. Our failure to protect our proprietary infation could cause our business and operatindtsasusuffer.

We are also subject to the risks of adverse clainaslitigation alleging infringement of the intadtaal property rights of others. Such claims
and litigation could require us to expend substhmnéisources and distract key employees from tiaimal duties, which could have a material
adverse effect on our operating results, cash flawgsfinancial condition. The communications aniiveare industries are subject to frequent
litigation regarding patent and other intellectpedperty rights. Moreover, the VoIP service providemmunity has historically been a targe
patent holders. There is a risk that we will barget of assertions of patent rights and that we Inearequired to expend significant resource
investigate and defend against such assertionatehprights. For information about specific claiiplease refer to Part I, ltem 1Risk Factor

- "Our infringement of a third party's proprietaechnology could disrupt our business" and Pdtéin 3. "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS."

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwamnd software, licensed from third parties. Thésenkes are on standard commercial term
made generally available by the companies provittiedicenses. To date, the cost and terms of timseses individually has not been
material to our business. There can be no assuthatée technology licensed by us will continagtovide competitive features and
functionality or that licenses for technology cuntfg utilized by us or other technology which weynsgek to license in the future will be
available to us on commercially reasonable ternet atl, however. The loss of, or inability to miaiim, existing licenses could result in
shipment delays or reductions until equivalent tetbgy or suitable alternative products could beetleped, identified, licensed and integra
and could harm our business.

Geographic Areas

Most of our customers and substantially all of muenues are in the U.S. Revenue from customesideuhe United States was not material
for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2014, 2013201®. We have only one reportable segment. Finhimformation relating to revenues
generated in different geographic areas are st iimiNote 7 to our consolidated financial stateta@ontained in Part I, Item 8 of this Report.
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Employees

As of March 31, 2014, our workforce consisted oft 48nployees. None of our employees are represétediabor union or are subject t
collective bargaining arrangement.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers as of the date of this repoe listed below.

Vikram Verma, Chief Executive Officer. Vikram Verma, age 49, has served as Chief Exec@itieer since September 2013 and as a
director since January 2012. From October 2008ugitcAugust 2013, Mr. Verma was President of Stiatégnture Development for
Lockheed Martin. From 2006 through 2008, Mr. Vemvas President of the IS&GS Savi Group, a divisibharkheed Martin. Mr. Verma
received a B.S.E.E. degree from Florida Institdt€echnology, an M.S.E. degree from the Universitivlichigan in electrical engineering,
and a graduate degree of Engineer in Electricalrierging from Stanford University.

Bryan Martin, Chairman and Chief Technology Officer. Bryan Martin, age 46, has served as Chairman oBtsed of Directors since
December 2003, has served as the Chief TechnolffigpeOsince September 2013 and as a director $teteuary 2002. From February 2002
to September 2013, he served as the Chief ExecOfifiger. From March 2007 to November 2008, andraf@m April 2011 to December
2011, he served as President. From February 20B&knuary 2002, he served as our President and Opgrating Officer. He served as our
Senior Vice President, Engineering Operations fdofy 2000 to February 2001 and as Chief Techni¢t& from August 1995 to August
2000. He also served as a director of the Companmy §anuary 1998 through July 1999. In addition, Martin served in various technical
roles for the Company from April 1990 to August 598ie received a B.S. and an M.S. in Electricalig@gring from Stanford University.

Dan Weirich, Chief Financial Officer. Dan Weirich, age 40, has served as our Chief Finh@Xficer since July 2006. From November 2008
to March 2011, Mr. Weirich also served as our Riexsi. From June 2006 to July 2006, Mr. Weirich edras our Acting Chief Financial
Officer. He was our Vice President of OperatiommsrfrApril 2006 to June 2006 and Director of Strategmles from March 2004 to April 2006.
Prior to joining us, Mr. Weirich served in variotes for iAsiaWorks, Qwest Communications and Pipodletwork. He received a B.S. in
International Business from the University of Caldo at Boulder.

Darren Hakeman, Senior Vice President of Product ath Strategy. Darren Hakeman, age 44, has served as our SerderRresident of
Product and Strategy since September 2013. Fro 20R013, Hakeman worked as a strategic adviskeaiting Silicon Valley companies
and emerging start-ups including Authentication iést Inc. (now Agari), Blackfire Research, and ajon global security company. Prior to
2009, he served as Senior Vice President of Opmsafor a SaaS Business Unit of Lockheed Martiheéhaerged following Lockheed's
acquisition of Savi Technology, Inc. He receive8.&. and an M.S. in Electrical Engineering fromrtad University.

Huw Rees, Senior Vice President of Business Devefent. Huw Rees, age 53, has served as Senior Vice Pne¢sitiBusiness Development
and Vice President of Business Development sinceeder 2008. From January 2001 to November 2008Rees served as our Vice
President, Sales and Marketing. He served as th@r@an and Chief Executive Officer of the Compamyt®lly owned subsidiary, Centile,
Inc., from July 2001 until September 2003. Addititip, he served as Vice President, Sales and BssiDevelopment of Centile from March
2001 to July 2001. He served as Vice PresidengsSalthe Solutions Group of the Company from Au@@0 until February 2001 and as
Director, North American Sales of the Company frapril 1999 to August 2000. He previously workeduitel Corporation as Sales Manager
of the Western Region and also in sales managemiestat GEC Plessey Inc. and Marconi PLC. He vecka B.Sc. (Hons) from the
University of Manchester, Institute of Science dmethnology in Electrical and Electronic Engineerargl a M.B.A. from the University of
LaVerne.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
If any of the following risks actually occur, oundiness, results of operations and financial critould suffer significantly.
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Our success depends on the growth and customer apt&nce of our services

Our future success depends on our ability to sicanitly increase revenue generated from our clamdneunications and collaboration services
to business customers, including SMBs and mid-niakd larger distributed enterprises. To increaseg@enue, we must add new customers
and encourage existing customers to continue slidiscriptions on terms favorable to us, increasi ttsage of our services, and purchase
additional services from us. For customer demamaaoption of our cloud communications and collakion services to grow, the quality,
cost and feature benefits of these services mustiffieient to cause customers to adopt them. kamgple, our cloud telephony and contact
center services must continue to evolve so thdt-figality service and features can be consistgmtyided at competitive prices. As our targe
markets mature, or as competitors introduce lowst and/or differentiated products or services #inatperceived to compete with ours, our
ability to sell new customers and obtain renewadsfexisting customers could be impaired. As alteswe may be unable to extend our
agreements with existing customers or attract ngstotners or new business from existing custometsroms that would be favorable or
comparable to prior periods, which could have areesk effect on our revenue and growth.

Historically, our core service offerings have been cloud telephony and contact center servicegshwtontributed a substantial majority of
our revenues in fiscal years ended March 31, 20043 and 2012. Marketing and selling new and endwfeatures and services, and
additional communications and collaboration offgagnmay require increasingly sophisticated andyssales efforts. Similarly, the rate at
which our customers purchase new or enhanced ssrd&pends on a number of factors, including géeecaomic conditions and their
reactions to any price changes related to thesiéiaual features and services. If our efforts t@elpto our customers are not successful and
negative reaction occurs, our business may suffer.

To support the successful marketing and sale okerwices to new and existing customers, we musirage to offer high-quality education
and customer support. Providing this educationsamgport requires that our customer support perddrave specific technical knowledge and
expertise, making it more difficult and costly fms to hire qualified personnel and to scale upsopport operations due to the extensive
training required. The importance of high-qualibstomer support will increase as we expand oumlessiand pursue new mid-market and
distributed enterprise customers. If we do not leeipcustomers quickly resolve post-deploymentassand provide effective ongoing support,
our ability to sell additional functionality andrsees to existing customers will suffer and oypugation with existing or potential customers
will be harmed.

Furthermore, we operate in an industry that isestttip significant federal and state regulatiothim United States and regulation by various
governments and governmental bodies in other ciasntr which we offer our communications and catliation services. Regulations may
impede the growth of our business, impose signifiealditional costs, and require substantial changeoftware and other technology. Also,
new regulations may be adopted that materially cedlemand for our services by businesses.

We face significant risks in our strategy to targemmid-market and larger distributed enterprises for sales of our services and, if we do
not manage these efforts effectively, our busineasid results of operations could be materially and dversely affected.

We currently derive a minority of our revenues freates of our cloud communications and collabonasiervices to mid-market and larger
distributed enterprises, but we believe penetratiege customers is key to our future growth. Agavget more of our sales efforts to mid-
market and larger distributed enterprises, ourssajfele may become more time-consuming and expensi& may encounter pricing pressure
and implementation and customization challenges,ramvenue recognition may be delayed for some cexipansactions, all of which could
harm our business and operating results. In thikemaegment, the customer's decision to use ouviceemay be an enterprise-wide decision
and, if so, these types of sales would requir@ysdvide greater levels of education regardingueand benefits of our service, as well as
education regarding privacy and data protectiorsland regulations to prospective customers wittrirdtional operations. As a result of these
factors, these sales opportunities may require devote greater sales support and engineeringcesmesources to individual customers,
driving up costs and time required to completessaled diverting our own sales and engineering ressuo a smaller number of larger
transactions, while potentially delaying revenusogmition on transactions for which we must meehmécal or implementation requirements.
Furthermore, we may invest significant time anadueses with no assurance that a sale will ever dgemWe also face challenges building
training an integrated sales force capable of fatldressing the services and features containaitlafthe components in our communications
and collaboration suite, as well as a staff of expagineering and customer support personnel ¢tapdladdressing the full range of
installation and deployment issues that can aritie avcomprehensive suite of services like oursoAlve have only limited experience in
developing and managing sales channels and distnibarrangements for larger businesses. If wetdagffectively execute our strategy to
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target mid-market and larger distributed entergriseir results of operations and our overall abibitgrow our customer base could be
materially and adversely affected.

In addition, larger customers may demand more feafintegration services and customization. Wetsahmited history of selling our
services to larger businesses and have experi@mzethay continue to experience new challengesowiging our cloud communications and
collaboration services to large customers. If aamgr is not satisfied with the quality of work fiemed by us or a third party or with the type
of services or solutions delivered, then we miglktr additional costs to address the situationptbétability of that work might be impaired,
and the customer's dissatisfaction with our sesvimild damage our ability to obtain additional kvisom that customer. In addition, negative
publicity related to our customer relationshipgjalless of its accuracy, could further damagebagimess by affecting our ability to compete
for new business with current and prospective custs.

Intense competition in the markets in which we comgte could prevent us from increasing or sustainingur revenue and increasing or
maintaining profitability.

The business of cloud communications and collammraervices is competitive, and we expect it todnee increasingly competitive in the
future. We may also face competition from largetnet companies, any of which might launch its aleud-based business communications
services or acquire other cloud-based business emications companies in the future.

In connection with our cloud telephony services,fage competition from incumbent telephone compardable companies and alternative
voice and video communication providers, includitiger providers of cloud telephony services. Beeanest of our target customers are
already purchasing communications services fromasmeore of these providers, our success is demengen our ability to attract these
customers away from their existing providers. Ti®imbent telephone companies are our primary coropein cloud communications and
collaboration. These competitors include AT&T, Gegtink and VerizonCommunications as well as rural incumbents, sudWiaslstream. |
addition, in connection with all of our collabor@tiand communications services, we face compefitan traditional private branch exchan
or PBX, providers, including Cisco Systems and Awawd other providers of cloud telephony and cdrt@ater services, such as Comcast,
inContact, Microsoft and RingCentral.

Many of our current and potential competitors hlawveer operating histories, significantly greatsaurces and brand awareness, and a large
base of customers than we have. As a result, t@aeetitors may have greater credibility with oxiséng and potential customers. They also
may be able to adopt more aggressive pricing gsliand devote greater resources to the developpreniption and sale of their products t
we can to ours. Our competitors may also offer keohdervice arrangements that offer a more completetter integrated product to
customers. Competition could decrease our priessjae our sales, lower our gross profits or deereas market share. In addition, our
customers are not subject to long-term contracaamitments to purchase our services and can tatenour service and switch to
competitors' offerings on short notice.

Given the significant price competition in the mekfor our services, we are at a significant diaatage compared with many of our
competitors, especially those with substantiallyager resources who may be better able to withstarektended period of downward pricing
pressure. The adverse impact of a shortfall inreuenues may be magnified by our inability to adpug expenses to compensate for such
shortfall. Announcements, or expectations, asédritroduction of new products and technologiesiwycompetitors or us could cause
customers to defer purchases of our existing prisdudich also could have a material adverse effeaiur business, financial condition or
operating results.

Because we recognize revenue from customer subsdigms over the term of the relevant contract, the #ects of customer additions,
cancellations and changes in subscribed servicessamot immediately reflected in full in our operatirg results.

As a subscription-based business, we recognizennevever the term of each of our contracts, whiehegally range from one to five years. As
a result, much of the revenue we report each quaaselts from contracts entered into during prasiquarters. Consequently, a shortfall in
demand for our cloud communications and collabonasiervices or a decline in new or renewed corgtiacany one quarter may not
significantly reduce our revenue for that quartetr dould negatively affect our revenue in futur@ders. Accordingly, the effect of significant
downturns in new sales or cancellations of ourisesvand subscriptions from new customers or fditahal services from existing customers
will impact our ongoing monthly recurring revenud lvill not be reflected fully in our operating téts until future periods. Our revenue
recognition model also makes it difficult for usrapidly increase our revenue through additionkssen any period, as revenue from new
customers must be recognized over the applicabie @éthe contracts.
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We have a history of losses and are uncertain of ofuture profitability.

We recorded operating income of $3.1 million foe flscal year ended March 31, 2014 and ended thiecoeith an accumulated deficit of
$106.7 million. We recorded operating income adjdgor discontinued operations of approximately.$2illion and $8.6 million for the

fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, reiseéctAlthough we have achieved operating incomeach of our four most recent fiscal
years, we suffered operating losses in each dhtfee prior fiscal years and may incur operatirgsés in the future, which may be substar

As we expand our geographic reach and serviceindferand further invest in research and developrmed sales and marketing, we will need
to increase revenues in order to generate sustainpbrating profit. Given our history of fluctuagi revenues and operating losses, we canno
be certain that we will be able to maintain op@&gprofitability on an annual basis or on a quéytbasis in the future.

A higher rate of customer cancellations would negately affect our business by reducing our revenueraequiring us to spend more
money to grow our customer base.

Our customers generally do not have long-term eatdrwith us and may discontinue their subscrigtimn our services after the expiration of
their subscription period, which range from onéite years. In addition, our customers may renemldwer subscription amounts or for
shorter contract lengths. We may not accuratelgipteancellation rates for our customers. Our eHdation rates may increase or fluctuate
result of a number of factors, including customsaige, pricing changes, number of applications bgezlir customers, customer satisfaction
with our service, the acquisition of our customgyother companies and deteriorating general ecanoomditions. If our customers do not
renew their subscriptions for our service or deseghe amount they spend with us, our revenuadedline and our business will suffer.

Our average monthly business service revenue chasnl.3% for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2@immared with 1.7% for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2013. Our churn rate could increatiee future if customers are not satisfied waithi service. Other factors, including
increased competition from other providers of comitations and collaborations services, alternatetinologies, and adverse business
conditions also influence our churn rate.

Because of churn, we must acquire new customeashi@mgoing basis to maintain our existing levetudtomers and revenues. As a result,
marketing expenditures are an ongoing requiremieotiobusiness. If our churn rate increases, wehae to acquire even more new
customers in order to maintain our existing revendfée incur significant costs to acquire new custiaanand those costs are an important
factor in determining our net profitability. Theoeg, if we are unsuccessful in retaining custoroer@e required to spend significant amounts
to acquire new customers beyond those budgetedewvenue could decrease and our net income cocleakse.

Although the majority of our billing arrangementghwcustomers are prepaid, we regularly monitorgéeeentage of customers who cease to
pay for our services due to closing or downsizimgjrtbusiness. Even though our customer churn naeved in fiscal 2014, we believe that
between 25% and 50% of our total customer churelé&ed to customers' financial condition and wence be certain that we will continue to
experience the same improvement in churn ratesigiuerent economic conditions. Due to the lengtbwfsales cycle, especially in adding
new midmarket and larger distributed enterprises as customve may experience delays in acquiring newooosts to replace those that h
terminated our services. Such delays would be elated if general economic conditions worsen. Amease in churn, particularly in
challenging economic times, could have a negatiygact on the results of our operations.

The impact of the current economic climate and adwse credit markets may impact demand for our produts and services by our
targeted customers.

The majority of our existing and target customeesia the SMB and mid-market business sectors. & hasinesses may be more likely to be
significantly affected by economic downturns thargker, more established businesses. They also enaote likely to require working capital
financing from local and regional banks whose lagdictivities have been reduced substantially s20@8, as a result of which many of our
existing and target customers may lack the fundesmary to add new equipment and services sudirssAdditionally, these customers often
have limited discretionary funds which they maya$®to spend on items other than our products envites. If small and medium businesse:
continue to experience economic hardship, thisccoebatively affect the overall demand for our pietd and services, delay and lengthen
sales cycles and lead to slower growth or everchngein our revenue, net income and cash flows.
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The market for cloud communications and collaboratbn services is subject to rapid technological chargand we depend on ne
product and service introductions in order to maingin and grow our business.

We operate in an emerging market that is charaetdy rapid changes in customer requirementsyémgntroductions of new and enhanced
products, and continuing and rapid technologicabadement. To compete successfully in this emengiacket, we must continue to design,
develop, manufacture, and sell new and enhanced dommunications and collaboration products andi@es that provide higher levels of
performance and reliability at lower cost. If we anable to develop new services that addressustiormers' needs, to deliver our applications
in one seamless integrated product offering thdtesbes our customers' needs, or to enhance anovienpur services in a timely manner, we
may not be able to achieve or maintain adequat&ehacceptance of our services. Our ability to gimalso subject to the risk of future
disruptive technologies. Access and use of ouriees\is provided via the cloud, which, itself, te®n disruptive to the previous premimese(
model. If new technologies emerge that are abtietiver communications and collaboration servidds\aer prices, more efficiently, more
conveniently or more securely, such technologiegdcadversely impact our ability to compete.

Maintaining adequate research and development peesand resources is essential to new producta@went and continued innovation, and
we intend to increase our investment in researdhdarelopment activities to add new features andcss to our offerings. If we are unable
develop new features and services internally d@ettain constraints, such as high employee tumdaek of management ability or a lack of
other research and development resources, we nssymarket opportunities. Further, many of our cartgre expend a considerably greater
amount of funds on their research and developmmgrams, and those that do not may be acquiredriggt companies that would allocate
greater resources to our competitors' researclianelopment programs. In addition, there is no gui@e that our research and development
efforts will succeed, or that our new products aervices will enable us to maintain or grow ourerave or recover our development costs. OL
failure to maintain adequate research and developmsources, to compete effectively with the regeand development programs of our
competitors and to successfully monetize our reseand development efforts could materially andeasiely affect our business and results of
operations.

We may not be able to scale our business quickly emgh to meet our customers' growing needs and if ware not able to grow
efficiently, our operating results could be harmed.

As usage of our communications and collaboratiovises by mid-market and larger distributed enteg® expands and as customers continu
to integrate our services across their enterprisesyill need to devote additional resources tormung our application architecture,
integrating our products and applications acrosgexhnology platform, integrating with third-pagystems, and maintaining infrastructure
performance. As our customers gain more experiafitteour services, the number of users and tramsactmanaged by our services, the
amount of data transferred, processed and stored,lthe number of locations where our serviceindaccessed, and the volume of
communications managed by our services have in saises, and may in the future, expand rapidlydtiteon, we will need to appropriately
scale our internal business systems and our ssreiganization, including customer support andisesy to serve our growing customer base.
Any failure of or delay in these efforts could causipaired system performance and reduced custsatisfaction. These issues could reduce
the attractiveness of our cloud communicationsaidboration services to customers, resultingdordased sales to new customers, lower
renewal rates by existing customers, the issuahseruice credits, or requested refunds, whichadwirt our revenue growth and our
reputation. Even if we are able to upgrade ouresystand expand our staff, any such expansion wiiXpensive and complex, requiring
management time and attention and increasing cenatipg expenses. We could also face inefficiengiesperational failures as a result of our
efforts to scale our infrastructure. Moreover, &hare inherent risks associated with upgradingrawipg and expanding our information
technology systems. We cannot be sure that thensigraand improvements to our infrastructure arstesys will be fully or effectively
implemented on a timely basis, if at all. These®# may reduce revenue and our margins and adyérggact our financial results.

To provide our services, we rely on third partiesdr all of our network connectivity and co-locationfacilities.

We currently use the infrastructure of third-pargtwork service providers, including the serviceEquinix, Inc., and Level 3
Communications, Inc., to provide all of our clowehdces over their networks rather than deployingawvn networks.

We also rely on third-party network service provit® originate and terminate substantially alitef PTSN calls using our cloud-based
services. We leverage the infrastructure of thahypnetwork service providers to provide telephoambers, PSTN call termination and
origination services, and local number portabifdy our customers rather than deploying our ownvoek throughout the United States. This
decision has resulted in lower capital and opegativsts for our business in the short-term, butredsced our operating flexibility and ability
to make timely service changes. If any of theseiagk service providers cease operations or otherteigninate the services that we depend
on, the delay in switching our technology to
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another network service provider, if available, audlifying this new service provider could havmaterial adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or operating results. The ratespay to our network service providers may atgodase, which may reduce our profitability
and increase the retail price of our service.

While we believe that relations with our currentvéee providers are good, and we have contragidaioe, there can be no assurance that thes
service providers will be able or willing to supmlgst-effective services to us in the future ot tha will be successful in signing up alternative
or additional providers. Although we believe tha @ould replace our current providers, if necessauy ability to provide service to our
subscribers could be impacted during this any sutsition, which could have an adverse effect mnbwusiness, financial condition or results
of operations. The loss of access to, or requiréneechange, the telephone numbers we provide t@ustomers also could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditioaperating results.

Due to our reliance on these service providerswireblems occur in a network, it may be difficaltidentify the source of the problem. The
occurrence of hardware and software errors, whetfesed by our service or products or those ofrematendor, may result in the delay or |
of market acceptance of our products and any nagessvisions may force us to incur significant expes. The occurrence of some of these
types of problems may seriously harm our busirfessncial condition or operating results.

Our physical infrastructure is concentrated in a fav facilities and any failure in our physical infragructure or services could lead to
significant costs and disruptions and could reduceur revenue, harm our business reputation and have material adverse effect on our
financial results.

Our leased network and data centers are subjeetritmus points of failure. Problems with coolinguggment, generators, uninterruptible power
supply, routers, switches, or other equipment, tiredr not within our control, could result in sieesinterruptions for our customers as well a:
equipment damage. Because our services do notresggiographic proximity of our data centers toaustomers, our infrastructure is
consolidated into a few large data center facditieny failure or downtime in one of our data ceffigeilities could affect a significant
percentage of our customers. The total destructiczevere impairment of any of our data centetfifes could result in significant downtime
of our services and the loss of customer data. iBecaur ability to attract and retain customersedép on our ability to provide customers \
highly reliable service, even minor interruptionsour service could harm our reputation. Additibnah connection with the expansion or
consolidation of our existing data center facititfeom time to time, there is an increased risk fieavice interruptions may occur as a result of
server relocation or other unforeseen construatiteited issues.

We have experienced interruptions in service inpidist. While we have not experienced a materiaéase in customer attrition following the
events, the harm to our reputation is difficulagsess. We have taken and continue to take st@pptove our infrastructure to prevent service
interruptions, including upgrading our electricalamechanical infrastructure. However, servicermfaions continue to be a significant risk
for us and could materially impact our business.

Any future service interruptions could:
e cause our customers to seek damages for lossesddru
e require us to replace existing equipment or addmdent facilities;
e affect our reputation as a reliable provider oftmsservices;
e cause existing customers to cancel or elect toeraw their contracts; or
e make it more difficult for us to attract new custns

Any of these events could materially increase oqeases or reduce our revenue, which would havatarial adverse effect on our operating
results.

We may also be required to transfer our serveneto data center facilities in the event that welwsr@ble to renew our leases on acceptable
terms, or at all, or the owners of the facilitiecidle to close their facilities, and we may indgngicant costs and possible service interruption
in connection with doing so. In addition, any fie#l difficulties, such as bankruptcy or foreclosuiaced by our third-party data center
operators, or any of the service providers withaluhive or they contract, may have negative effegtsuwr business, the nature and extent of
which are difficult to predict. Additionally, if cudata centers
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are unable to keep up with our increasing needsépacity, our ability to grow our business couddnbaterially and adversely impacted.

We depend on third-party vendors for IP phones andoftware endpoints, and any delay or interruption m supply by these vendors
would result in delayed or reduced shipments to oucustomers and may harm our business.

We rely on third-party vendors for IP phones anftigare endpoints required to utilize our servicee ¥rrently do not have long-term supply
contracts with any of these vendors. As a resudstrof these third-party vendors are not obligateprovide products or services to us for any
specific period, in any specific quantities or ay apecific price, except as may be provided imdigular purchase order. The inability of these
third-party vendors to deliver IP phones of acceptabldityuand in a timely manner, particularly the sstrirce vendors, could adversely af
our operating results or cause them to fluctuateertftan anticipated. Additionally, some of our proé may require specialized or high-
performance component parts that may not be aveailalguantities or in time frames that meet oguisements.

If we do not or cannot maintain the compatibility d our communications and collaboration software wih third-party applications and
mobile platforms that our customers use in their bginesses, our revenue will decline.

The functionality and popularity of our communicais and collaboration services depends, in paruombility to integrate our services with
third-party applications and platforms, includingexprise resource planning, customer relationsaga@ment, human capital management anc
other proprietary application suites. Third-partg\pders of applications and application programiaatterfaces, or APIs, may change the
features of their applications and platforms, iesStur access to their applications and platfoomalter the terms governing use of their
applications and APIs and access to those applitmfind platforms in an adverse manner. Such chamggd functionally limit or terminate
our ability to use these third-party applicationsl @latforms in conjunction with our services, whaould negatively impact our offerings and
harm our business. If we fail to integrate ourwafie with new third-party back- end enterprise egapilons and platforms used by our
customers, we may not be able to offer the funefipnthat our customers need, which would negatiirapact our ability to generate revenue
and adversely impact our business.

Our services also allow our customers to use anmthgeaour cloud communications and collaborationises on smartphones, tablets and ¢
mobile devices. As new smart devices and operatistems are released, we may encounter difficudtipporting these devices and services,
and we may need to devote significant resourcéisgt@reation, support, and maintenance of our ra@guplications. In addition, if we
experience difficulties in the future integratingrenobile applications into smartphones, tabletstber mobile devices or if problems arise
with our relationships with providers of mobile ogting systems, such as those of Apple Inc. or Golng., our future growth and our results
of operations could suffer.

If our software fails due to defects or similar prdolems, and if we fail to correct any defect or othesoftware problems, we could lose
customers, become subject to service performance warranty claims or incur significant costs.

Our customers use our service to manage imporsqetcss of their businesses, and any errors, defistsptions to our service or other
performance problems with our service could hurtreputation and may damage our customers' busiseair services and the systems
infrastructure underlying our communications antiad@mration platform incorporate software thatiighty technical and complex. Our
software has contained, and may now or in the éutontain, undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerasliSome errors in our software code may
only be discovered after the code has been releAsgderrors, bugs, or vulnerabilities discoveredur code after release could result in
damage to our reputation, loss of users, losswa&mee, or liability for damages, any of which coattlzersely affect our business and financial
results. We implement bug fixes and upgrades @sopaur regularly scheduled system maintenancéghwmay lead to system downtime.
Even if we are able to implement the bug fixes apdrades in a timely manner, any history of defemtshe loss, damage or inadvertent
release of confidential customer data, could causeeputation to be harmed, and customers may mt¢t¢o purchase or renew their
agreements with us and subject us to service pediace credits, warranty claims or increased inm@aonsts. The costs associated with any
material defects or errors in our software or oftemformance problems may be substantial and coalerially adversely affect our operating
results.

Our inability to use software licensed from third parties, or our use of open source software underdénse terms that interfere with our
proprietary rights, could disrupt our business.

Our technology platform incorporates software Igmhfrom third parties, including some softwaregn as open source software, which we
use without charge. Although we monitor our useme#n source software, the terms of many open sdigmeses to which we are subject have
not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, hiede is a risk that such licenses could
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be construed in a manner that imposes unanticigateditions or restrictions on our ability to prdgiour platform to our customers, content
creators and brand advertisers. In the future,autddbe required to seek licenses from third pauitieorder to continue offering our platform,
which licenses may not be available on terms ttehaceptable to us, or at all. Alternatively, waymeed to re-engineer our platform or
discontinue use of portions of the functionalitpyided by our platform. In addition, the terms pka source software licenses may require u:
to provide software that we develop using suchwe to others on unfavorable license terms. Cability to use third party software could
result in disruptions to our business, or delayth@édevelopment of future offerings or enhancemehexisting offerings, which could impair
our business.

Our business depends on continued, unimpeded accésgshe Internet by us and our users, but Internetaccess providers and Internet
backbone providers may be able to block, degrade atharge for access to or bandwidth use of certairf our products and services,
which could lead to additional expenses and the ls®f users.

Our products and services depend on the abilityuofusers to access the Internet, and certainrgbragucts require significant bandwidth to
work effectively. In addition, users who access senvices and applications through mobile devisesh as smartphones and tablets, must

a high-speed connection, such as Wi-Fi, 3G, 4GTd, to use our services and applications. Curretitlg access is provided by companies
that have significant and increasing market powehé broadband and Internet access marketpladading incumbent telephone companies,
cable companies and mobile communications compaB@se of these providers offer products and seswviat directly compete with our
own offerings, which give them a significant conipet advantage. Some of these providers havedsthtd they may take measures that coul
degrade, disrupt or increase the cost of user acoesertain of our products by restricting or pbiting the use of their infrastructure to supg
or facilitate our offerings, or by charging increddees to us or our users to provide our offerimgsle others, including some of the largest
providers of broadband Internet access serviceg t@ammitted to not engaging in such behavior. &psviders have the ability generally to
increase their rates, which may effectively incesthee cost to our customers of using our cloud canmioations and collaboration services.

On January 14, 2014, the United States Court ofedfspfor the District of Columbia Circuit vacatetlaemanded part of the Commission's
Open Internet rules. Subsequently, on May 15, 20fetFederal Communications Commission or FCCaseld a Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking to consider new rules. We cannot pteteoutcome of this rulemaking or predict whetéiey new rules will be subject to a legal
appeal. Although we believe interference with asde our products and services is unlikely, breaddnternet access provider interference
has occurred in limited circumstances in the Un&ates and could result in a loss of existingsiaed increased costs, and could impair our
ability to attract new users, thereby negativelpamtting our revenue and growth.

Vulnerabilities to security breaches, cyber intrusbns and other malicious acts could adversely impaciur business.

Our operations depend on our ability to protectreetwork from interruption by damage from unauthed entry, computer viruses or other
events beyond our control. In the past, we may l@en subject to denial or disruption of servieeDDOS, attacks by hackers intent on
bringing down our services, and we may be sub@EtROS attacks in the future. We cannot assuretlyatiour backup systems, regular data
backups, security protocols, DDOS mitigation artteofprocedures that are currently in place, ortteyt be in place in the future, will be
adequate to prevent significant damage, systemréadr data loss.

Critical to our provision of service is the storageocessing, and transmission of confidential sewkitive data. We store, process and transm
a wide variety of confidential and sensitive infation including credit card, bank account and offmemncial information, proprietary, trade
secret or other data that may be protected byléctelal property laws, customers' and employeesopeally identifiable information, as well as
other sensitive information. We, along with othershe industry, will be subject to cyber threatsl @ecurity breaches, either by third parties ¢
employees, given the nature of the information teees process and transmit. Our continued abilitgecurely store, process and transmit dat:
is essential to our business.

We are aware of the risks associated with cybeatisrand we have implemented a number of measupgstect ourselves from cyber attacks.
Specifically, we have redundant servers such thagisuffer equipment or software failures in onesltion or on one set of servers, we havi
ability to provide continuity of service. We actiyenonitor our network for cyber threats and impéarhprotective measures periodically. We
conduct vulnerability assessments and penetragistmy and engage in remedial action based onassgssments. Depending on the evolving
nature of cyber threats and the measures we maytbamplement to continue to maintain the secwftgur networks and data, our
profitability may be adversely be impacted or weyrhave to increase the price of our services the@t make our offerings less competitive
with other communications providers.
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But, like all other companies in the marketplabeyé is no guarantee that we will not be adverisahacted by cyber attacks. If our employees
or third parties obtain unauthorized access tonetwork, or if our network is penetrated, our seevtould be disrupted and sensitive
information could be lost, stolen or disclosed vishdould have a variety of negative impacts, inalgdegal liability, investigations by federal
and state law enforcement agencies, and exposfiretoor penalties, any of which could harm ousibass reputation and have a material
negative impact on our business. In addition, &eaktent we market our services as compliant wattiqular laws governing data privacy and
security, such as HIPAA, a security breach thabegp protected information may make us suscetibdtaims of false advertising and unfair
trade practices for misrepresenting our level ahpliance, in addition to any liability we may haes the breach itself.

Many governments have enacted laws requiring corapda notify individuals of data security incidsiimvolving certain types of personal
data. In addition, some of our customers contrdlgtuaquire naotification of any data security coraprise. Security compromises experienced
by our competitors, by our customers or by us neayl lto public disclosures, which may lead to wideag negative publicity. Any security
compromise in our industry, whether actual or peat could harm our reputation, erode customefidence in the effectiveness of our
security measures, negatively impact our abilitgttoact new customers, cause existing customesketd not to renew their subscriptions or
subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory §ire other action or liability, which could matéljeand adversely affect our business and
operating results.

There can be no assurance that any limitationgbility provisions in our contracts for a secutiitseach would be enforceable or adequate or
would otherwise protect us from any such liabisite damages with respect to any particular cl&fife.also cannot be sure that our existing
general liability insurance coverage and coverageffrors or omissions will continue to be avaidabh acceptable terms or will be available ir
sufficient amounts to cover one or more large cfaiar that the insurer will not deny coverage aany future claim. The successful assertion
of one or more large claims against us that exesadable insurance coverage, or the occurrenchariges in our insurance policies, incluc
premium increases or the imposition of large ddtlecbr co-insurance requirements, could have @rizadverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results.

Failure to comply with laws and contractual obligatons related to data privacy and protection could hve a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and operating radts.

We are subject to the data privacy and protectarsland regulations adopted by federal, state @eigh governmental agencies. Data priv
and protection is highly regulated, and may bectmesubject of additional regulation in the futUPeivacy laws restrict our storage, use,
processing, disclosure, transfer and protectiamoofpublic personal information, including credird data, provided to us by our customers.
We strive to comply with all applicable laws, regfibns, policies and legal obligations relatingtivacy and data protection. However, it is
possible that these requirements may be interpeetddapplied in a manner that is inconsistent foom jurisdiction to another and may conti
with other rules or our practices. We are alsoexttip the privacy and data protection-relatedgattibns in our contracts with our customers
and other third parties. Any failure, or perceivailuire, by us to comply with federal, state, deimational laws, including laws and regulati
regulating privacy, data or consumer protectiortparomply with our contractual obligations relatedrivacy, could result in proceedings or
actions against us by governmental entities orretlvehich could result in significant liability os as well as harm to our reputation.

We could be liable for breaches of security on ounebsite, fraudulent activities of our users, or thdailure of third party vendors to
deliver credit card transaction processing services

A fundamental requirement for operating an Intetveeted, worldwide communication and collaboratiervise and electronically billing our
customers is the secure transmission of confidenf@amation and media over public networks. Altiglh we have developed systems and
processes that are designed to protect consunmemafion and prevent fraudulent credit card tratisas and other security breaches, failui
mitigate such fraud or breaches may adversely di@coperating results. The law relating to tlability of providers of online payment
services is currently unsettled and states mayténaic own rules with which we may not comply. \W&dy on third party providers to process
and guarantee payments made by our subscribersagstain limits, and we may be unable to prevemtoostomers from fraudulently
receiving goods and services. Our liability risklivicrease if a larger fraction of transactionfeefed using our cloud-based services involve
fraudulent or disputed credit card transactionsy &osts we incur as a result of fraudulent or disguransactions could harm our business. In
addition, the functionality of our current billirgystem relies on certain third party vendors deligeservices. If these vendors are unable or
unwilling to provide services, we will not be albtecharge for our services in a timely or scalda$hion, which could significantly decrease
our revenue and have a material adverse effecibbusiness, financial condition and operating ltssu
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We must maintain Payment Card Industry Data Sec8téndard, or PCI DSS, compliance to bill our oostrs via credit card. If we fail to
meet minimum-security standards for PCI DSS compka credit card providers such as American Expgesspany or Visa Inc. could refuse
to process credit card transactions on our behalfoar ability to collect payments from our custosmould be adversely impacted.

We may also experience losses due to subscribet &rad theft of service. Subscribers have, in #st,wbtained access to our service without
paying for monthly service and international tallls by unlawfully using our authorization codesgrsubmitting fraudulent credit card
information. To date, such losses from unauthoredit card transactions and theft of service hetebeen significant. We have implemer
antifraud procedures in order to control losses redgtinthese practices, but these procedures mayenatiequate to effectively limit all of @
exposure in the future from fraud. If our proceduaee not effective, consumer fraud and theft ofise could significantly decrease our
revenue and have a material adverse effect onugindss, financial condition and operating resuteddition, software and security flaws in
our software can result in unauthorized accessit@ore network resulting in damages such as fientitoll usage on our network.

Additionally, third parties have attempted in thesp and may attempt in the future, to fraudulemitiuice domestic and international
employees, consultants or customers into disclasémgitive information, such as user names, paslsamrcustomer proprietary network
information, or CPNI, or other information in ordergain access to our customers' data or to dar @& NI includes information such as the
phone numbers called by a consumer, the frequehurgtion, and timing of such calls, and any sesf/ffeatures purchased by the consumer,
such as call waiting, call forwarding, and callBt in addition to other information that may appeara consumer's bill.

Natural disasters, war, terrorist attacks or malicious conduct could adversely impact our operationshat could degrade or impede our
ability to offer services.

As a provider of "cloud-based" services, our s@wirely on uninterrupted connection to the Intethietugh data centers and networks. Any
interruption or disruption to our network, or thérd parties on which we rely, could adversely ietpaur ability to provide service. Our
network could be disrupted by circumstances outsidaur control including natural disasters, adtsvar, terrorist attacks or other malicious
acts including, but not limited to, cyber attacRsir headquarters, global networks operations cameone of our third- party data center
facilities are located in the San Francisco Bayajegeregion known for seismic activity. Should afiyhese events occur and interfere with oul
ability to operate our network even for a limitegtipd of time, we could incur significant expendesge substantial amounts of revenue, suffer
damage to our reputation, and lose customers. &uelvent may also impede our customers' connedtomgr network, since these
connections also occur over the Internet, and wbalgerceived by our customers as an interruptfi@uioservices, even though such
interruption would be beyond our control. Any oé#le events could have a material adverse impamtiobusiness.

We license technology from third parties that we daot control and cannot be assured of retaining.

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwane software, licensed from third parties. Thene loe no assurance that the technology
licensed by us will continue to provide competitfeatures and functionality or that licenses fahtelogy currently utilized by us or other
technology which we may seek to license in therfjtwill be available to us on commercially readdaderms or at all. The loss of, or inabi
to maintain, existing licenses could result in gelar reductions in the installation and deploynedrdur cloud communications and
collaboration services until equivalent technologysuitable alternative products could be develpihtified, licensed and integrated, and
could harm our business. Software defects in tihe Bdand networking hardware we license from vesidaver which we have little or no
control, can adversely affect our ability to deligervices to our customers and could harm oumnlessi These licenses are on standard
commercial terms made generally available by thepamies providing the licenses. The cost and teifitisese licenses individually are not
material to our business.

Our infringement of a third party's proprietary tec hnology could disrupt our business.

There has been substantial litigation in the comipations, cloud telephony services, semicondueiectronics, and related industries
regarding intellectual property rights and, froméito time, third parties may claim that we, oustomers, our licensees or parties' indemnifie
by us are infringing, misappropriating or otherwis@lating their intellectual property rights. THiparties may also claim that our employees
have misappropriated or divulged their former empie’ trade secrets or confidential informationr &wad range of current and former
technology, including IP telephony systems, digitadl analog circuits, software, and semiconductocseases the likelihood that third parties
may claim infringement by us of their
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intellectual property rights. For example, on MayQ08, we received a letter from AT&T Intellectiabperty, L.L.C., or AT&T IP,

expressing the belief that we must license a sigelcifatent for use in our 8x8 broadband telephenéce, as well as suggesting that we obtait
a license to its portfolio of MPEG-4 patents foewsith our video telephone products and servicéshé same time, we began an evaluation ¢
whether AT&T IP's affiliated entities may need imehse any of our patents or other intellectuapprty. We have continued to engage in
discussions with AT&T IP to explore a mutually aggble resolution of the parties' respective assertiegarding these intellectual property
issues. We are unable at this time to state whethewill enter into any license or cross-licensesegnents with AT&T IP or whether we
ultimately anticipate any material effects on opexating results or financial condition as a consege of these matters.

Certain technology necessary for us to providesewvices may, in fact, be patented by other pagitber now or in the future. If such
technology were held under patent by another pekgemwould have to negotiate a license for theafgbat technology, which we may not be
able to negotiate at a price that is acceptab#g all. The existence of such a patent, or ourilitabo negotiate a license for any such
technology on acceptable terms, could force ugése using such technology and offering produatssarvices incorporating such technolc

We have recently been named as defendants in &genpinfringement lawsuits. On February 22, 2044 were named a defendant in a
lawsuit, Bear Creek Technologies, Inc. v. 8x8, ktcal., along with 20 other defendants. On Oct@32011, we were named a defendant in
lawsuit, Klausner Technologies, Inc. v. Oracle Qogpion et al., along with 30 other defendants.Mamch 31, 2014, we were named a
defendant in a lawsuit, CallWave Communications LL.@x8, Inc. On April 23, 2014, we were named hoit served as a defendant in a
lawsuit, TQP Development LLC v. 8x8, Inc. On A@B0, 2014 (and before any service of the complairf®P Development filed papers to
dismiss this lawsuit and other lawsuits that wédezlfon or about the same time. If we are fountdadnfringing on the intellectual property
rights of any third party in these lawsuits or atbk@ims and proceedings that may be assertedsigsrin the future, we could be subject to
monetary liabilities for such infringement, whicbutd be material. We could also be required toaiaffrom using, manufacturing or selling
certain products or using certain processes, eithehich could have a material adverse effect enbmsiness and operating results. From tim
to time, we have received, and may continue toiveda the future, notices of claims of infringenhemisappropriation or misuse of other
parties' proprietary rights. There can be no assear¢ghat we will prevail in these discussions agttbas or that other actions alleging
infringement by us of third party patents will rm asserted or prosecuted against us. Furtherfawrgyits like these may require significant
time and expense to defend, may divert managenadteigtion away from other aspects of our operatamd, upon resolution, may have a
material adverse effect on our business, resultgefations, financial condition and cash flows.rémformation regarding the four pending
suits is provided under Part |, Item 3 of our AnnReport on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended dhaB1, 2014.

Inability to protect our proprietary technology would disrupt our business.

We rely, in part, on trademark, copyright, and éradcret law to protect our intellectual propentyhie United States and abroad. We seek to
protect our software, documentation, and othert@nrimaterials under trade secret and copyrightvevich afford only limited protection. We
also rely, in part, on patent law to protect oueliectual property in the United States and ird&omally. As of March 31, 2014, we had been
awarded 92 United States patents, more than 6(iahvwve currently hold and which we expect to exfiietween 2014 and 2032. We have
additional United States and foreign patents pandivie cannot predict whether such pending patguitcgtions will result in issued patents,
and if they do, whether such patents will effedfiyarotect our intellectual property. The intelleal property rights we obtain may not be
sufficient to provide us with a competitive advaggaand could be challenged, invalidated, infringechisappropriated. We may not be able t
protect our proprietary rights in the United Stadesternationally (where effective intellectuabperty protection may be unavailable or
limited), and competitors may independently deveémtnologies that are similar or superior to @ehtology, duplicate our technology or
design around any patent of ours.

We attempt to further protect our proprietary tembgy and content by requiring our employees amsultiants to enter into confidentiality ¢
assignment of inventions agreements and thirdgsatti enter into nondisclosure agreements. Thesemgnts may not effectively prevent
unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidemtifdrmation, intellectual property or technologydamay not provide an adequate remedy in
the event of unauthorized use or disclosure oftonfidential information, intellectual property @chnology.

Litigation may be necessary in the future to erdavar intellectual property rights, to determine talidity and scope of our proprietary rights
or the rights of others, or to defend against ctaghinfringement or invalidity. Such litigation aldl result in substantial costs and diversion of
management time and resources and could have aiahatéverse effect on our business, financial domg and operating results. Any
settlement or adverse determination in such litigrvould also subject us to significant liability.
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We may also be required to protect our proprietachinology and content in an increasing numbeuriddictions, a process that is expensive
and may not be successful, or which we may notyeurrs every location. In addition, effective inegltual property protection may not be
available to us in every country, and the lawsawhe foreign countries may not be as protectivatliectual property rights as those in the
United States. Additional uncertainty may resutifrchanges to intellectual property legislationated in the United States and elsewhere.
from interpretations of intellectual property latmg applicable courts and agencies. Accordinglypdesur efforts, we may be unable to obt
and maintain the intellectual property rights neegg to provide us with a competitive advantage.

Acquisitions may divert our management's attentionyesult in dilution to our stockholders and consumeesources that are necessary to
sustain our business.

On November 29, 2013, we acquired Voicenet Solstiamited ("Voicenet"), a UKbased provider of cloud communications and collation
services in the United Kingdom. In fiscal 2012, emnpleted two acquisitions of businesses. In fi2€dl1l, we completed one acquisition and
one investment in another company. If approprigigoctunities present themselves, we may make additiacquisitions or investments or
enter into joint ventures or strategic alliancethwither companies. Risks commonly encounteredéh sransactions include:

o the difficulty of assimilating the operations anetrgonnel of the combined companies;

e the risk that we may not be able to integrate tigpizied services or technologies with our currentises, products, and technologies;
e the potential disruption of our ongoing business;

e the diversion of management attention from ourtagsbusiness;

e the inability of management to maximize our finaheind strategic position through the successtabimtion of the acquired
businesses;

e difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures, godicies;
e the impairment of relationships with employees igps, and customers as a result of any integratio
e the loss of an acquired base of customers and goying revenue;

e the assumption of leased facilities, other longateommitments or liabilities that could have a mateadverse impact on our
profitability and cash flow; and

o the dilution to our existing stockholders from ikguance of additional shares of common stockdwaion of earnings per outstanding
share in connection with an acquisition that fealéncrease the value of our company.

As a result of these potential problems and riakspng others, businesses that we may acquire estimv may not produce the revenue,

earnings, or business synergies that we anticipateddition, there can be no assurance that atgnpal transaction will be successfully

completed or that, if completed, the acquired kessror investment will generate sufficient revetmueffset the associated costs or other
potential harmful effects on our business.

Our future operating results may vary substantiallyfrom period to period and may be difficult to predict.

Our historical operating results have fluctuatephgicantly and will likely continue to fluctuata ithe future, and a decline in our operating
results could cause our stock price to fall. Omanual and a quarterly basis, there are a numbfactufrs that may affect our operating results,
many of which are outside our control. These ine|uzlit are not limited to:

e changes in market demand;
e the timing of customer subscriptions for our clmadnmunications and collaboration services;
e customer cancellations;
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e changes in the competitive dynamics of our matketuding consolidation among competitors or custsn
e lengthy sales cycles and/or regulatory approvalesyc

e new product introductions by us or our competitors;

e market acceptance of new or existing services eatlifes;

e the mix of our customer base and sales channels;

e the mix of services sold;

e the number of additional customers, on a net basis;

e the amount and timing of costs associated withuigog, training and integrating new employees;

e unforeseen costs and expenses related to the éapari®ur business, operations and infrastructure;

e continued compliance with industry standards agdlegory requirements;

e introduction and adoption of our cloud communicasi@nd collaboration services in markets outsidb@tnited States; and
e general economic conditions.

Due to these and other factors, we believe thabgdo-period comparisons of our results of operaiare not meaningful and should not be
relied upon as indicators of our future performarcis possible that in some future periods osules of operations may be below the
expectations of public market analysts and investbthis were to occur, the price of our commtotk would likely decline significantly.

Our products must comply with industry standards, FCC regulations, state, local, country-specific anghternational regulations, and
changes may require us to modify existing productand/or services.

In addition to reliability and quality standardsetmarket acceptance of telephony over broadbanétiRorks is dependent upon the adoption
of industry standards so that products from mudtiplanufacturers are able to communicate with etiwdr.oOur cloud-based communications
and collaboration services rely heavily on commatian standards such as SIP, MGCP and networkatdsduch as TCP/IP and UDP to
interoperate with other vendors' equipment. Theirently a lack of agreement among industrydemdbout which standard should be used
for a particular application, and about the deiimitof the standards themselves. These standardglhas audio and video compression
standards, continue to evolve. We also must convjily certain rules and regulations of the FCC rdiay electromagnetic radiation and sat
standards established by Underwriters Laboratasesyell as similar regulations and standards ealple in other countries. Standards are
frequently modified or replaced. As standards exolve may be required to modify our existing prdadws develop and support new versions
of our products. We must comply with certain fedlestate and local requirements regarding how weratt with our customers, including
marketing practices, consumer protection, privacyl billing issues, the provision of 9-1-1 emergeservice and the quality of service we
provide to our customers. The failure of our praduwmnd services to comply, or delays in compliamgth various existing and evolving
standards could delay or interrupt volume productibour communications and collaboration servisebject us to fines or other imposed
penalties, or harm the perception and adoptiors rafteur service, any of which would have a materitverse effect on our business, financial
condition or operating results.

For example:

e The FCC hasimplemented network neutrality rulesin the past and is considering new rulemaking proceedings regarding network
neutrality. In December 2010, the FCC adopted new net neytraliés that would protect services like ours fremeh interference.
Several parties sought judicial review of the FQ@sneutrality rules, and in January 2014 the-blottking and unreasonable
discrimination provisions of the rules were vacataftile the court ruling did not foreclose the FE&m adopting anti-blocking or non-
discrimination rules, interference with our serviwehigher charges for using our service could eaissto lose existing customers,
impair our ability to attract new customers, andmaur revenue and growth. These problems couldaise in international markets.
Most foreign countries have not adopted formalneeitrality rules like those adopted by the FCC.
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Reform of federal and state Universal Service Fund programs could increase the cost of our service to our customers diminishing or
eliminating our pricing advantage . The FCC and a number of states are consideringmedo other modifications to Universal Service
Fund programs. Should the FCC or certain stategtadw contribution mechanisms or otherwise moddtribution obligations that
increase our contribution burden, we will eitheed¢o raise the amount we currently collect fromaustomers to cover this obligation
or absorb the costs, which would reduce our proéitgins. Furthermore, the FCC has ruled that staesequire us to contribute to
state Universal Service Fund programs. A numbstates already require us to contribute, while istlage actively considering
extending their programs to include the servicepmeide. We currently pass-through Universal Ssrkund contributions to our
customers, which may result in our services becgr#as competitive as compared to those provideathoyrs.

We may become subject to state regulation for certain service offerings. Certain states take the position that offering&biP
providers, like us, are intrastate and therefolgest to state regulation. These states arguefttiat beginning and end points of
communications are known, and if some of these conications occur entirely within the boundariesaitate, the state can regulate
that offering. We believe that the FCC has preethptates from regulating VolP services like ourthmsame manner as providers of
traditional telecommunications services. We cammetlict how this issue will be resolved or its iropan our business at this time.

The FCC and Congress are investigating call completion ratesto rural areas of the United States. It is possible that we, like other
providers in the communications marketplace, maguigect to fines or other enforcement actions khtie FCC determine that our
call completion rates to rural areas are, or haenbunacceptable.

The FCC may require providers like us to comply with regulations related to how we present billsto customers. The adoption of such
obligations may require us to revise our bills amaly increase our costs of providing service whiztid either result in price increases
or reduce our profitability.

The FCC adopted rules concerning disabilities access requirements that may expand disabilities access requirements to additional
services we offer . We cannot predict whether we will be subject toitiigial accessibility requirements or whether ahpuar service
offerings that are not currently subject to diséibs access requirements will be subject to sustigations.

There may be risks associated with our ability to comply with requirements of the Telecommunications Relay Service. The FCC
requires providers of interconnected VolP servicasomply with certain regulations pertaining t@opke with disabilities and to
contribute to the Telecommunications Relay Serviuad. We are also required to offer 7-1-1 abbredalialing for access to relay
services.

There may be risks associated with our ability to comply with the requirements of federal law enforcement agencies. The FCC
requires all interconnected VolIP providers to compith the Communications Assistance for Law Enéonent Act, or CALEA. The
FCC allows VolP providers to comply with CALEA thugh the use of a service provided by a trusted {arty with the ability to
extract call content and call-identifying informatifrom a VolP provider's network.

The FCC may require usto deploy an E-911 service that automatically determines the location of our customers. On June 1, 2007, t
FCC released a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking,eo¥tiiP E-911 order, in which it tentatively conohadthat all interconnected VolP
providers that allow customers to use their seririamore than one location (nomadic VoIP servigevfaters, such as us), must utilize
an automatic location technology that meets theesarguracy standards which apply to providers ofroercial mobile radio services
(mobile phone service providers) Since then, th€ R@s been conducting proceedings and inquirieseramg the implementation of
such a rule. The outcome of these proceedings téengdetermined at this time and we may or mayeaible to comply with any su
obligations that may be adopted. At present, weetitily have no means to automatically identify pihgsical location of one of our
customers on the Internet. We cannot guaranteethatgency calling service consistent with the VIBIB11 order will be available to
all of our customers, especially those accessimgervices from outside of the United States. TBEE current VVolP E-911 order or
follow-on orders or clarifications or their impawt our customers due to service price increasether factors could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditioaperating results.
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e The FCC adopted orders reforming the system of payments between regulated carriersthat we partner with to interface with the
public switch telephone network . The FCC reformed the system under which regulatedigers of telecommunications services
compensate each other for various types of traffiduding VolP traffic that terminates on the PS@ihd applied new call signaling
requirements to VolP providers and other servieigers. The FCC's new rules require, among otfiegs, interconnected VolP
providers, like us, that originate interstate drastate traffic destined for the PSTN, to tranginittelephone number associated witt
calling party to the next provider in the call pdtitermediate providers must pass calling partylber or charge number signaling
information they receive from other providers uesdt, to subsequent providers in the call path.I&\ie believe we are in compliance
with this rule, to the extent that we pass trattfiat does not have appropriate calling party numabeharge number information, we
could be subject to fines, cease and desist orderther penalties. The FCC's Order reforming payts between carriers for various
types of traffic also includes a Further NoticePobposed Rulemaking. Depending on the rules addptedde FCC in this proceeding,
the payments we make to underlying carriers tossctiee PSTN may increase, which may result in creasing the retail price of our
service, potentially making our offering less cotitpe with traditional providers of telecommuniaais services, or may reduce our
profitability.

Our emergency and E-911 calling services are diffent from those offered by traditional wireline telgphone companies and may expose
us to significant liability. There may be risks assciated with limitations associated with E-911 emeency dialing with the 8x8 service.

Both our emergency calling service and our E-91lingaservice are different, in significant respgdrom the emergency calling services
offered by traditional wireline telephone companieseach case, the differences may cause signtfielays, or even failures, in callers'
receipt of the emergency assistance they need.

The FCC may determine that our nomadic emergentypgaervice does not satisfy the requirementiéso¥/olP E-911 order because, in some
instances, our nomadic emergency calling servigeires that we route an emergency call to a natiem&rgency call center instead of
connecting our customers directly to a local publifety answering point through a dedicated commeeind through the appropriate selective
router.

Delays our customers may encounter when makingganey services calls and any inability of the amavgepoint to automatically recognize
the caller's location or telephone number can t@slife threatening consequences. Customers mahge future, attempt to hold us respons
for any loss, damage, personal injury or deatheseff as a result of any failure of ouBEL services. In July 2008, the President signtdlaw
the New and Emerging Technologies 911 ImprovementofA2008. The law provides public safety entitieserconnected VolP providers and
others involved in handling 911 calls the sameilitgiprotections when handling 911 calls from irtennected VolP users as from mobile or
wired telephone service users. The applicabilitshefliability protections to our national call ¢enservice is unclear at the present time. Also
we may be exposed to liability for 911 calls madero the adoption of this new law although we anaware of any such liability.

Increased energy costs, power outages, and limitegrailability of electrical resources may adverselaffect our operating results.

Our data centers are susceptible to increased abgtaver and to electrical power outages. Ouramst contracts do not contain provisions
that would allow us to pass on any increased aigsergy to our customers, which could affect @pgrating margins. Any increases in the
price of our services to recoup these costs coold@ implemented until the end of a customer eabtierm. Further, power requirements at
our data centers are increasing as a result dhtieasing power demands of today's servers. Isessi our power costs could impact our
operating results and financial condition. Sincerelg on third parties to provide our data centeith power sufficient to meet our needs, our
data centers could have a limited or inadequateuatraf electrical resources necessary to meetustomer requirements. We attempt to limit
exposure to system downtime due to power outagesiog backup generators and power supplies. Haythese protections may not limit
our exposure to power shortages or outages entialy system downtime resulting from insufficiervger resources or power outages could
damage our reputation and lead us to lose currehpatential customers, which would harm our opegatesults and financial condition.
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Decreasing telecommunications rates and increasimggulatory charges may diminish or eliminate our canpetitive pricing advantage
versus legacy providers.

Decreasing telecommunications rates may diminisiliominate the competitive pricing advantage of senvices, while increased regulation
and the imposition of additional regulatory fundisigligations at the federal, state and local leeelld require us to either increase the retail
price for our services, thus making us less cortipetior absorb such costs, thus decreasing otit prargins. International and domestic
telecommunications rates have decreased signifjcaner the last few years in most of the markaete/hich we operate, and we anticipate
these rates will continue to decline in all of tharkets in which we do business or expect to dinbss. Users who select our services to take
advantage of the current pricing differential bedwéraditional telecommunications rates and owsratay switch to traditional
telecommunications carriers if such pricing diffeials diminish or disappear, however, and we héllunable to use such pricing differentials
to attract new customers in the future. Continwsd decreases would require us to lower our ratessmhain competitive and would reduce or
possibly eliminate any gross profit from our seegcln addition, we may lose subscribers for owrises.

Because our long-term growth strategy involves fufter expansion of our sales to customers outside thinited States, our business will
be susceptible to risks associated with internatiai operations.

A component of our growth strategy involves thdtfar expansion of our operations and customer inésmationally. In November 2013, we
acquired Voicenet, demonstrating our commitmerggeand our business outside of North America. Télesrand challenges associated with
sales of our cloud communications and collaboragienvices to customers outside North America dferdnt in some ways from those
associated with sales in North America, and we lalimited history addressing those risks and megetiose challenges. Our current
international operations and future initiativeslwilolve a variety of risks, including:

e localization of our service, including translatimmo foreign languages and associated expenses;
e changes in a specific country's or region's palitar economic conditions;
e unexpected changes in regulatory requirementss taxgade laws;

e more stringent regulations relating to data seguaunitd the unauthorized use of, or access to, coniah@nd personal information,
particularly in the European Union;

o differing labor regulations, especially in the Boean Union, where labor laws are generally mor@athgeous to employees as
compared to the United States, including deemedyhawage and overtime regulations in these location

e challenges inherent in efficiently managing ané&ased number of employees over large geographandiss, including the need to
implement appropriate systems, policies, benefits@mpliance programs;

e difficulties in managing a business in new marketh diverse cultures, languages, customs, leggtksys, alternative dispute systems
and regulatory systems;

e increased travel, real estate, infrastructure agellcompliance costs associated with internatiopetations;
o different pricing environments, longer sales cyclesger accounts receivable payment cycles angr abllection difficulties;

e currency exchange rate fluctuations and the reguéiffect on our revenue and expenses, and thendgisk of entering into hedging
transactions if we chose to do so in the future;

e limitations on our ability to reinvest earningsrrmperations in one country to fund the capitaldses our operations in other
countries;

e laws and business practices favoring local comgstivr general preferences for local vendors;
e limited or insufficient intellectual property praton;
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e political instability or terrorist activities;

e exposure to liabilities under anti-corruption amti-enoney laundering laws, including the U.S. FgreCorrupt Practices Act and
similar laws and regulations in other jurisdictipaad

e adverse tax burdens and foreign exchange contralould make it difficult to repatriate earniregsl cash.

We have limited experience in operating our busineternationally, which increases the risk that patential future expansion efforts that we
may undertake will not be successful. If we invasistantial time and resources to expand our iatemal operations and are unable to do so
successfully and in a timely manner, our businessaperating results will suffer.

Our ability to offer services outside the United Sites is subject to different local regulatory envionments, which may be unknown,
complicated and uncertain.

Regulatory treatment of VolP telephony and clinaded services outside the United States varigs dountry to country and often the laws
unclear. In January 2013, we launched our Virtu#ic® services in Canada. We currently distributie products and services directly to
consumers and through resellers that may be subjéetecommunications regulations in their homentdes. The failure by us or our
customers and resellers to comply with these lawisragulations could reduce our revenue and plilityp. Because of our relationship with
the resellers, some countries may assert that eveequired to register as a telecommunicationsigeown that country. In such case, our
failure to do so could subject us to fines or peesl In addition, some countries are considerirgexcting VolP services to the regulations
applied to traditional telephone companies. Regwyadevelopments such as these could have a madviarse effect on the use of our
services in international locations.

As we expand our operations internationally, weeexpo become subject to additional governmentlatigms. Such regulations include, but
are not limited to: licensing obligations, emergeservices obligations, data retention and trarlafg@s and regulations, privacy laws and
regulations, consumer protection, national sectleitys and regulations, law enforcement obligatidingncial reporting, surcharge and other
fees that must be collected and remitted as waltleer laws and regulations. For example, as aigeowf electronic communications services
in the UK, we are subject to regulation in the UKthe Office of Communications. Some of these raguy obligations include providing
access to emergency call services (E999/112); girayiaccess to operator assistance, directorieslisgctory enquiry services, offering
contracts with minimum terms, providing and pulilighcertain information transparently, providingntized billing, protecting customer
information (including personal data); porting pearumbers upon a valid customer request and impitingea code of practice. We are also
required to comply with laws and matters relatingamong other things, competition law, distandingg e-commerce and consumer
protection. We must also comply with various rejpgrand recordkeeping requirements.

In some cases, the relevant laws may be uncentainsettled complicating our ability to comply amdy subject us to fines, penalties or other
enforcement actions. It is possible that we co@dibject to civil and criminal liabilities that gndamage our business reputation and brand.
Moreover, any changes in laws, regulations or esfment policies may expose us to unknown civil emmainal risks that could requires us to
modify our offerings or expose us to fines, peealtr other enforcement actions, or compel usdoire with onerous obligations that we
either were not previously subject or did not feesWe may be required to exit certain foreign rtrkhould such changes make the prov

of our service unprofitable, too costly, too rigkyfor other reasons that could adversely impacipoafitability, or our ability to compete
effectively with other service providers. Any oke occurrences could negatively impact our braddar business reputation.

We will also become subject to risks associateti wlitanges in the regulatory structure of the tetenanications services marketplace in
international markets. As in the United Stateswilecontinue to depend on underlying carriersamiinate our traffic to the PSTN in each
country where we offer services. As countries est@and change intercarrier payment schemes, rearal/enpose new obligations, our costs
to provide service may increase. This could requéreither to reduce our profitability or raise fgriee of our service which may make our
offerings less competitive with other providerghie marketplace. We may have to exit markets tiegpreviously thought would be profitable
which could negatively impact our business, andatgarour brand and reputation.

We support local number portability, or LNP, whigfows our customers to retain their existing tampe numbers when subscribing to our
services. A new customer of our services must ragiriioth the new 8x8 service and the customer&iegitelephone service during the
number transfer process. By comparison, transfemiineless telephone numbers among wireless sepvmaders generally takes several
hours, and transferring wireline telephone numhbensng traditional
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wireline service providers generally takes a fewsd#n foreign countries, we anticipate longer gelen porting existing telephone numbers.
The additional delay that we experience is dueutareliance on third party carriers to transfer ivenbers, as well as the delay the existing
telephone service provider may contribute to treeess. Local number portability is considered apartant feature by many potential
customers, especially our business customers favelfail to reduce related delays, we may expegeincreased difficulty in acquiring new
customers or retaining existing customers.

We need to retain key personnel to support our prodcts and ongoing operations.

The development and marketing of our communicat#nts collaboration services will continue to placgignificant strain on our limited
personnel, management, and other resources. Quefsticcess depends upon the continued services ekecutive officers and other key
employees who have critical industry experienceratationships that we rely on to implement ouribess plan. None of our officers or key
employees are bound by employment agreements yosg@acific term. The loss of the services of anpuf officers or key employees could
delay the development and introduction of, and tieglg impact our ability to sell our services whicould adversely affect our financial
results and impair our growth. We currently do matintain key person life insurance policies on ahgur employees.

We may need to raise additional capital to supporour future operations.

As of March 31, 2014, we had cash and cash equiisaénd investments of approximately $178.4 millidhile we believe these funds are
sufficient to meet our current and anticipatediliiify requirements, we may need to raise additi@aaital to pursue our strategic objectives.
We may seek additional funding through public avate equity or debt financing, including pursutmthe shelf registration statement of
which this prospectus supplement is a part. We thidghide to raise additional debt or equity cagpitaduch times and upon such terms as
management considers favorable and in our intedegtsve cannot be certain that we will be abledmplete offerings of our securities at si
times and on such terms as we may consider desifablis. Any such financings may be upon termsahadilutive to existing stockholders.
We may not be able to obtain such additional fingmes needed on acceptable terms, or at all, whrequire us to reduce our operating
costs and other expenditures, including reductanesersonnel and capital expenditures.

Certain provisions in our charter documents and Delware law could discourage takeover attempts andael to management
entrenchment.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and ansehand restated bylaws contain provisions thatcchabe the effect of delaying or preventing
changes in control or changes in our managemehbutithe consent of our board of directors, inalgdiamong other things:

e no cumulative voting in the election of directasdich limits the ability of minority stockholdere elect director candidates;

e the ability of our board of directors to issue &sanf preferred stock and to determine the prickather terms of those shares, incluc
preferences and voting rights, without stockhokigproval, which could be used to significantly thlthe ownership of a hostile
acquirer;

e the exclusive right of our board of directors teatla director to fill a vacancy created by theaagion of our board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, wipocbvents stockholders from being able to fill vazias on our board of directors;

e a prohibition on stockholder action by written cents which forces stockholder action to be takesnaainnual or special meeting of our
stockholders;

e the requirement that a special meeting of stocldrsidhay be called only by a majority vote of ouaBbof Directors, the Chairman of
our Board of Directors, our Chief Executive Officarby stockholders holdings shares of our comntocksrepresenting in the
aggregate a majority of votes then outstandingcwbbuld delay the ability of our stockholdersaocke consideration of a proposal or
to take action, including the removal of directors;

o the ability of our board of directors, by majoritgte, to amend our amended and restated bylawshwhay allow our board of
directors to take additional actions to prevenbstite acquisition and inhibit the ability of angagrer to amend our amended and
restated bylaws to facilitate a hostile acquisitiand
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e advance notice procedures with which stockholdarstrmomply to nominate candidates to our boardreftbrs or to propose matters
to be acted upon at a stockholders' meeting, wiiaj discourage or deter a potential acquirer frondacting a solicitation of proxies
to elect the acquirer's own slate of directorstbheowise attempting to obtain control of us.

e We are also subject to certain atatikeover provisions under the General Corporatiaw bf the State of Delaware, or the DGCL. Ur
Section 203 of the DGCL, a corporation may nogeéneral, engage in a business combination witthaiger of 15% or more of its
capital stock unless the holder has held the dmcthree years or (i) our board of directors appothe transaction prior to the
stockholder acquiring the 15% ownership positidihpupon consummation of the transaction that teslin the stockholder acquiring
the 15% ownership position, the stockholder owrlsast 85% of the outstanding voting stock (exeigdihares owned by directors or
officers and shares owned by certain employee sttans) or (iii) the transaction is approved by bloard of directors and by the
stockholders at an annual or special meeting byta of 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock (eding shares held or controlled by
the interested stockholder). These provisions irrestated certificate of incorporation and amenaiedi restated bylaws and under
Delaware law could discourage potential takeoviemapts.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal operations are located in San JogeinG facility that is approximately 104,657 sqaifeet of leased office space. Outside the
United States our operations are conducted priynarileased sites located in the United Kingdom. Wgkeve our facilities will adequately
meet our current and foreseeable future needsadititional information regarding our obligationgden leases see Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in Part Il, Itenf & Report.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we become involved in variougaleclaims and litigation that arise in the normailirse of our operations. While the results
of such claims and litigation cannot be predictetth wertainty, we are not currently aware of anghsmatters that we believe would have a
material adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations or cash flows.

On February 22, 2011, we were named a defendankawsuit, Bear Creek Technologies, Inc. v. 8x8, éhal. , along with 20 other
defendants. On August 17, 2011, we were dismisseubwt prejudice from this lawsuit under Rule 21tloé Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
On August 17, 2011, we were sued again by BearkCreehnologies, Inc. in the United States Dist@ourt for the District of Delaware. We
believe we have factual and legal defenses to ttlagas and are presenting a vigorous defenseth&ymon November 28, 2012, the U.S.
Patent & Trademark Office initiated a Reexaminapooceeding with a Reexamination Declaration exjitaj that there is a substantial new
question of patentability, based on four separatangs and affecting each claim of the patent wisdhe basis for the complaint filed against
us. On March 26, 2013, the USPTO issued a firfEBt®Action in the Reexamination, with all claimbtbe '722 patent being rejected on each
of the four separate grounds raised in the Redae&eexamination. On July 10, 2013, we filed @foimational pleading in support of and
joining a motion to stay the proceeding in the BéstCourt; the District Court granted the motiam duly 17, 2013, based on the possibility
at least one of the USPTO rejections will be uplegld considering the USPTQO's conclusion that BeaelCs patent suffers from a defective
claim for priority. On March 24, 2014, the USPT&3ued another Office Action in which the rejectiofithe claims are maintained. We
cannot estimate potential liability in this casehas early stage of litigation.

On October 25, 2011, we were named a defendantawsit, Klausner Technologies, Inc. v. Oracle iwationet al. , along with 30 other
defendants. The lawsuit alleges infringement ot that is now believed to have expired. On Mawer 1, 2011, Klausner dismissed the
Complaint voluntarily and filed new complaints segiing the defendants, including a new Complairtiregt 8x8. We believe we have factual
and legal defenses to these claims and are pregentiigorous defense. On March 21, 2013, thaibisTourt granted 8x8's Motion to Char
Venue, and has ordered the transfer of the caetdS District Court for the Northern District @&lifornia. An answer to the complaint was
filed on April 25, 2014. We cannot estimate pogniability in this case at this early stage bétlitigation.
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On March 31, 2014, we were named a defendantawadit, CallWave Communications LLC v. 8x8, Incall@/ave Communications also
sued Fonality Inc. on March 31, 2014, and previpssked other companies including Verizon, Googi®jdbile, and AT&T. We are current
assessing factual and legal defenses to thesesctaichexpect to present a vigorous defense. We matvanswered the complaint yet and
cannot estimate potential liability in this caséhag early stage of the litigation.

On April 23, 2014, we were named but not served dsfendant in a lawsuit, TQP Development, LLCx8,8nc. On April 30, 2014 (and
before any service of the complaint), TQP Developifiged papers to dismiss this lawsuit and otlaevduits that were filed on or about the
same time.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

We completed our initial public offering on JulyZ997 under the name 8x8, Inc. From that date titrd\pril 3, 2000, our common stock was
traded on the NASDAQ National Market, or the NASDAQ@der the symbol "EGHT." From April 4, 2000 thgbhuJuly 18, 2001, our common
stock was traded on the NASDAQ under the symbolRET" Since July 19, 2001 our common stock has trasheler the symbol "EGHT." In
July 2002, in connection with the transformatiorthef NASDAQ to a national securities exchange mtinh was transferred to the NASDAQ
Capital Market of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commak stod have no plans to do so in the foreseeahlesfuAs of May 15, 2014, there were
251 holders of record of our common stock.

The following table sets forth the range of higld éow close prices for each period indicated:

Period High Low
Fiscal 2014:
First quarter $8.27 $6.47
Second quarter $10.84 $8.37
Third quarter $11.95 $8.95
Fourth quarter $11.47 $9.56
Fiscal 2013:
First quarter $4.36 $3.80
Second quarter $7.02 $4.14
Third quarter $7.58 $5.62
Fourth quarter $7.95 $6.00

See Item 12 of Part Il of this Report regardinfpimation about securities authorized for issuanuger our equity compensation plans.
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The graph below shows the cumulative total stoddoteturn over a five year period assuming thestment of $100 on March 31, 2009 in
each of 8x8's common stock, the NASDAQ Compositexrand the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. Tragpbris furnished, not filed,
and the historical return cannot be indicativeutfife performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among 8 x 8, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the NASDAQ Telecommunications
Index
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*$100 invested on 3/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending March 31.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share amot

Total revenue $ 128,597 $ 103,786 $ 83,372 $ 70,163 $ 63,396
Net income $ 2,514 $ 13,939 $ 69,228 $ 6,494 $ 3,879
Net income per shar

Basic $ 0.03 $ 0.20 $ 1.04 $ 0.10 $ 0.06
Diluted $ 0.03 $ 0.19 $ 0.99 $ 0.10 $ 0.06
Total asset $ 299,203 $ 152,611 $ 130,733 $ 26,584 $ 23,712
Fair value of warrant liabilit $ - $ - $ - 3 - $ 167
Accumulated defici $ (106,665 $ (109,179 $ (123,118 $ (192,346 $ (198,840
Total stockholders' equit $ 278,178 $ 137,033 $ 118,450 $ 15,861 $ 13,300
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We are a leading provider of UCC services in tlridlfor SMBs and mid-market and distributed enisgs: We deliver a broad suite of UCC
services to in-office and mobile devices spanniogda telephony, virtual contact center and virtongleting through our proprietary unified
SaaS platform. We currently serve approximatel@@@ business customers with over 500,000 subsmniptimaking us a leading provider of
UCC services in the cloud. Our software abstragtspiex networking, redundancy, security and intengxtion requirements to provide a
seamless and easy-to-use solution for our custo®erssoftware also integrates with leading ERPMCRCM and other third-party
application suites, such as Salesforce.com anduitet$o provide organizations an integrated, féillgctional business communications and
collaboration experience that is critical to opertteir businesses.

SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

In fiscal year 2014, we displayed continued momenitufour areas. First, we saw an increase in threlrer of new services added during the
year, representing a y~over-year increase of 26%, reflecting demand forservices in our domestic small and medium bssieg or SMBSs,
and mid-market and distributed enterprise custameeket. We intend to continue to pursue opportesito sell our comprehensive suite of
services to SMBs and mid-market and distributeerpnises who wish to consolidate their cloud comitations and collaborative service
requirements with a single service provider.

Second, our continued focus on mid-market andildiged enterprise customers resulted in 34% ohew monthly recurring revenue sold in
the fiscal year coming from this the mid-market ahdnnel sales teams that target these custommagaced with 25% in fiscal 2013. We
continued to show an increase in our average myps#ivice revenue per customer to $287 in the oguiarter of fiscal 2014 compared to
$256 in the same period of fiscal 2013 which isrémult of our success in selling to larger, malglished customers.

Third, we continued to focus on selling a greatanber of services to our existing customer base.comprehensive suite of services,
combined with our highly scalable service architeetenables our customers to quickly and easilyogiegdditional 8x8 products and services
to distributed locations and remote employees.

Fourth, we continued to build on our Global Reathadtive by acquiring Voicenet in the United Kingd in November 2013. In addition, we
installed our services infrastructure in a new H&ogg data center in January 2014. We are in tbegss of migrating services for non-US
customers to our new overseas infrastructure. Betgenving the needs of existing customers, it isimient to penetrate these markets througt
a variety of additional methods including strategjfiances, partners and acquisitions.

To support these initiatives and strengthen ouimiess, we intend to continue investing in researuh development and sales and marketing :
rates comparable to the third and fourth quartéfscal 2014 for the foreseeable future.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES & ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepiarednformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statemenfart 11, Item 8 of this Report describes the sigaifit accounting policies and methods use
the preparation of our consolidated financial stegmts.

We have identified the policies below as some efittore critical to our business and the understanali our results of operations. These
policies may involve a higher degree of judgment @amplexity in their application and representdhiical accounting policies used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemmeflthough we believe our judgments and estimatesappropriate, actual future results may
differ from our estimates. If different assumptiarsconditions were to prevail, the results couddnaterially different from our reported
results. The impact and any associated risks rktatéhese policies on our business operationstugsed throughout Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &wekults of Operations where such policies affectreported and expected financial results
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assasfiat affect the reported amounts of assetslitie® and equity and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efdbnsolidated financial statements and the rep@n@ounts of revenues and expenses durin
reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we evaloateestimates, including, but not limited to, thoskated to bad debts, valuation of
inventories, and litigation and other contingenci%'e base our estimates on historical experiendearvarious other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstatioesesults of which form the basis for making jodgts about the carrying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Actual results could differ fromsh@stimates under different assumptions or
conditions. We base our estimates on historicaég&pce and on various other assumptions thatedievied to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the bfsisnaking judgments about the carrying value ckts liabilities and equity that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resadtdd differ from those estimates under differ@sgsumptions or conditions. Additional
information regarding risk factors that may impawt estimates is included above under Part |, té&m"'Risk Factors."

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue recognition policies are describedateN to the consolidated financial statementsairt P, Item 8 of this Report. As described
below, significant management judgments and estisnaiust be made and used in connection with tlentevrecognized in any accounting
period. Material differences may result in the amtaand timing of our revenue for any period if ouanagement made different judgments or
utilized different estimates.

Service and Product Revenue

We recognize revenue from product sales for whieneg are no related services to be rendered uppmsht to customers provided that
persuasive evidence of an arrangement existsribe ip fixed, title has transferred, collectionre$ulting receivables is reasonably assured,
there are no customer acceptance requirementsharedare no remaining significant obligations. €aroutbound shipping and handling
charges are recorded as revenue, and the reladtdare included in cost of goods sold. Reserveefarns and allowances for customer sales
are recorded at the time of shipment. In accordanttethe Financial Accounting Standards Board (3B8) Accounting Standards
Cadification ("ASC") 985-605, we record shipmeragistributors, retailers, and resellers, whereridiet of return exists, as deferred revenue.
We defer recognition of revenue on product saleidibutors, retailers, and resellers until theducts have been sold to the end customer.

We record revenue net of any sales-related taxestk billed to its customers. We believe thisrapph results in consolidated financial
statements that are more easily understood by.users

Under the terms of our typical subscription agrestmeew customers can terminate their service wii days of order placement and receive
a full refund of fees previously paid. We have deieed that we have sufficient history of subsaribenduct to make a reasonable estimate o
cancellations within the 30-day trial period. THere, we recognize new subscriber revenue in thetimio which the new order was shipped,
net of an allowance for expected cancellations.

Multiple Element Arrangements

ASC 605-25 requires that revenue arrangementsmutltiple deliverables be divided into separatesinftaccounting if the deliverables in the
arrangement meet specific criteria. The provisigrof the 8x8 cloud service with the accompanyixg B telephone constitutes a revenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables. For areamgnts with multiple deliverables, we allocatedh@angement consideration to all units of
accounting based on their relative selling pritesuch circumstances, the accounting principléesbéish a hierarchy to determine the relative
selling price to be used for allocating arrangenvemisideration to units of accounting as follovisvéndor-specific objective evidence of fair
value ("VSOE"), (ii) third-party evidence of selfjprice ("TPE"), and (iii) best estimate of thelisgl price ("BESP").

VSOE generally exists only when we sell the delde separately, on more than a limited basistie¢pwithin a relatively narrow range.
When VSOE cannot be established, we attempt tblesiahe selling price of deliverables based devant TPE. TPE is determined based on
manufacturer's prices for similar deliverables wheld separately, when possible. When we are uriatdstablish selling price using VSOE or
TPE, we use BESP for the allocation of arrangeroensideration. The objective of BESP is to deteenire price at which we would transact
a sale if the product or service was sold on adstdone basis. BESP is generally used for offerthgs are not typically sold on a stand-alone
basis or for new or highly
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customized offerings. We determine BESP for a pcbdu service by considering multiple factors imthg, but not limited to:

e the price list established by its management whadiipically based on general pricing practices tamgeted gross margin of products
and services sold; and

e analysis of pricing history of new arrangementsluding multiple element and stand-alone transastio

In accordance with the guidance of ASC 605-25, wlierenter into revenue arrangements with multiglévdrables we allocate arrangement
consideration, including activation fees, among8k@ IP telephones and subscriber services bas#tearrelative selling prices. Arrangement
consideration allocated to the IP telephones thfixéd or determinable and that is not contingemfuture performance or future deliverables
is recognized as product revenues during the pefitite sale less the allowance for estimated mstduring the 30-day trial period.
Arrangement consideration allocated to subscrieerices that is fixed or determinable and thatisaontingent on future performance or
future deliverables is recognized ratably as servéwenues as the related services are provideédhighgenerally over the initial contract tel

Our ability to enter into revenue generating tratisas and recognize revenue in the future is stilifea number of business and econt
risks discussed above under Item 1A,"Risk Factors."

Collectability of Accounts Receivable

We must make estimates of the collectability of @crounts receivable. Management specifically aslyccounts receivable, including
historical bad debts, customer concentrations poust creditworthiness, current economic trendsdrahges in our customer payment terms
when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance dobtful accounts. As of March 31, 2014, the acceuateivable balance was $5,503,000,
net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $620,0ncluding a reserve for disputed credits, améstimated returns reserve of $163,000. If
the financial condition of our customers deteriesabur actual losses may exceed our estimatesdafitibnal allowances would be required.

Valuation of Inventories

We write down our inventory for estimated obsole®esor unmarketable inventory equal to the diffeecetween the cost of inventory anc
estimated market value based upon assumptions aliar# demand, market conditions and replacemestsclf actual future demand or
market conditions are less favorable than thosggied by us, additional inventory write-downs niseyrequired.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite usdives are not amortized. Goodwill representsdkeess fair value of consideration
transferred over the fair value of net assets aedun business combinations. The carrying valugoafdwill and indefinite lived intangible
assets are not amortized, but are annually testachpairment and more often if there is an indicatf impairment.

We perform an annual impairment assessment inotimgHf quarter of each year, or more frequentipdii¢ators of potential impairment exist
determine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of a reporting unit in which goodwiisides is less than its carrying value. For
reporting units in which this assessment concluklasit is more likely than not that the fair valisenore than its carrying value, goodwill is
not considered impaired and we are not requirgebtiorm the two-step goodwill impairment test. Quadive factors considered in this
assessment include industry and market considastayverall financial performance, and other ref¢wvents and factors affecting the
reporting unit.

Income and Other Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consoldifiteancial statements we are required to estimmaténcome taxes in each of the jurisdicti

in which we operate. This process requires ustimate our actual current tax expense and to assegmrary differences resulting from book-
tax accounting differences for items such as actvaeation. These differences result in deferredatsets and liabilities, which are included
within our consolidated balance sheet. We must #ssess the likelihood that our deferred tax asg@étbe recovered from future taxable
income and to the extent we believe that recovenot likely, we must establish a valuation allosann the event that we determine that we
would be able to realize deferred tax assets iffiuttuge in excess of the net recorded amount, arsadent to the deferred tax asset would
reduce income tax expense in the period such datation was made.
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Significant management judgment is required tordatee the valuation allowance recorded againstetideferred tax assets, which include
net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards Valuation allowance is based on our estimatésxable income by jurisdiction in which \
operate and the period over which our deferrecatmets will be recoverable. During the fourth cgraof fiscal 2012, we reassessed the need
for a valuation allowance against our net defetagdasset and concluded that it was more likeln tiat that we would be able to realize a
significant portion of our deferred tax assets. &dingly, we released most of our valuation alloearelated to our deferred tax asset which
resulted in a credit to the income statement of@gmately $62.1 million. We determined that a asle of a portion of our valuation allowance
was appropriate as a result of the following disesvents: (1) our attainment of three consecuytdae's of net income, (2) the acquisition of
Contactual in the second quarter of fiscal 201PtH8 completion of the Section 382 ownership asialynder the Internal Revenue Code for
Contactual in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 ring the fourth quarters of fiscal 2014 and 2018,evaluated the need for a valuation
allowance against our net deferred tax asset ancluted that an additional allowance was needeeréfbre, we increased our valuation
allowance related to our state and federal netatipgr loss and tax credit carryovers which resulecversals of previous income statement
credits of approximately $1.3 million and $1.0 roifi, respectively. We determined that an increasair valuation allowance was appropriate
as a result of the change in the net income agpomnént methodology in California and the acquisitid VVoicenet in the third quarter of fiscal
2014. In making this determination, we considedke\ailable positive and negative evidence, inglgdour recent earnings trend and expe
continued future taxable income. As of March 311£20he net deferred tax asset on the consolidsiksthce sheet represented the projecte
benefit we expect to realize. We continue to maingavaluation allowance against the portion of defierred tax assets that we believe we wil
not be able to utilize.

We have received inquiries, demands or audit requsm several state, municipal and 9-1-1 taxiggreies seeking payment of taxes that ar
applied to or collected from the customers of pievs of traditional public switched telephone netngervices. We recorded $0.1 million, $0
and $0 of expense for the years ended March 34,213 and 2012, respectively, for estimated igoosure for such assessments.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our employee stock options, stoaklmse rights, restricted stock units, and restligterformance stock units granted unde
1996 Stock Plan, 1996 Director Option Plan, 199@adtatutory Stock Option Plan, the 2006 Stock Rlae 2003 Contactual Plan, the 2012
Equity Incentive Plan, the 2013 New Employee Indoest Incentive Plan and stock purchase rights utdet 996 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (collectively "Equity Compensation Plans") anthe provisions of ASC 7183ock Compensation . Under the provisions of ASC 718,
stock-based compensation cost is measured atahé daite, based on the estimated fair value ohwerd, and is recognized as an expense
over the employee's requisite service period (galyaihe vesting period of the equity grant), neestimated forfeitures.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized Dahsolidated Statements of Income for fiscal 2@D4,3 and 2012, was measured based
on ASC 718 criteria. Compensation expense for shaded payment awards is recognized using thgstriie single-option method and
includes the impact of estimated forfeitures. Congation expense for restricted stock units withiqrerance and market conditions is
recognized over the requisite service period utiiegstraight-line method and includes the impaasimated forfeitures. ASC 718 requires
forfeitures to be estimated at the time of gramt Bvised, if necessary, in subsequent periodstuied forfeitures differ from those estimates.

To value option grants, stock purchase rights astticted stock units under the Equity Compensaiams for stock-based compensation, we
used the Black-Scholes option valuation model. ¥alwe determined using the Black-Scholes optidnateon model varies based on
assumptions used for the expected stock pricesilityleexpected life, risk-free interest rates dntlre dividend payments. For the twelve
months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, we useddtwibal volatility of our stock over a period exjuo the expected life of the options to
their fair value. The expected life assumptionseeent the weighted-average period stock-baseddavaae expecting to remain outstanding.
These expected life assumptions were establisltedgh the review of historical exercise behaviostoick-based award grants with similar
vesting periods. The risk-free interest was basethe closing market bid yields on actively tradle8. treasury securities in the over-the-
counter market for the expected term equal to ¥ipeeted term of the option. The dividend yield agstion was based on our history and
expectation of future dividend payout.
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To value restricted performance stock units undergquity Compensation Plans, we used a Monte Gariolation model. Fair value
determined using the Monte Carlo simulation modaeiles based on the assumptions used for the exps&tctek price volatility, the correlation
coefficient between the Company and the NASDAQ Casitp Index, risk free interest rates, and futuvidénd payments. For the twelve
months ended March 31, 2014, we used the historatatility and correlation of our stock and theléx over a period equal to the remaining
performance period as of the grant date. The ris&-interest rate was based on the closing maittgtiddds on actively traded U.S. treasury
securities in the over-the-counter market for thgeeted term equal to the remaining performanceg@ers of the grant date. The dividend
yield assumption was based on our history and eapen of future dividend payou

ASC 718 requires us to calculate the additionad{i@icapital pool, or APIC Pool, available to alistax deficiencies recognized subsequent t
adopting ASC 718, as if we had adopted ASC 718&atffective date of January 1, 1995. There areailesvable methods to calculate our
APIC Pool: (1) the long form method or (2) the gHorm method as set forth in ASC 718. We havetelbto use the long form method under
which we track each award grant on an employeeryl@yee basis and grant-by-grant basis to deterihthere is a tax benefit or tax
deficiency for such award. We then compared theviglue expense to the tax deduction receiveddohgrant and aggregated the benefits ar
deficiencies to establish the APIC Pool.

Due to the adoption of ASC 718, some option exescigsult in tax deductions in excess of book diémhe based on the option value at the
time of grant. We recognize these windfall tax Bgsassociated with the exercise of stock optidinsctly to stockholders' equity only when
realized. We use the "with and without" approacldescribed in ASC 740, in determining the ordewirich our tax attributes are utilized. The
"with and without" approach results in the recoigmitof the windfall stock option tax benefits omfter all other tax attributes of ours have
been considered in the annual tax accrual compuatatilso, we have elected to ignore the indirextdfiects of share-based compensation
deductions in computing our research and developiagrcredits and alternative tax credits and af swe recognize the full effect of these
deductions in the consolidated income statemetitarperiod in which the taxable event occurs.

SELECTED OPERATING STATISTICS

We periodically review certain key business mefngshin the context of our articulated performamgals, in order to evaluate the
effectiveness of our operational strategies, atloasources and maximize the financial performaficr business. The selected operating
statistics include the following:

Selected Operating Statistics (1

March 31, Dec 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,
2014 2013 2013 2013 2013

Gross business customer additi(2) 3,276 3,001 2,961 2,693 2,800
Number of new services sold (2)( 64,312 61,286 52,412 47,318 50,670
Average number of subscribed servic

per new business customer 19.6 20.4 17.7 17.6 18.1
Business subscriber acquisition ¢

per service (£ $ 84 $ 92 % 94 % 9% $ 91
Total business customers (2) 37,933 36,753 34,674 33,374 32,242
Average number of subscribed servic

per business customer 135 12.6 12.2 12.0 11.6
Business customer average mont

service revenue per customer $ 287 $ 274 $ 268 $ 263 $ 256
Monthly business customer churn (le

cancellations within 30 da

of sigr-up) (9) 1.7% 1.6% 1.5% 1.5% 1.7%
Monthly business service revenue ch 1.2% 1.5% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2%
Overall service margi 79% 81% 81% 82% 81%
Overall product margi -23% -34% -27% -22% -17%
Overall gross margi 70% 71% 71% 72% 71%

(1) Selected operating statistics table include comnoperations and excludes dedicated server fgpbtisiness sold September 30, 2013.
(2) Does not include customers of Virtual Office Sd\S or Cloud VPS.
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(3) Number of recurring revenue services sold to bissimeistomers during the period.
(4) Number of new services sold divided by gross bissireistomer additions.



(5) The combined costs of advertising, marketing, priiong, sales commissions and equipment subsidigsefe services sold during the period divided ytamber of new
services sold during the period.

(6) Business customers are defined as customers pfayisgrvice. Customers that are currently in thel8@ trial period are considered to be customexsate paying for service.
Customers subscribing to Virtual Office Solo, DNSGdoud VPS services are not included as busines®mers.

(7) The simple average number of subscribed servicgdedi by the simple average number of busines®mests during the period. The simple average numbsubscribed
services is the number of subscribed services efirgt day of the period plus the number of subsct services on the last day of the period dividedwvo. The simple
average number of business customers is the nupfibeisiness customers on the first day of the pgplas the number of business customers on theldégsof the period
divided by two.

(8) Business customer average monthly service reveaueuystomer is service revenue from business c@sim the period divided by the number of monththe period
divided by the simple average number of busines®auers during the period.

(9) Business customer churn is calculated by dividirgrtumber of business customers that terminatéet thk expiration of the 30-day trial) by the sienpverage number of
business customers and dividing the result by tieber of months in the period.

We believe it is useful to monitor these metricgetiier and not individually, as we do not make tes$ decisions based upon any s
metric.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our Consolidated Financial Statements raaked notes included elsewhere in this
Report.

We have minimal seasonality in our business butafly sales of new subscriptions in our fourttcfisquarter are greater than any of the first
three quarters of the fiscal year. We believe tleisurs because the customers we target have angnitespend a relatively greater portion of
their annual capital budgets at the beginning efaflendar year compared with each of the lasé thuarters of the year.

REVENUE
Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201« 2012 to 201:
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Service revenu $ 116,607 $ 94,384 $ 75951 $ 22,223 235% $ 18,433  24.3%
Percentage of total reven 90.7% 90.9% 91.1%

Service revenue consists primarily of revenuedbatizble to the provision of our cloud communicatand collaboration services and royalties
earned from cloud technology licenses. We expedtdtoud communication and collaboration serviaseneies will continue to comprise nei
all of our service revenues for the foreseeableréut

The increase in fiscal year 2014, compared wittefigear 2013, was primarily attributable to arréase in our business customer subscriber
base and an increase in the average monthly seeiieaue per customer. Our business service sbbsdrase grew from approximately
32,500 customers at the end of fiscal 2013 to aqimrately 38,000 customers on March 31, 2014. Wesekthe trends to continue in future
periods.

The increase in fiscal year 2013, compared wittefigear 2012, was primarily attributable to arréase in cloud communications and
collaboration service revenues resulting from gtoweftour business service subscriber base. Ounéssiservice subscriber base grew from
approximately 28,500 customers at the end of fi26aR to approximately 32,500 customers on Marci2813. The increase was patrtially
offset by a decrease in customers of our residesgr@ices. Those changes were consistent witheitieection of our marketing efforts toward
our business customer service.
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Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change

2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201¢ 2012 to 201
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Product revenu $ 11,990 $ 9,402 $ 7421 $ 2,588 27.5% $ 1,981  26.7%
Percentage of total reven 9.3% 9.1% 8.9%

Product revenue consists primarily of revenues fsates of IP telephones in conjunction with ounditelephony service.

The increase in fiscal year 2014 from fiscal ye@t2resulted from a $2.6 million increase in prddewvenue attributable to growth in
business customer subscriber base, for which we bagn subsidizing equipment purchases.

The increase in fiscal year 2013 from fiscal ye@t2 resulted from a $2.0 million increase in prddwvenue attributable to growth in
business customer subscriber base, for which we begn subsidizing equipment purchases.

No single customer represented more than 10% ofovalrrevenues during fiscal 2014, 2013 or 2(

The following table illustrates our net revenuesgiepgraphic area. Revenues are attributed to deartased on the destination of shipmer
thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Americas (principally US 97% 99% 99%
Europe 2% 0% 0%
Asia Pacific 1% 1% 1%
100% 100% 100%
COST OF REVENUE
Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201¢ 2012 to 201:
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Cost of service revent $ 22,445 % 19,928 $ 15,974 $ 2,517 12.6% $ 3,954 24.8%
Percentage of service rever 19.2% 21.1% 21.0%

Cost of service revenue primarily consists of casdsociated with network operations and relategquerel, telephony origination &
termination services provided by third party cagiend technology license and royalty expenses.

The increase in cost of service revenue for fig€dl4 from fiscal 2013 was primarily due to a $0.ifiom increase in payroll and related
expenses, a $0.8 million increase in third partyvoek service expenses, a $0.2 million increaseomsultant and outside service expenses an
a $0.2 million increase in repair and maintenangeenses.

The increase in cost of service revenue for fig2€dl3 from fiscal 2012 was primarily due to a $2iliom increase in third party network
service expenses, a $0.9 million increase in phgral related expenses, a $0.4 million increagkepreciation expenses, a $0.4 million
increase in amortization expense due to intangétgsiired in acquisitions, a $0.1 million increaseonsultant and outside service expenses.
The increase in cost of service revenues was pantiiset by a $0.3 million reduction in licensadifee expenses.

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201« 2012 to 201
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Cost of product revent $ 15170 $ 11,801 $ 9,822 $ 3,369 285% $ 1,979 20.1%
Percentage of product rever 126.5% 125.5% 132.4%
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The cost of product revenue consists primarilyPofTelephones, estimated warranty obligations aretdand indirect costs associated with
product purchasing, scheduling, shipping and hagdhiVe allocate a portion of service revenues talpct revenues but these revenues are
than the cost of the product.

The increase in the cost of product revenue faafi2014 from fiscal 2013 was primarily due to a7@illion increase in the shipment of
equipment to our business customers, a $0.3 miltiorease in warranty expense, and a $0.2 millieneiase in freight costs.

The increase in the cost of product revenue faafig013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily due to a8hillion increase in the shipment of
equipment to our business customers, a $0.1 milliorease in warranty expense, and a $0.1 millaneiase in freight costs.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 2014 2012 to 2013
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Research and developm $ 11,633 $ 8,147 $ 6,745 $ 3,486 42.8% $ 1,402  20.8%
Percentage of total reven 9.0% 7.8% 8.1%

Historically, our research and development expehage consisted primarily of personnel, systematypie design, and equipment costs
necessary for us to conduct our development antheagng efforts. During the fiscal year ended MeBd, 2014, we capitalized $0.8 million
of software development costs in accordance witle 285-20. We expensed all other research and dewelot costs as they were incurred.

The increase in research and development expemsisdal 2014 from fiscal 2013 was primarily dttrtable to a $1.7 million increase in
payroll and related expenses and a $1.5 milliorezge in temporary personnel, consulting and ceitsgdvice expenses.

The increase in research and development expemstisdal 2013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily dttitable to a $1.1 million increase in
payroll and related expenses, a $0.1 million ineega recruiting expenses, and a $0.2 million iaseein other research and development
expenses.

SALESAND MARKETING EXPENSES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201« 2012 to 201:
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Sales and marketir $ 60906 $ 45573 $ 36,227 $ 15333 336% $ 9,346 25.8%
Percentage of total reven 47.4% 43.9% 43.5%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilyeeggnnel and related overhead costs for sales,atirgk and customer service. Such ¢
also include outsourced customer service call cagerations, sales commissions, as well as trade/,sadvertising and other marketing
promotional expenses.

The increase in sales and marketing expensessfal 2014 from fiscal 2013 was primarily due tol@.® million increase in payroll and
related expenses from an increase in our sales,far$1.1 million increase in advertising expenaek).8 million increase in temporary
personnel, consulting and outside service expeas#d,5 million increase in third party sales cossiuns, a $0.5 million increase in travel anc
meal expenses, a $0.4 million increase in credd peocessing fees, a $0.3 million increase indrsitbw expenses, a $0.3 million increase in
amortization expense due to intangibles acquirextquisitions and a $0.2 million increase in expdnsomputer, software and light furniture.

The increase in sales and marketing expensessfal 2013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily due to6addmillion increase in payroll and related
expenses from an increase in our sales force Sarfillion increase in advertising expenses, a $fildon increase in third party sales
commissions, a $0.3 million increase in sales pt@ncexpenses, a $0.3 million increase in bad dgpense, a $0.2 million increase in
amortization expense due to intangibles acquirextquisitions, a $0.2 million increase in travedl ameal expenses and a $0.7 million net
increases in other sales and marketing expenses.
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201+ 2012 to 201:
(dollar amounts in thousands)
General and administrati $ 15,368 $ 8,558 $ 5973 $ 6,810 79.6% $ 2,585  43.3%
Percentage of total reven 12.0% 8.2% 7.2%

General and administrative expenses consist priynafi personnel and related overhead costs fornfiea human resources and ger
management.

The increase in general and administrative expefasdiscal 2014 from fiscal 2013 was primarily digea $4.8 million increase in payroll and
related expenses including a one-time charge afoxppately $0.1 million in severance pay and $lilliom in stock-based compensation
related to the resignation of the Company's presioleOctober 2013, a $0.6 million increase in leggenses, a $0.6 million increase in
facility lease and maintenance expenses, a $0lbmihcrease in temporary personnel, consulting @emtside service expenses, a $0.2 million
increase in sales and use tax expense, a $0.pmiiticrease in property and franchise tax expersesa $0.2 million increase in accounting
and tax expenses.

The increase in general and administrative expefosdiscal 2013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily digea $1.0 million increase in payroll and
related expenses, a $0.9 million increase in teanggrersonnel, consulting and outside service esgera $0.2 million increase in sales and
use tax expense, a $0.2 million increase in rengigxpense and a $0.3 million increase in otheegd and administrative expenses.

GAIN ON PATENT SALE

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201¢ 2012 to 201
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Gain on patent sa $ - (12,965 $ - $ 12965 NJA $ (12,965 N/A
Percentage of total reven 0.0% -12.5% 0.0%

In June 2012, we entered into a patent purchaseagmt for the sale of a family of United Statetepis. We recognized a gain of slightly less
than $12.0 million, net of transaction costs, ia finst fiscal quarter of 2013 and approximatelyGsdillion in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2013
due to the third party purchaser entering intecarise agreement with its customer. The gain ompa#de has been recorded as a reduction of
operating expenses in the consolidated stateméitsame.

INTEREST INCOME (LOSS) AND OTHER, NET

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 2014 2012 to 2013
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Interest income (loss) and other, $ 742 $ 105 $ (305, $ 637 606.7% $ 410 -134.4%
Percentage of total reven 0.6% 0.1% -0.4%

This item primarily consisted of gain on settlemehéscrow claim, capital gains distribution anteiest income in fiscal 2014 and capital g
distribution and interest income in fiscal 2013.r@uerest income (loss) and other, n consistsdfrgairment charge to write down the
strategic investment in Stonyfish, Inc. and inteegsl investment income earned on our cash, cashiadents and investment balances in fisca
2012.

The increase in other income (loss) and otherfandiscal 2014 from fiscal 2013 consists primairdlfyan increase in gain on settlement of
escrow claim, interest income earned on investramdscapital gain distributions due on mutual funds

The increase in other income (loss) and otherfandiscal 2013 from fiscal 2012 consists primaurdlfyan increase in capital gain distributions
due on mutual funds and interest income earned.
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PROVISON (BENEFIT) FOR INCOME TAXES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201+ 2012 to 201:
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Provision (benefit) for income tax: $ 2219 % 9399 $ (62,354 $ (7,180 -76.4% $ 71,753 -115.1%
Percentage of total reven 1.7% 9.1% -74.8%

We recorded an income tax provision of $2.2 milliofiscal year 2014 of which $0.9 million relatednet income from operations and $1.3
million due to an increase in our valuation allow@anDuring the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, walerated the need for a valuation allowance
against our net deferred tax asset and determire¢cih additional $1.3 million was needed for deneet operating loss and research credit
carryovers that may expire before utilization. Tfere, we increased the valuation allowance relatede deferred tax asset which resulted in
an additional provision for income taxes to thesmiglated income statement of approximately $1 18ani

We recorded an income tax provision of $9.4 milliofiscal year 2013 of which $8.4 million relatexnet income from operations, including
the sale of patent under our patent purchase agrgeand $1.0 million due to an increase in oun&abn allowance. During the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2013, we evaluated the need for a vatuadllowance against our net deferred tax assetlafemined that an additional $1.0 million
was needed for certain net operating loss carrgoet may expire before utilization. Therefore,in@eased the valuation allowance related
to the deferred tax asset which resulted in a delifie consolidated income statement of approxétn#t1.0 million.

At March 31, 2014, we had net operating loss carwards for federal and state income tax purpotepmroximately $149.2 million and
$93.5 million, respectively that expire at varialaes beginning in 2015 and continuing through 2084ddition, at March 31, 2014, we had
research and development credit carryforwardseddeffal and state tax reporting purposes of apprteiiyn $2.7 million and $4.4 million,
respectively. The federal credit carryforwards Wwalgin expiring in 2021 continuing through 2034 jlerthe California credit will carry forwau
indefinitely. Under the ownership change limitagaof the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amenkde@mount and benefit from the net
operating losses and credit carryforwards mayrhidd in certain circumstances.

At March 31, 2014 and 2013, we had net deferredatsets before valuation allowances of approximabb.4 million and $55.6 millio
respectively.

INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET OF INCOME TAXES
Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change

2014 2013 2012 2013 to 2014 2012 to 2013
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Income (loss) from discontinue

operations, net of incon

tax provision $ 320 $ 489 $ (1,452 $ (169  -34.6% $ 1,941  -133.7%
Percentage of total reven 0.2% 0.5% -1.7%

On September 30, 2013, we sold our dedicated skhosting business. The current and historical tesflour dedicated server hosting
business have been reclassified to income (logs) ftiscontinued operations, net of income tax [@ow. For the years ended March 31, 2014
2013 and 2012, income taxes were $0.2, million3 $fillion and $0 million, respectively.
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GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET OF INCOME TAXES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2014 2013 2012 2013 to 201+ 2012 to 201:
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operatic
net of income tax provisia $ 506 $ - $ - $ 596 N/A $ - NA
Percentage of total reven 0.5% 0.0% 0.0%

For the year ended March 31, 2014, we recordednaogedisposal of our dedicated server hostingri®ss of $1.1 million, net of a tax
provision of $0.5 million.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of March 31, 2014, we had $178.4 million of casld cash equivalents and investments. By comparigdMarch 31, 2013, we had $52.3
million in cash and cash equivalents and investmaftie currently have no borrowing arrangementsbélieve we have sufficient liquidity to
fund operations for the foreseeable future. In Baidi we have a shelf registration statement thaild/allow us to raise up to an additional
$123.7 million from the sale of new securities of® Please refer to Part |, Item 1A, Risk FactWe may need to raise additional capital to
support our future operations."

2014 to 2013

Net cash provided by operating activities for fl2@14 was $14.9 million, compared with $31.8 roifliprovided by operating activities 1
fiscal 2013. Cash used in or provided by operadictiyities has historically been affected by:

the amount of net income;

sales of subscriptions;

changes in working capital accounts, particulanlgéferred revenue due to timing of annual plaeweis;
add-backs of non-cash expense items such as dejpsacand amortization; and

the expense associated with stock options and $tas&d awards.

Net cash used in investing activities was $136./8aniin fiscal 2014, compared with $5.9 millionadsin investing activities in fiscal 201

The increase in cash used in investing activitigeng fiscal 2014 was primarily related to the hase of investments ($141.6 million) and the
acquisition of a business ($18.5 million). The ease in cash used in investing activities duriagdi 2014 was partially offset by the sale of
investments in fiscal 2014 ($24.2 million).

Net cash provided by financing activities was $53dillion in fiscal 2014, compared with $2.0 miltian financing activities in fiscal 201

Our financing activities for fiscal 2014 providedst of approximately $125.8 million, net of issumoosts of $0.6 million, related to
underwritten registered offering of common stockvimch we sold 14,375,000 shares and $5.2 milliea @ issuance of common stock under
our employee stock purchase plan and the issudrsteares related to the exercise of options. Tka paovided by financing activities in fisc
2014 was partially offset by $0.5 million due tpuechase of restricted shares and payment of ¢égiétses.

2013 to 2012

Net cash provided by operating activities for fls#@13 was $31.8 million, compared with $9.2 mifliprovided by operating activities f
fiscal 2012. The increase in cash provided by dpayactivities was primarily due to the sale ofgrd under our patent purchase agreement
($13.0 million) and use of our deferred tax asseteduce our cash taxes due ($9.3 million). Caekiged by operating activities has
historically been affected by:

the amount of net income;

sales of subscriptions;

changes in working capital accounts, particulanlgéferred revenue due to timing of annual plaeweis;
add-backs of non-cash expense items such as dejsacand amortization; and

the expense associated with stock-based awards.
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Net cash used in investing activities was $5.9iamlin fiscal 2013, compared with $3.0 million usadnvesting activities in fiscal 2012. TI
increase in cash used in investing activities dufiscal 2013 is primarily related to the purchasadditional equipment and leasehold
improvements related to our new facility ($3.4 oill) offset by a reduction in cash used to purclmsinesses in fiscal 2012 ($0.7 million).

Net cash provided by financing activities was $Riion in fiscal 2013, compared with net cash us€80.3 million in financing activities i
fiscal 2012. Our financing activities for fiscal Z®provided cash of $2.5 million due to issuanceashmon stock under our employee stock
purchase plan and the issuance of shares relathd #xercise of options. The cash provided bynititeg activities in fiscal 2013 was partially
offset by $0.5 million due to repurchase of restdcshares and payment of capital leases.

Contractual Obligations

Future operating lease payments, capital lease @atgnand purchase obligations at March 31, 2014hfonext five years were as follows
thousands):

Year Ending March 31,
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter

Capital lease $ 139 % 40 $ - $ - $ -9 -

Office lease! 1,745 1,803 1,853 1,789 1,843 1,093
Purchase obligatior

Third party customer support provic 2,158 - - - - -

Third party network service provide 1,809 52 - - - -

Open purchase orders 48 - - - - -

$ 5899 % 1895% 1853 % 1,789 % 1843 % 1,093

We lease our headquarters facility in San Josdfo@@h under an operating lease agreement thairesn October 2019. The lease is
industrial net lease with monthly base rent of $83Q for the first 15 months with a 3% increasehegear thereafter, and requires us to
property taxes, utilities and normal maintenanc#o

We lease our UK headquarters in Aylesbury UK uraeoperating lease agreement that expires in M20&f, with a break clause in Ma
2015 exercisable with six months' notice. Thedehas a base monthly rent of $10,700 until March520ising to $11,522 thereafter, i
requires us to pay property taxes, service chargiities and normal maintenance costs.

In the third quarter of 2010, we amended our cahtrath one of our third party customer supportders containing a minimum monthly
commitment of approximately $430,000. The agreemenmiires a 150-day notice to terminate. At Marth2014, the total remaining
obligation under the contract was $2.2 million.

We entered into contracts with multiple vendorstford party network service providers which expirevarious dates in fiscal 2015 through
2016. At March 31, 2014, the total remaining oltiigias under these contracts were $1.9 million.

At March 31, 2014, we had open purchase orderg®f0®0, primarily related to inventory purchasesrfrour contract manufacturers. These
purchase commitments are reflected in our condelitiinancial statements once goods or services haen received or at such time when w
are obligated to make payments related to thesdsgooservices.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while maximizing incometvaiut significantly increasing risk. Some
of the securities in which we invest may be subjecharket risk. This means that a change in pliegainterest rates may cause the principal
amount of the investment to fluctuate. To minimtzis risk, we may maintain our portfolio of cashuaglents and investments in a variety of
securities, including commercial paper, money miiileds, debt securities and certificates of dapdsie risk associated with fluctuating
interest rates is limited to our investment poitf@nd we do not believe that a 10% change inésterates would have a significant impact on
our interest income.

During the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013jivaot have any outstanding debt instruments dtier equipment under capital leases
and, therefore, we were not exposed to marketreisiting to interest rates.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
8x8, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of 8x8, Inc. (the Company), as of Marth2814 and 2013, and the rel¢
consolidated statements of income, comprehensoamr, stockholders' equity and cash flows for ez#die three years in the period en
March 31, 2014. We also have audited the Companyésnal control over financial reporting as of Mar31, 2014, based on crite
established inlnternal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadwa
Commission. As discussed in Management's Repornternal Control Over Financial Reporting, on Novwmn 29, 2013, the Compe
acquired Voicenet Solutions Limited ("Voicenet"brRhe purposes of assessing internal control fimancial reporting, management exclu
Voicenet, whose financial statements constitute &%he Company's consolidated total assets (exeiu&20.8 million of goodwill ar
intangible assets, net, which were integrated imoCompany's control environment) and 3% of cddat#d net revenues as of and for the
ended March 31, 2014. Accordingly, our audit did melude the internal control over financial refiog of Voicenet. The Compan
management is responsible for these consolidatedidial statements, for maintaining effective in&control over financial reporting, and
its assessment of the effectiveness of internairobaver financial reporting included in the acqmmying Management's Report on Inte
Control Over Financial Reporting appearing undemit9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinmm these consolidated financ
statements and an opinion on the Company's inteomdtol over financial reporting based on our &udi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audits to inbtaasonable assurance about whether the consdidmancial statements are free
material misstatement and whether effective infecoatrol over financial reporting was maintainedaill material respects. Our audits of
consolidated financial statements included exarginon a test basis, evidence supporting the amamdsdisclosures in the consolide
financial statements, assessing the accountingiptes used and significant estimates made by nemeagt, and evaluating the ove
financial statement presentation. Our audit ofrimaé control over financial reporting included dbiag an understanding of internal con
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evalyisiie design and operating effectivene:
internal control based on the assessed risk. Oditsaalso include performing such other procedwreswe considered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financ
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with gelyemicepted accounting principles
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftaimeto the maintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoasizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalssurance regarding prevention or timely deteatiounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagrferred to above present fairly, in all mater@spects, the consolidated financial pos
of 8x8, Inc., as of March 31, 2014 and 2013, areddbnsolidated results of its operations and ith dlows for each of the three years in
period ended March 31, 2014, in conformity with@aating principles generally accepted in the Uniiates of America. Also in our opini
8x8, Inc., maintained, in all material respectde@fve internal control over financial reporting af March 31, 2014, based on crit
established imnternal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

San Francisco, California
May 27, 2014
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

March 31,
2014 2013
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 59,159 $ 50,305
Shor-term investment 47,181 1,964
Accounts receivable, n 5,503 3,880
Inventory 811 511
Deferred cost of goods sc 263 182
Deferred tax ass 2,065 6,096
Other current assets 1,951 732
Total current asse 116,933 63,670
Long-term investment 72,021 -
Property and equipment, r 7,711 6,673
Intangible assets, n 15,095 10,194
Goodwill 38,461 25,150
Non-current deferred tax ass 47,797 46,352
Other assets 1,185 572
Total assets $ 299,202 $ 152,611
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 6,789 $ 5,644
Accrued compensatic 4,583 3,629
Accrued warrant 660 452
Accrued taxe 2,323 1,912
Deferred revenu 1,857 1,236
Other accrued liabilities 1,909 862
Total current liabilitie 18,121 13,735
Non-current liabilities 1,619 1,843
Non-current deferred revenue 1,285 -
Total liabilities 21,025 15,578
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par val
Authorized: 5,000,000 shar
Issued and outstanding: no shares atiMait¢ 2014 and 201 - -
Common stock, $0.001 par val
Authorized: 200,000,000 shar
Issued and outstanding: 88,525,015 sterd</2,108,980 shar
at March 31, 2014 and 2013, respecti 88 72
Additional pai-in capital 384,32¢ 246,176
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (I 430 (36)
Accumulated deficit (106,665 (109,179
Total stockholders' equity 278,178 137,033
Total liabilities and stockheld' equity $ 299,202 $ 152,611

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Service revenu
Product revenue

Total revenue

Operating expense
Cost of service reveni
Cost of product revent
Research and developm
Sales and marketit
General and administrati
Gain on patent sale
Total operating expenses
Income from operation
Other income (loss), net
Income from continuing operations beft
provision (benefit) for income tax
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Income from continuing operatiol
Income (loss) from discontinued operatiol
net of income tax provisic
Gain on disposal of discontinued operatic
net of income tax provision of $456
Net income

Income per shar- continuing operation:
Basic
Diluted

Income (loss) per sha- discontinued operation
Basic
Diluted

Net income per shar
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average number of shal
Basic
Diluted

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 116,607 $ 94384 $ 75,951
11,990 9,402 7,421
128,507 103,786 83,372
22,445 19,928 15,974
15,170 11,801 9,822
11,633 8,147 6,745
60,906 45,573 36,227
15,368 8,558 5,973

- (12,965 -

125 522 81,042 74,741
3,075 22,744 8,631

742 105 (305

3,817 22,849 8,326

2,219 9,399 (62,354

1,508 13,450 70,680

320 489 (1,452

596 - -

$ 2514 $ 13,939 $ 69,228
$ 0.02 $ 0.19 $ 1.06
$ 0.02 $ 0.18 $ 1.01
$ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ (0.02
$ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ (0.02
$ 0.03 $ 0.20 $ 1.04
$ 0.03 $ 0.19 $ 0.99
78,310 71,390 66,413
81,658 74,700 70,149

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(IN THOUSANDS)

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 2514 $ 13939 $ 69,228
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments in séesi (412) 22 15
Foreign currency translation adjustment 507 - -
Comprehensive income $ 2980 $ 13961 $ 69,243

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at March 31, 2011

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Issuance of common stock 1
acquisition of businesses, |
of issuance cos

Repurchase of common stc

Buyback of employee stock optio
and stock purchase rigl

Stock compensation char

Unrealized investment ga

Net income

Balance at March 31, 201:

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Cost of issuance of common stc

Repurchase of common stc

Stock compensation char

Income tax benefit from sto-
based compensati

Unrealized investment ga

Net income

Balance at March 31, 201:

Issuance of common stock, net
issuance cos

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Repurchase of common stc

Stock compensation char

Income tax benefit from sto-
based compensati

Unrealized investment lo:

Foreign currency translation adjustm

Net income
Balance at March 31, 201

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARES)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive  Accumulated

Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total
62,379,03( $ 62 $ 208,218 $ (73) $ (192,346 $ 15,861
2,261,72¢ 2 3,050 - - 3,052
6,692,56¢ 7 31,565 - - 31,572
(653,830 - (2,400 - - (2,400
- - (384) - - (384,
- - 1,506 - - 1,506
- - - 15 - 15
- - - - 69,228 69,228
70,679,49: 71 241,555 (58) (123,118 118,450
1,503,23¢ 1 2,400 - - 2,401
- (43) - - (43)
(73,751 - (419 - - (419,
- - 2,634 - - 2,634
- - 49 - - 49
- - - 22 - 22
- - - - 13,939 13,939
72,108,98( 72 246,176 (36) (109,179 137,033
14,375,00( 14 125,736 - - 125,750
2,091,43¢ 2 5,165 - - 5,167
(50,400 - (489 - - (489;
- - 7,595 - - 7,595
- - 142 - - 142
. - - (41) - (41)
- - - 507 - 507
. - - - 2,514 2,514
88,525,01¢ $ 88 $ 384,325 $ 430 $ (106,665 $ 278,178

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Years Ended March 31,
2014 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 2514 $ 13939 $ 69,228
Adjustments to reconcile net income to nehga®vided by
operating activities

Depreciatiol 2,567 2,523 1,535
Amortization of intangible 1,643 1,428 788
Amortization of capitalized softwe 147 - -
Net Accretion of discount and amortizatif
premium on marketable securi 114 - -
Gain on disposal of discontinued operet (596, - -
Gain on escrow settlem (565; - -
Stoc-based compensation expe! 7,595 2,634 1,506
Tax benefit from sto-based compensatic (142 (49) -
Deferred income tax expense (ben 2,266 9,308 (62,422
Othe 650 616 561
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivab (1,575 (2,271 (1,059
Inventory (276, 27 1,535
Other current and noncurrent as (488 (30) 489
Deferred cost of goods st 163 (60) 1
Accounts payab (1,035 410 (1,214
Accrued compensati 488 524 128
Accrued warrant 208 65 25
Accrued taxe 276 440 (356
Deferred revent 681 345 (197
Other current and noncurrent liabilities 282 1,839 (1,337
Net cash provided by operating atitis 14917 31,788 9,211
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of property and equipmt (2,853 (5,678 (2,300
Cost of capitalized softwa (755; (190, -
Restricted cash decre - - 28
Purchase of investmer (141,604 - -
Sales of investmen 24,219 - -
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acgt (18,474 - (713
Proceeds from disposition of discontinued apens, net of transaction costs 3,000 - -
Net cash used in investing actigitie (136,467 (5,868 (2,985
Cash flows from financing activities:
Capital lease paymer (85) (86) (275
Repurchase of common stc (489 (419 (2,550
Buyback of employee stock options and stoaklipase right: - - (384
Tax benefit from sto-based compensatic 142 49 -
Proceeds from (cost of) issuance of commockstet of issuance cos 125,750 (43) (60)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock undetayee stock plans 5,167 2,458 2,995
Net cash provided by (used in) ficiag activities 130,485 1,959 (274
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (81) - -
Net increase in cash and cash equival 8,854 27,879 5,952
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 50,305 22,426 16,474
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 59,159 $ 50,305 $ 22,426
Supplemental and non-cash disclosures:
Issuance of common stock in connection witluésitions of businesst $ - $ - $ 31,358
Fair value of options assumed in connectidh acquisitions of business - - 274
Acquisition of property and equipment, net@nnection with
acquisitions of business 956 - 364
Acquisition of capital lease in connectioniwdgtcquisitions of business 216 - 317
Assets acquired under capital le - - 45
Interest pait 5 8 5

Income taxes pa 427 415 94



The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. THE COMPANY AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
THE COMPANY

8x8, Inc. ("8x8" or the "Company") develops and keds a comprehensive portfolio of unified commuti@ass and collaboration ("UCC")
services. The Company was incorporated in CalifomiFebruary 1987 and was reincorporated in DalawaDecember 1996.

The Company is a leading provider of UCC servicethe cloud for SMBs and mid-market and distribugaterprises. The Company delivers ¢
broad suite of UCC services to in-office and mobigeices spanning cloud telephony, virtual contaciter and virtual meeting through its
proprietary unified software as a service, or Sateform. The Company currently serves approximge@8,000 business customers with over
500,000 subscriptions, making it a leading providfd CC services in the cloud. The Company's safvednstracts complex networking,
redundancy, security and interconnection requirdennprovide a seamless and easyge-solution for its customers. The Company's sof
also integrates with leading ERP, CRM, or HCM, aittkr third-party application suites, such as Sates.com and NetSuite, to provide
organizations an integrated, fully functional biesisa communications and collaboration experienddgtaitical to operate their businesses.

The Company's fiscal year ends on March 31 of eatdndar year. Each reference to a fiscal yedrase notes to the consolidated financial
statements refers to the fiscal year ended Marabf 81e calendar year indicated (for example, fi@€d 4 refers to the fiscal year ended March
31, 2014).

Common Stock Offering

In November 2013, the Company completed an undgenriegistered offering of common stock in whithdld 14,375,000 shares for total
cash proceeds of approximately $125.8 million,aféssuance costs of $0.6 million. The shares idsu¢he offering had been registered unde
a shelf registration statement previously filednvitie Securities and Exchange Commission relatingptto $250,000,000 of the Company's
securities. A member of the Company's board ofctlirs participated in the offering and purchase®@0 shares at the public offering price.

Acquisition of Voicenet Solutions Limited

In November 2013, the Company entered into a gharehase agreement with the shareholders and bpliders of VVoicenet Solutions
Limited, a provider of cloud communications andaobration services in the United Kingdom. See 8ote

RECLASSIFICATION

Certain amounts previously reported within the Camyps consolidated statements of income have lassified to conform to the current
period presentation. The reclassification includes:

e Reclassifying certain prior period amounts reldtethe Company's discontinued operations.
The reclassification had no impact on the Compamrgsiously reported net income or basic or dilutetdincome per share amounts.
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include ttwwants of 8x8 and its subsidiaries. All matendércompany accounts and transactions
been eliminated.
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USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assasfiat affect the reported amounts of assetslitie® and equity and disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the finanagtdtements and the reported amounts of revenukesx@enses during the reporting period. O
on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimiaesding, but not limited to, those related &didebts, returns reserve for expected
cancellations, valuation of inventories, income aalkés tax, and litigation and other contingencié® Company bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat are believed to be reasonable under ttenastances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying valugssets and liabilities that are not readilyappt from other sources. Actual results ci
differ from those estimates under different assimmgtor conditions.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Service and Product Revenue

The Company recognizes service revenue when pérsumsdence of an arrangement exists, deliverydeasirred or services have been
rendered, price is fixed or determinable, and ctdleility is reasonably assured. The Company deésgnition of service revenues in
instances when cash receipts are received beforiesg are delivered and recognizes deferred reagratably as services are provided.

The Company recognizes revenue from product sategtich there are no related services to be rexbepon shipment to customers provi
that persuasive evidence of an arrangement ettist@rice is fixed, title has transferred, collentof resulting receivables is reasonably
assured, there are no customer acceptance requitgraad there are no remaining significant obiigest. Gross outbound shipping and
handling charges are recorded as revenue, andltited costs are included in cost of goods soldeRees for returns and allowances for
customer sales are recorded at the time of shiprireatcordance with the Financial Accounting Stand Board ("FASB") Accounting
Standards Codification ("ASC") 9805, the Company records shipments to distributetsjlers, and resellers, where the right of reexists,
as deferred revenue. The Company defers recogmifioevenue on sales to distributors, retailers, rasellers until products are resold to the
customer.

The Company records revenue net of any sales-geiaxes that are billed to its customers. The Comjbeelieves this approach results in
consolidated financial statements that are mori¢yaasderstood by users.

Under the terms of the Company's typical subscniptigreement, new customers can terminate theiceawithin 30 days of order placement
and receive a full refund of fees previously pdide Company has determined that it has sufficiestoty of subscriber conduct to make a
reasonable estimate of cancellations within thel@@+rial period. Therefore, the Company recogniems subscriber revenue that is fixed or
determinable and that are not contingent on fuperéormance or future deliverables in the monttvimich the new order was shipped, net o
allowance for expected cancellations.

Multiple Element Arrangements

ASC 605-25 requires that revenue arrangementsmuittiple deliverables be divided into separatesunftaccounting if the deliverables in the
arrangement meet specific criteria. The provigigrof the 8x8 services with the accompanying 8x&Il8phone constitutes a revenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables. For areangnts with multiple deliverables, the Companyates the arrangement consideration to
all units of accounting based on their relativdisglprices. In such circumstances, the accourgingriples establish a hierarchy to determine
the relative selling price to be used for alloogtimrangement consideration to units of accourdmipliows: (i) vendor-specific objective
evidence of fair value ("VSOE"), (ii) third-partyidence of selling price ("TPE"), and (iii) bestiegate of the selling price ("BESP").
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VSOE generally exists only when the Company shbsdeliverable separately, on more than a limitesid at prices within a relatively narrow
range. When VSOE cannot be established, the Coyraatampts to establish the selling price of dekdes based on relevant TPE. TPE is
determined based on manufacturer's prices forairdiliverables when sold separately, when pos3itten the Company is unable to
establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, it us&ESP for the allocation of arrangement consid@rai he objective of BESP is to
determine the price at which the Company wouldsaaha sale if the product or service was sold staadalone basis. BESP is generally u
for offerings that are not typically sold on a staalone basis or for new or highly customized affgs. The Company determines BESP for a
product or service by considering multiple factmduding, but not limited to:

e the price list established by its management whadiipically based on general pricing practices tamgeted gross margin of products
and services sold; and

e analysis of pricing history of new arrangementsluding multiple element and stand-alone transastio

In accordance with the guidance of ASC 605-25, wthenCompany enters into revenue arrangementsmittiple deliverables the Company
allocates arrangement consideration, includingzatiin fees, among the 8x8 IP telephones and sbbsaervices based on their relative
selling prices. Arrangement consideration allocatethe IP telephones that is fixed or determinalplé that is not contingent on future
performance or future deliverables is recognizepraduct revenues during the period of the saketles allowance for estimated returns du
the 30-day trial period. Arrangement consideratibocated to subscriber services that is fixedaiedninable and that is not contingent on
future performance or future deliverables is reéogphratably as service revenues as the relateitserare provided, which is generally over
the initial contract term.

DEFERRED COST OF GOODS SOLD

Deferred cost of goods sold represents the castoafucts sold for which the end customer or distab has a right of return. The cost of the
products sold is recognized contemporaneously tiggtrecognition of revenue, when the subscriberacaspted the service.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investmensith an original maturity of three months or lésde cash equivalents. Management
determines the appropriate categorization of igstments at the time of purchase and reevalua¢eddssification at each reporting date. The
cost of the Company's investments is determineddapon specific identification.

The Company's investments are comprised of mutunals, commercial paper, corporate debt, municipalisties, asset backed securities,
international government securities and money nmdtkels. At March 31, 2014 and 2013, all investraemere classified as available-for-sale
and reported at fair value, based either upon guotiees in active markets, quoted prices in lesis@markets, or quoted market prices for
similar investments, with unrealized gains anddssset of related tax, if any, included in othemprehensive loss and disclosed as a separa
component of consolidated stockholders' equity liRed gains and losses on sales of all such investsrare reported within the caption of
other income, net in the consolidated statemenitscoine and computed using the specific identificatethod. The Company's investments
in marketable securities are monitored on a peribdsis for impairment. In the event that the dagyalue of an investment exceeds its fair
value and the decline in value is determined tother-than-temporary, an impairment charge is Eband a new cost basis for the
investment is established. These available-forisalestments are primarily held in the custody afigor financial institution.
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Available-for-sale investments were (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
As of March 31, 2014 Costs Gain Loss Fair Value
Money market fund $ 32,611 $ - 3 - 8 32,611
Fixed income
Mutual funds 1,964 - (55) 1,909
Commercial pape 30,374 5 - 30,379
Corporate det 63,621 35 (39) 63,617
Municipal securitie 5,435 5 1) 5,439
Asset backed securiti 17,049 6 (1) 17,054
International government securities 800 4 - 804
Total available-for-sale investments $ 151,854 $ 55 $ (96) $ 151,813
Reported as (in thousand
Cash and cash equivale $ 32,611
Shor-term investment 47,181
Long-term investments 72,021
Total $ 151,813
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
As of March 31, 2013 Costs Gain Loss Fair Value
Money market fund $ 14,376 $ -9 - $ 14,376
Fixed income
Mutual funds 2,000 - (36) 1,964
Total available-for-sale investments $ 16,376 $ -9 (36) $ 16,340
Reported as (in thousand
Cash and cash equivale $ 14,376
Short-term investments 1,964
Total $ 16,340

Contractual maturities of mutual funds, commerpegber, corporate debt, municipal securities, asseted securities, international governr
securities and money market funds as of March @14 2ire set forth below (in thousands):

Due within one yea $ 79,792
Due after one year 72,021
Total $ 151,813

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ALLOWANCE

The Company estimates the amount of uncollectibd®ants receivable at the end of each reportinggédrased on the aging of the receivable
balance, current and historical customer trends$,cammunications with its customers. Amounts arigen off only after considerable
collection efforts have been made and the amouatdetermined to be uncollectible. The allowancedfmibtful accounts was $466,000 and
$328,000 at March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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INVENTORY

Inventory is stated at the lower of standard omkich approximates actual cost using the firsfinsf-out method, or market. Any write-down
of inventory to the lower of cost or market at these of a fiscal period creates a new cost bhaissubsequently would not be marked up
based on changes in underlying facts and circuroesai©On an on-going basis, the Company evaluatestiory for obsolescence and slow-
moving items. This evaluation includes analysisalés levels, sales projections, and purchasdsioy as well as raw material usage related t
the Company's manufacturing facilities. If the C@mys review indicates a reduction in utility beloarrying value, it reduces inventory to a
new cost basis. If future demand or market conutitiare different than the Company's current eséisjain inventory adjustment may be
required, and would be reflected in cost of goanld & the period the revision is made. Inventogsweomprised of the following:

March 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands
Work-in-process $ 23 $ 23
Finished goods 788 488
$ 811 $ 511

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciaiod amortization are computed using
straight-line method. Estimated useful lives otthyears are used for equipment and software wagdiars for furniture and fixtures.
Amortization of leasehold improvements is computsithg the shorter of the remaining facility leasert or the estimated useful life of the
improvements. Property and equipment was compo§éae following:

March 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands

Machinery and computer equipm $ 9,657 $ 9,097
Furniture and fixture 505 447
Licensed softwar 3,517 2,136
Leasehold improvements 3,468 3,343
17,047 15,023

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (9,336 (8,350

$ 7,711 $ 6,673

Maintenance, repairs and ordinary replacementstarged to expense. Expenditures for improveméatseixtend the physical or economic
life of the property are capitalized. Gains or &ssen the disposition of property and equipmentezerded in the income from operations.

ACCOUNTING FOR LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Company reviews the recoverability of its Idivgd assets, such as property and equipment,diitenassets subject to amortization, and
capitalized software, when events or changes augistances occur that indicate that the carryitgevaf the asset or asset group may not be
recoverable. Examples of such events could inciusignificant disposal of a portion of such assatsadverse change in the market involving
the business employing the related asset or afisigini change in the operation or use of an a3$et.assessment of possible impairment is
based on the Company's ability to recover the aagryalue of the asset or asset group from the @ggdefuture pre-tax cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges) ofdleted operations. If these cash flows are lems the carrying value of such asset, an
impairment loss is recognized for the differenceveen estimated fair value and carrying value. leasurement of impairment requires
management to estimate future cash flows and thedhue of long-lived assets. No such impairmdrarges were recorded in the periods
presented.
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GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite ugdifves are not amortized. Goodwill representsdReess fair value of consideration
transferred over the fair value of net assets aedun business combinations. The carrying valugoafdwill and indefinite lived intangible
assets are not amortized, but are annually testdthpairment and more often if there is an indicatf impairment. The Company has two
reporting units.

As of January 1, 2014, the Company completed isiahmpairment test. No goodwill impairment chargesre recorded in the periods
presented.

The following table provides a summary of the chemnim the carrying amounts of goodwill (in thouss)nd

Balance as of March 31, 20 $ 25,150
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitions -
Balance as of March 31, 20 25,150
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic 14,155
Decrease in goodwill related to dispose
discontinued operatio (1,210
Other 366
Balance as of March 31, 2014 $ 38,461

Any changes in goodwill amounts resulting from fgrecurrency translations are presented as "Othete above table.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are atized on a straight-line basis over the periodekigsd. Amortization expense for the customer
relationship intangible asset is included in saled marketing expenses. Amortization expense &miglogy is included in cost of service
revenue. The carrying values of intangible asset®\as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Amount  Amortization Amount Amount  Amortization Amount
Technology $ 8242% (2,080 $ 6,162% 8,242 % (1,256 $ 6,986
Customer relationshiy 9,686 (1,710 7,976 3,305 (1,054 2,251
Trade names/domains 957 - 957 957 - 957

Total acquired identifiabl

intangible assets $ 18,885% (3,790 $ 15,095% 12,504 % (2,310 % 10,194

At March 31, 2014, annual amortization of intangibksets, based upon our existing intangible aaadtsurrent useful lives, is estimated to b
the following (in thousands):

Amount

2015 $ 2,261
2016 2,261
2017 2,253
2018 2,005
2019 1,759
Thereafter 3,599

Total $ 14,138
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WARRANTY EXPENSE

The Company accrues for estimated product warremgy upon revenue recognition. Accruals for produetranties are calculated based or
Company's historical warranty experience adjustedify specific requirements.

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND SOFTWARE COSTS

The Company accounts for software to be sold cgretise marketed in accordance with ASC 985Qts of Software to be Sold, Leased or
Marketed ("ASC 985-20") which requires capitalization of t@n software development costs subsequent tostiableshment of technological
feasibility. The Company defines establishmentcohhological feasibility as the completion of a king model. Software development costs
for software to be sold or otherwise marketed irediprior to the establishment of technologicasiieiity are included in research and
development and are expensed as incurred. Softfemedopment costs incurred subsequent to the edtatent of technological feasibility
through the period of general market availabilityle product are capitalized, if material.

In fiscal 2014 and 2013, the Company capitalizggt@xmately $0.8 million and $0.2 million, respeetly of software development costs in
accordance with ASC 985-20. At March 31, 2014 abiti3? total capitalized software development castiided in other long-term assets was
approximately $1.0 million and $0.2 million, respieely, and accumulated amortization costs relabechpitalized software was approximat
$0.1 million and $0, respectively. Prior to March 2012, costs incurred by the Company betweerdhw#letion of the working model and -
point at which the product is ready for genera¢ask have been insignificant. Accordingly, allwafe development costs for software to be
sold or otherwise marketed incurred prior to Ma3dh 2012 have been expensed as incurred.

The Company accounts for computer software develop@btained for internal use in accordance wi8CA350-40]nternal Use Software
("ASC 35040"), which requires capitalization of certain sadte development costs incurred during the appinatevelopment stage. No st
costs were capitalized during the periods presented

ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and $/eBmillion, $6.5 million and $6.6 million for ¢hyears ended March 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The Company has determined that the functionakoay of its UK foreign subsidiary is the subsidlafgcal currency, the British Pound
Sterling, which the Company believes most approgisiaeflects the current economic facts and cirstamces of the UK subsidiary's
operations. The assets and liabilities of the glidsi are translated at the applicable exchangeasbf the end of the balance sheet period an
revenue and expenses are translated at an avetagever the period presented. Resulting curreracistation adjustments are recorded as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive inaantass within the stockholder's equity in the salidated balance sheets.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company has one reportable operating segmbatCompany's chief operating decision makers, tliefExecutive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer and Chief Technology Officer, &wate performance of the Company and make decisegerding allocation of resources
based on total Company results (see Note 7).

SUBSCRIBER ACQUISITION COSTS

Subscriber acquisition costs are expensed as gttamd include the advertising, marketing, pronmaje@ommissions, rebates and equipment
subsidy costs associated with the Company's effodsquire new subscribers.
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INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for using the assdtaility approach. Under the asset and liabilippeoach, a current tax liability or asset is
recognized for the estimated taxes payable or dafiole on tax returns for the current year. A deftax liability or asset is recognized for the
estimated future tax effects attributed to tempodifferences and carryforwards. If necessary disferred tax assets are reduced by the an
of benefits that, based on available evidence aeerfikely than not expected to be realized.

CONCENTRATIONS

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to significant concentrations of credik ksnsist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments and trade accounts reaeivehe Company has cash equivalents and invesiodnies that limit the amount of
credit exposure to any one financial institutionl aestrict placement of these funds to financiatitations evaluated as highly credit-worthy.
The Company has not experienced any material los&sting to its investment instruments.

The Company sells its products to business custarat distributors. The Company performs ongoieglicevaluations of its customers'
financial condition and generally does not requoBateral from its customers. For the years eridacch 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the
Company wrote-off accounts receivables for appratety $0.4 million, $0.5 million and $0.2 milliorespectively. At March 31, 2014 and
2013, no customer accounted for more than 10%adwatds receivable.

The Company outsources the manufacturing of itdvaare products to independent contract manufacufdre inability of any contract
manufacturer to fulfill supply requirements of tBiempany could materially impact future operatingutes, financial position or cash flows. If
any of these contract manufacturers fail to perfomtheir obligations to the Company, such failiaréulfill supply requirements of the
Company could materially impact future operatingults, financial position and cash flows.

The Company also relies primarily on third partywazrk service providers to provide telephone nuratzerd PSTN call termination and
origination services for its customers. If thesevise providers failed to perform their obligatiotosthe Company, such failure could materially
impact future operating results, financial positaord cash flows.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The estimated fair value of financial instrumetglétermined by the Company using available manketmation and valuation methodolog
considered to be appropriate. The carrying amanirttse Company's cash and cash equivalents, accoecgivable and accounts payable
approximate their fair values due to their shorturiies. The Company's investments are carriddiavalue.

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company accounts for its employee stock optistegk purchase rights, restricted stock unitsrastticted performance stock units
granted under the 1996 Stock Plan, 1996 Directdio®lan, 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan,2886 Stock Plan, the 2003 Contactual
Plan, the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2013 Nemployee Inducement Incentive Plan and stock pgechights under the 1996 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (collectively "Equity CompeiosaPlans”) under the provisions of ASC 718a6ck Compensation . Under the provisions
of ASC 718, stockbased compensation cost is measured at the grent@aed on the estimated fair value of the aveard,is recognized as
expense over the employee's requisite serviceégenerally the vesting period of the equity granet of estimated forfeitures.
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To value option grants, stock purchase rights astticted stock units under the Equity Compensaians for stock-based compensation the
Company used the Black-Scholes option valuationehdgiir value determined using the Blgg&holes option valuation model varies base
assumptions used for the expected stock pricesilitylaexpected life, risk free interest rates dntlire dividend payments. For fiscal years
2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company used the histamdtatility of its stock over a period equal taetbxpected life of the options. The expectec
life assumptions represent the weighted-averagegstockbased awards are expecting to remain outstandhmegelexpected life assumpti
were established through the review of historicareise behavior of stock-based award grants viitiia vesting periods. The risk free
interest is based on the closing market bid yiellsctively traded U.S. treasury securities inabher-the-counter market for the expected term
equal to the expected term of the option. The énitlyield assumption is based on the Companysriiand expectation of future dividend
payout. Compensation expense for stock-based payaneands is recognized using the straight-linelsiogtion method and includes the
impact of estimated forfeitures.

The Company issued restricted performance stodk tmia group of executives with vesting that istegent on both market performance anc
continued service. For the market-based restriggefbrmance stock units issued during the fiscal ysded March 31, 2014:

e the number of shares of the Company's stock tetsived at vesting if applicable service requiretsiane also met will range from 0%
to 100% of the target amount based total sharehoddiern ("TSR"), which compares the performancehefprice per share of the
Company's common stock with the NASDAQ Compositieln("Index") for the three performance periodsiegdarch 31, 2015,
March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017, in the followmgnner: where in each such measurement period tfie performance return on
the price per share of the Company's common steodegls the performance return on the NASDAQ Contgdsdex, (which shall be
determined by subtracting the percentage retuth@MNASDAQ Composite Index from the percentagerretun the price per share of
the Common Stock), then all of the TSR Perform&ditares for such measurement period will be deemetkd and will vest; (2) if th
performance return on the price per share of Com8&took is more than 50% lower than the performaat@n on the NASDAQ
Composite Index, then none of the TSR PerformameseS for such measurement period will be deemestdand will vest; and (3)
the performance return on the price per share afif@on Stock is between 0% and 50% lower than th@meance return on the
NASDAQ Composite Index, then the number of TSR &tenfince Shares deemed earned and vesting for ssesunement period will
be reduced by 2% for each 1% by which the perfoomaaturn on the NASDAQ Composite Index exceedpérormance return on
the Common Stock, and

e the number of shares of the Company's stock teteived at vesting will range from 0% or 100% & thrget amount based on four
tranches, with each tranche vesting at the latéa)athe satisfaction of the applicable serviceebagesting requirement for that tranche,
and (b) on the first date that the average stoite uf the Company's common stock for a consec®vrading day period exceeds
150% of the grant date stock price. The minimumviservesting requirement for each tranche is devd:

Tranche 1: One year following the date of the grant
Tranche 2: Two years following the date of the gran
Tranche 3: Three years following the date of trengr
Tranche 4: Four years following the date of thengra

To value these market-based restricted performsiooé units under the Equity Compensation PlarsCthmpany used a Monte Carlo
simulation model on the date of grant. Fair valetermined using the Monte Carlo simulation mo@eles based on the assumptions used fo
the expected stock price volatility, the correlatamefficient between the Company and the NASDA@@osite Index, risk free interest rates,
and future dividend payments. The Company usediifierical volatility and correlation of our stoekd the Index over a period equal to the
remaining performance period as of the grant ddte.risk-free interest rate was based on the doasiarket bid yields on actively traded U.S.
treasury securities in the over-the-counter médfidethe expected term equal to the remaining peréorce period as of the grant date. The
dividend yield assumption was based on our histoy expectation of future dividend payout. Compéos expense for restricted stock units
with performance and market conditions is recoghizeer the requisite service period using the gitaline method on a tranche by tranche
basis and includes the impact of estimated fonfegu
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In October 2013, the board of directors approvedniodification of unvested stock options to purehas,479 shares of common stock and
unvested stock purchase rights totaling 37,000eshaircommon stock held by the Company's presideon his resignation. The options held
by the Company's president upon his resignatikertas a whole, had a weighted average exercise pfi$4.05 per share and range from
$2.72 to $5.87 per share, and a weighted averagaimeng vesting term of 0.5 years. Approximately0&B,000 of the $7,595,000 of stock-
based compensation charge in fiscal year 2014 api the options held by the former presidenhef@ompany and was recorded in general
and administrative expenses.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized Ddhsolidated Statements of Operations for fiscad2@013 and 2012, was measured
based on ASC 718 criteria. Compensation expensallfetock-based payment awards are recognized tisinstraight-line single-option
method and includes the impact of estimated fanfeg. ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimateatie time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfestdiffer from those estimates.

The following table summarizes stock-based comparsaxpense (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012

Cost of service revent $ 372 % 211 % 129
Cost of product revent - - -
Research and developmt 967 428 260
Sales and marketir 2,217 1,363 859
General and administrative 4,039 632 258
Total stoclbased compensation expel

related to employee stock optio

and employee stock purchases-tax 7,595 2,634 1,506
Tax benefit - - -
Stoclk-based compensation expense relate

employee stock options and employ

stock purchases, net of tax $ 7,595 $ 2,634 $ 1,506

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income, as defined, includes all ghsim equity (net assets) during a period fromowner sources. The difference between
net income and comprehensive income is due togoreirrency translation adjustments and unrealiggads or losses on investments class
as available-for-sale. Comprehensive income igcédld in the consolidated statements of comprefenmstome.
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NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigncome available to common stockholders (nutogray the weighted average number
of vested, unrestricted common shares outstandingglthe period (denominator). Diluted net incopee share is computed on the basis o
weighted average number of shares of common stosktlpe effect of dilutive potential common shavesstanding during the period using the
treasury stock method. Dilutive potential commoarsk include outstanding stock options and emploggteicted purchase rights.

Years Ended March 31,
2014 2013 2012
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts

Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 1598 $ 13,450 $ 70,680
Income (loss) from discontinued operations,

of income tax provision 916 489 (1,452
Net income available to common stockholc $ 2514 $ 13,939 $ 69,228
Denominator
Common shares 78,310 71,390 66,413
Denominator for basic calculatio 78,310 71,390 66,413
Employee stock optior 2,927 2,958 3,327
Employee restricted purchase rights 421 352 409
Denominator for diluted calculation 81,658 74,700 70,149
Income per shar- continuing operation:

Basic $ 0.02 $ 019 $ 1.06

Diluted $ 0.02 $ 0.18 $ 1.01
Income (loss) per sha- discontinued operation

Basic $ 001 $ 001 $ (0.02

Diluted $ 001 $ 001 $ (0.02
Net income per shar

Basic $ 0.03 $ 0.20 $ 1.04

Diluted $ 0.03 $ 019 $ 0.99

The following shares attributable to outstandiragktoptions, restricted purchase rights and wasraetre excluded from the calculation of
diluted earnings per share because their inclusmuid have been antidilutive (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Common stock option 750 953 435
Stock purchase rights 18 16 73
768 969 508
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DEFERRED RENT

In April 2012, the Company entered into an 87-mde#tse agreement for its new headquarters. Unddetims of the lease agreement:
e the Company received a three month rent holiday frental payments;
e base rent is $130,821 for the 15 months aftereéheholiday; and
e rent expense increases 3% each year thereafter.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Compaucgived a $1.7 million allowance for reimbursenfenthe cost of tenant improvements that
the Company included in cash flows from operatiaiyéies. In accordance with the guidance in ASID-&0, Leases, the Company accounts
for its headquarters facility operating lease dievis:

Rent Holidays. The Company recognizes the related rent expengestmight-line basis at the earlier of the fiesitrpayment or the date of
possession of the leased property. The differert@den the amounts charged to expense and thpaignis recorded as deferred lease
incentives and amortized over the lease term.

Rent Escalations. The Company recognizes escalating rent provisions straight-line basis over the lease term. Tfferdnce between the
amounts charged to expense and the rent paiddsdest as deferred lease incentives and amortizedtbe lease term.

Tenant Improvement Allowance . The tenant improvement allowance is deferredaandrtized on a straight-line basis over the lif¢hef lease
as a reduction to rent expense.

At March 31, 2014, total deferred rent include@ther accrued liabilities and non-current liakélgtiwvas $0.2 million and $1.6 million,
respectively. At March 31, 2013, total deferredtiienluded in other accrued liabilities and nonreat liabilities was $0.2 million and $1.8
million, respectively.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-11, 8ime Taxes (Topic 740lpresentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit when a Net

Operating Loss Carryforward, a Smilar Tax Loss, or a Tax credit Carryforward Exist ("ASU 2013-11"). ASU 2013-11 provides guidance on
the financial statement presentation of an unreizegrtax benefit when a net operating loss carwéod, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit
carryforward exists. The guidance requires an wyeized tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecogiitax benefit, to be presented in the
financial statements as a reduction to a defeaedsset for a net operating loss carryforwardndas tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward,
except in certain situations. ASU 2013-11 will Beetive for the fiscal years, and interim periadshin those years, beginning after Decembe
15, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Conypdoes not believe that the adoption of ASU 2013villlhave a material impact on the
Company's consolidated results of operation arahfiral condition.

In April 2014, The FASB has issued Accounting Stadd Update (ASU) No. 20108, "Presentation of Financial Statements" (To@i6)2an(
"Property, Plant, and Equipment: Reporting Disammtid Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of goorents of an Entity" (Top
360). The amendments in the ASU change the criferiaeporting discontinued operations while enliagaisclosures in this area. It a
addresses sources of confusion and inconsistetitafign related to financial reporting of discanted operations guidance in U.S. GA
The amendments in the ASU are effective in the jtearter of 2015 for public organizations witheradar year ends. The Company doe:
believe that the adoption of ASU 2008- will have a material impact on the Company'ssotidated results of operation and finan
condition.
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2. INCOME TAXES

For the years ended March 31, 2014, 2013 and 28&@Z;ompany recorded a provision (benefit) for meaaxes of $2,219,000, $9,399,000
and ($62,354,000), respectively. The provisiontifieryear ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was atififeito federal and state current and
deferred taxes. For the year ended March 31, 26&@2Company recorded a benefit for income taxe&6@f4 million which was primarily
attributable to the release of a significant partid the valuation allowance related to the Comsmdgferred tax assets. The components ¢
consolidated provision for income taxes for fis2@l4, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the followingHiousands):

March 31,

Current: 2014 2013 2012
Federa $ - $ - $ -
State 276 434 76
Foreign - - (8)

276 434 68

Deferred
Federa $ 1578 $ 7,185 $ (56,665
State 365 1,780 (5,757
Foreign - - -

Total deferred tax provision (benefit) 1,943 8,965 (62,422
Income tax provision (benefit) $ 2219 % 9399 $ (62,354

The Company's income before income taxes include8 #illion, $0 and $0 of foreign subsidiary loss the fiscal years ended March
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Deferred tax assets were comprised of the followinghousands):

March 31,

Current deferred tax asst 2014 2013
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 333 % 4,795
Inventory valuatiol 33 18
Reserves and allowances 1,791 2,182
Net current deferred tax ass 2,157 6,995
Net operating loss carryforwar 51,598 48,002
Research and development and other credit carrgiais 4,488 3,026
Fixed assets and intangibles (2,819 (2,468
Net no-current deferred tax asst 53,267 48,560
Valuation allowance (5,562 (3,107
Total $ 49,862 $ 52,448

As of March 31, 2014 and 2013, management ass#ssedalizability of deferred tax assets basecdheravailable evidence, including a hisi
of taxable income and estimates of future taxaiderne. At March 31, 2014, management evaluateddkd for a valuation allowance and
determined that a valuation allowance of approxatya$5.6 million was needed. At March 31, 2013, agement evaluated the need for a
valuation allowance and determined that a valuatitowance of approximately $3.1 million was needEte net change in the valuation
allowance for the years ended March 31, 2014 ad@ 2¢as an increase of $2.5 million and $1.0, retbpely.
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At March 31, 2014, the Company had net operatirsg loarryforwards for federal and state income tabp@ses of approximately $14
million and $93.5 million, respectively, which erpiat various dates beginning in 2015 and contmtiimough 2034. The net operating
carryforwards include approximately $22.6 millioesulting from employee exercises of roumlified stock options or disqualifyi
dispositions, the tax benefits of which, when =i, will be accounted for as an addition to addai paidin capital rather than as a reduc
of the provision for income taxes. In additionMdrch 31, 2014, the Company had research and dawelat credit carryforwards for fede
and California tax reporting purposes of approxeha$2.7 million and $4.4 million, respectively. & fiederal credit carryforwards will exp
at various dates beginning in 2021 and continumgugh 2034, while the California credits will caforward indefinitely. A reconciliation
the tax provision to the amounts computed usingstaritory U.S. federal income tax rate of 34%sisadlows (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012

Tax provision at statutory ra $ 1,285 $ 7,768 $ 2,337
State income taxes before valuation allowa

net of federal effe 196 822 408
Research and development cre (1,534 (385 (211,
Change in valuation allowan 1,264 1,038 (65,042
Compensation/option differenc (264, (207, (87)
Non-deductible compensatic 605 403 220
Acquisition costt 230 - -
Expiring CA NOLs 240 - -
Foreign loss not benefite 271 - -
Other (74) (40) 21

$ 2,219 $ 9,399 $ (62,354

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from unteté positions if it is more likely than not thiéie tax positions will be sustained on
examination by the tax authorities, based on tblertieal merits of the position. The tax benefitnsasured based on the largest benefit that h
a greater than 50% likelihood of being realizedruptiimate settlement. A reconciliation of the begng and ending amount of unrecognized
tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

2014 2013 2012
Balance at beginning of ye $ 3,024 $ 2483 $ 1,726
Gross increase- tax position in prior perio - 73 111
Gross decreast tax position in prior perio (1,081 - -
Gross increase- tax positions related to the current y 222 468 646
Settlement: - - -
Lapse of statute of limitations - - -
Balance at end of year $ 2165 $ 3,024 $ 2,483

At March 31, 2014, the company had a liability fmrecognized tax benefits of $2.2 million, all dfieh, if recognized, would decrease the
company's effective tax rate. The Company doegxpeéct its unrecognized tax benefits to changefgigntly over the next 12 months.

The Company files U.S. federal and state incomedaxns in jurisdictions with varying statutedliafitations. The Company has not been
under examination by income tax authorities in fatjestate or other foreign jurisdictions. The 198®ugh fiscal 2014 tax years generally
remain subject to examination by federal and miagée gax authorities.
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The Company's policy for recording interest andabs associated with tax examinations is to r@coich items as a component of operating
expense income before taxes. During the fiscal gaded March 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Compighyad recognize any interest or
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.

Utilization of the Company's net operating loss tmdcredit carryforwards can become subject tolsmntial annual limitation due to the
ownership change limitations provided by Sectio 88the Internal Revenue Code and similar stadgigions. Such an annual limitation
could result in the expiration or elimination oéthet operating loss and tax credit carryforwaefstte utilization. The Company has perforr
an analysis of its changes in ownership under &e&82 of the Internal Revenue Code. Managementtly believes that the Section 382
limitation will not limit utilization of the carryrwards prior to their expiration, with the exceptiof certain acquired loss and tax credit
carryforwards of Contactual, Inc.

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is defined as the price that would lmeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitglin an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. When detemgntine fair value measurements for assets antlities required or permitted to be
recorded at fair value, the Company considers timeipal market or the most advantageous markethich it would transact.

The accounting guidance for fair value measuremeires the Company to maximize the use of obdésvaputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. @asée inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptimarket participants would use in
valuing the asset or liability and are developeskldaon market data obtained from sources indepénfidme Company. Unobservable inputs
are inputs that reflect the Company's assumptibostahe factors that market participants wouldinseluing the asset or liability developed
based on the best information available in theuostances.

The standard establishes a fair value hierarchgdan the level of independent, objective evideswreounding the inputs used to measure fai
value by requiring that the most observable inpetsised when available. A financial instrumenttegarization within the fair value hierarchy
is based upon the lowest level of input that isigicant to the fair value measurement. The falugehierarchy is as follows:

e Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are quoted prices in active markets for idahassets or liabilities that the
Company has the ability to access at the measuteiagn

e Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are inputs other than quoted prices includégvel 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectlsuch as quoted prices for similar assets or ligdslin active markets; quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in markets withuifficient volume or infrequent transactions (lest\& markets).

e Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whieir value is derived from valuation techniquesvinich one or more significant inputs
are unobservable, including the Company's own agsans.
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The following table presents the Company's faiugdiierarchy for assets and liabilities measurddiavalue on a recurring basis at March 31

2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Cash equivalent:
Money market fund

Shor-term investments
Mutual funds
Commercial pape
Corporate det

Long-term investments
Corporate det
Municipal securitie
Asset backed securiti

Quoted Prices

International government securities -

Total

Cash equivalent:
Money market fund

Shor-term investments
Mutual funds

Total

in Active
Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable Balance at
Assets Inputs Inputs March 31,
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2014
$ 32,611 % - $ - $ 32,611
1,909 - - 1,909
- 30,379 - 30,379
- 14,893 - 14,893
- 48,724 - 48,724
- 5,439 - 5,439
- 17,054 - 17,054
804 - 804
$ 34,520 $ 117,293 $ - 3 151,813
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable Balance at
Assets Inputs Inputs March 31,
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2013
14,376 $ - $ - % 14,376
1,964 - - 1,964
16,340 $ - $ - $ 16,340
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4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Guarantees
Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company rgegeato indemnify other parties, including custosnéassors and parties to other
transactions with the Company, with respect toatemnatters such as breaches of representatiw/enants or intellectual property
infringement or other claims made by third partiElsese agreements may limit the time within whinhralemnification claim can be made
the amount of the claim. In addition, the Compaayg &ntered into indemnification agreements witbffisers and directors.

It is not possible to determine the maximum potdratmount of the Company's exposure under thessminiication agreements due to the
limited history of prior indemnification claims arige unique facts and circumstances involved it gacticular agreement. Historically,
payments made by the Company under these agreeh@mtsot had a material impact on the Compangsatipg results, financial position
cash flows. Under some of these agreements, howsee€ompany's potential indemnification liabilitight not have a contractual limit.

Product Warranties

The Company accrues for the estimated costs thabmancurred under its product warranties upoenexe recognition. Changes in the
Company's product warranty liability, which is indked in cost of product revenues in the consoli@atatements of income were as follows
thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Balance at beginning of ye $ 452 % 387 $ 362
Accruals for warrantie 953 611 496
Payments (745 (546 (471
Balance at end of year $ 660 $ 452  $ 387

Leases

The Company leases its headquarters facility in¥ame, California under an operating lease agreetianexpires in October 2019. The lease
is an industrial net lease with monthly base réi§t180,821 for the first 15 months with a 3% in@e&ach year thereafter, and requires us to
pay property taxes, utilities and normal mainteacwsts.

The Company leases its UK headquarters in Aylesbiliyunder an operating lease agreement that exjpirerch 2017, with a break clause
in March 2015 exercisable with six months' notiddwe lease has a base monthly rent of $10,700Matith 2015, rising to $11,522 thereatfter,
and requires us to pay property taxes, servicegesautilities and normal maintenance costs.

At March 31, 2014, future minimum annual lease pagts under non-cancelable operating leases wdadl@ss (in thousands):

Year Ending March 31

2015 $ 1,745
2016 1,803
2017 1,853
2018 1,789
2019 and Thereafter 2,936
Total $ 10,126

Rent expense for the years ended March 31, 20148 @0d 2012 was $1,506,000, $1,195,000, and $7d6:68pectively.

66




Capital Leases

The Company has non-cancelable capital lease agresrfor office equipment bearing interest at vasicates. At March 31, 2014, future
minimum annual lease payments under non-cancetapi¢al leases were as follows (in thousands):

Year ending March 31

2015 $ 139
2016 40
Total minimum payment 179
Less: Amount representing interest (2
177

Less: Short-term portion of capital lease obligagio 137
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations $ 40

Capital leases included in office equipment wer@$600 and $110,000 at March 31, 2014 and 201Bectisely. Total accumulated
amortization was $355,000 and $69,000 at Marct2814 and 2013, respectively. Amortization expensasésets recorded under capital le
is included in depreciation expense.

Minimum Third Party Customer Support Commitments

In the third quarter of 2010, the Company amentieddntract with one of its third party customepport vendors containing a minimum
monthly commitment of approximately $430,000 effieetApril 1, 2010. The agreement requires a 150uzice to terminate. At March 31,
2014, the total remaining obligation under the cacttwas $2.2 million.

Minimum Third Party Network Service Provider Commitments

The Company entered into contracts with multipladags for third party network service providers géhexpire on various dates in fiscal 2(
through 2016. At March 31, 2014, future minimum aamayments under these third party network sereamtracts were as follows (in
thousands):

Year ending March 31

2015 $ 1,809
2016 52
Total minimum payments $ 1,861

Legal Proceedings

The Company, from time to time, is involved in wars legal claims or litigation, including patenfringement claims that can arise in
normal course of the Company's operations. Peralifigture litigation could be costly, could cauke tliversion of management's attention
could upon resolution, have a material adverseceffe the Company's business, results of operatforacial condition and cash flows.

On February 22, 2011, the Company was named adifiem a lawsuit, Bear Creek Technologies, In@&x8, Inc.et al. , along with 20 other
defendants. On August 17, 2011, the Company wasisied without prejudice from this lawsuit undetdr2i of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. On August 17, 2011, the Company was ag&id by Bear Creek Technologies, Inc. in the éthBtates District Court for the
District of Delaware. The Company believes it hectdial and legal defenses to these claims anagg&epting a vigorous defense. Further, on
November 28, 2012, the U.S. Patent & Trademarkc@ffiitiated a Reexamination proceeding with a Re@ration Declaration explainir

that there is a substantial new question of pabditta based on four separate grounds and affgaach claim of the patent which is the basis
for the complaint filed against the Company. Orréha26, 2013, the USPTO issued a first Office Atfio the Reexamination, with all claims
of the '722 patent being rejected on each of the $eparate grounds raised in the Request for Réaation. On July 10, 2013, the Company
filed an informational pleading in support of anéhjng a motion to stay the proceeding in the Dis€ourt; the District Court granted the
motion on July 17, 2013, based on the possibitigt &it least one of the USPTO rejections will bkealgh and considering the USPTO's
conclusion that Bear Creek's patent suffers frafafactive claim for priority. On March 24, 2014etUSPTO issued another Office Action in
which the rejections of the claims are maintainétle Company cannot estimate potential liabilityhis case at this early stage of litigation.
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On October 25, 2011, the Company was named a dafieimda lawsuit, Klausner Technologies, Inc. va€e Corporatiort al. , along with 3(
other defendants. The lawsuit alleges infringenoémat patent that is now believed to have expired NOvember 1, 2011, Klausner dismissed
the Complaint voluntarily and filed new complaistparating the defendants, including a new Compdajainst 8x8. The Company believes it
has factual and legal defenses to these claimssardsenting a vigorous defense. On March 2132k District Court granted 8x8's Motion
to Change Venue, and has ordered the transfeeafabe to the US District Court for the NortherstBxit of California. An answer to the
complaint was filed on April 25, 2014. The Compamayinot estimate potential liability in this cas¢hés early stage of the litigation.

On March 31, 2014, the Company was named a deféemdarawsuit, CallWave Communications LLC v. 8%8¢. CallWave
Communications also sued Fonality Inc. on March2®1,4, and previously sued other companies inctudfierizon, Google, T-Mobile, and
AT&T. The Company is currently assessing factuml legal defenses to these claims and expectesept a vigorous defense. The Comg
has not answered the complaint yet and cannot a&ipotential liability in this case at this eastage of the litigation.

On April 23, 2014, the Company was named but noteskas a defendant in a lawsuit, TQP Developmér®, v. 8x8, Inc. On April 30, 2014
(and before any service of the complaint), TQP Degwment filed papers to dismiss this lawsuit arfteolawsuits that were filed on or about
the same time.

Sate and Municipal Taxes

From time to time, the Company has received ingsifiom a number of state and municipal taxing eigsrnwith respect to the remittance of
taxes. Four states currently are conducting taksofithe Company's records. The Company collectsas accrued for taxes that it believes
are required to be remitted. The amounts that baea remitted have historically been within theraalts established by the Company.

Regulatory

VolP communication services, like the Company's,saibject to less regulation at the federal levahtraditional telecommunication services
and states are preempted from regulating suchcesrnvMany regulatory actions are underway or airegh@ontemplated by federal and state
authorities, including the FCC, and state regulatmencies. The FCC initiated a notice of publiesmaking in early 2004 to gather public
comment on the appropriate regulatory environment® telephony which would include the servicesoffer. In November 2004, the FCC
ruled that the VolP service of a competitor andhikir" services are jurisdictionally interstate amat subject to state certification, tariffing and
other legacy telecommunication carrier regulations.

The effect of any future laws, regulations anddtaers on the Company's operations, includingnbtitimited to, the 8x8 service, cannot be
determined. But as a general matter, increasedatému and the imposition of additional funding iglaltions increases the Company's costs of
providing service that may or may not be recoverdtim the Company's customers which could reauthaking the Company's services less
competitive with traditional telecommunications\sees if the Company increases its retail pricedemreases the Company's profit margins if
it attempts to absorb such costs.

5. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
1996 Stock Plan

In June 1996, the Company's board of directors tadiajhe 1996 Stock Plan ("1996 Plan"). A total »f0B5,967 shares were reserved for
issuance under the 1996 Plan prior to its expinatioaJune 2006. The 1996 Plan provided for grantiegntive stock options to employees and
nonstatutory stock options to employees, direatoinsultants. The stock option price of incensitack options granted could not be less
the determined fair market value at the date afitgi@ptions generally vested over four years antlehten-year term.
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1996 Director Option Plan

The Company's 1996 Director Option Plan ("Dire®tan") was adopted in June 1996 and became eféeictiduly 1997. A total of 1,650,000
shares of common stock were reserved for issuamer he Director Plan prior to its expiration imé 2006. The Director Plan provided for
both discretionary and periodic grants of nonstaustock options to non-employee directors of@mnpany (the "Outside Directors"). The
exercise price per share of all options grantectutite Director Plan was equal to the fair markti® of a share of the Company's common
stock on the date of grant. Options generally \bsteer a period of four years. Options granted tts@e Directors under the Director Plan
a ten year term, or shorter upon termination oDatside Director's status as a director.

2006 Stock Plan

In May 2006, the Company's board of directors apgidhe 2006 Stock Plan ("2006 Plan™). The Com[gastpckholders subsequently ado
the 2006 Plan in September 2006, and the 2006H&leaime effective in October 2006. The CompanyvesdeZ, 000,000 shares of the
Company's common stock for issuance under this pldae 2006 Plan provides for granting incentivaktoptions to employees and
nonstatutory stock options to employees, direaoinsultants. The stock option price of incemtitock options granted may not be less tha
the fair market value on the effective date ofghant. Other types of options and awards unde®®® Plan may be granted at any price
approved by the administrator, which generally Wélthe compensation committee of the board otttire. Options generally vest over four
years and expire ten years after grant. In 20692006 Plan was amended to provide for the grquatirstock purchase rights. The 2006 F
expires in May 2016.

2003 Contactual Plan

In the second fiscal quarter of 2012, the Compasyimed the Amended and Restated Contactual, 168. 2ck Option Plan (the "2003
Contactual Plan") and registered an aggregate bB¥4 shares of the Company's common stock thatmagsued upon the exercise of stock
options previously granted under the 2003 Conta&lzn and assumed by the Company when it acq@oedactual. No new stock options or
other awards can be granted under 2003 Contadiamal P

2012 Equity I ncentive Plan

In June 2012, the Company's board of directorsagal the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan ("2012 PlarThe Company's stockholders
subsequently adopted the 2012 Plan in July 201?tlen2012 Plan became effective in August 2012e Company reserved 4,100,000 share
of the Company's common stock for issuance undeptan. The 2012 Plan provides for granting itisenstock options to employees and
nonstatutory stock options to employees, direatoionsultants, and granting of stock appreciatigints, restricted stock, restricted stock u
and performance units, qualified performance-baseards and stock grants. The stock option prigaa&ntive stock options granted may not
be less than the fair market value on the effeaate of the grant. Other types of options and dsvander the 2012 Plan may be granted a
price approved by the administrator, which gengnaill be the compensation committee of the bodrdiectors. Options, restricted stock and
restricted stock units generally vest over fourgemnd expire ten years after grant. The 2012 &fgires in June 2022.

2013 New Employee | nducement I ncentive Plan

In September 2013, the Company's board of direetopsoved the 2013 New Employee Inducement Incelan ("2013 Plan"). The
Company reserved 1,000,000 shares of the Compemyision stock for issuance under this plan. The&XRlan provides for granting
nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciationtsgtestricted stock, restricted stock and perfarreaunits and stock grants solely to newly
hired employees as a material inducement to acueptiployment with the Company. Options are graatedarket value on the grant date
under the 2013 Plan, unless determined otherwitedtme of grant by the administrator, which gailg will be the compensation committee
of the board of directors. Options, generally egppén years after grant. The 2013 Plan expiregpiednber 2023.
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Option, Stock Purchase Right and Restricted Stock Unit Activity

Stock Purchase Right activity since March 31, 28lsdummarized as follows:

Balance at March 31, 20:
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Balance at March 31, 20:
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Balance at March 31, 20:
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Balance at March 31, 2014

Restricted Stock Unit activity since June 22, 2&1&mmarized as follows:

Balance at June 22, 20
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Balance at March 31, 20:
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Balance at March 31, 2014

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Grant-Date Remaining
Number of Fair Market Contractual
Shares Value Term (in Years)
886,445 $ 1.51 3.00
563,10C 3.64
(326,683 1.55
(156,462 2.99
966,40C 2.50 2.61
443,436 5.75
(367,017 2.14
(84,244 2.89
958,575 4.11 2.52
22,380 9.69
(392,844 3.25
(98,484 5.18
489,627 $ 4.83 1.93
Weighted Weighted Average
Number of Average Remaining Contractual
Shares Purchase Price Term (in Years)
- $ _
25,000 6.91
25,000 6.91 2.47
1,291,20C 9.11
(133,000 9.49
(48,344 9.61
1,134,85¢€ $ 9.00 2.00
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Option activity under the Company's stock opticengl since March 31, 2011, is summarized as follows:

Weighted
Shares Average
Shares Subject to Exercise
Available Options Price
for Grant Outstanding Per Share

Balance at March 31, 201: 1,553,97¢ 6,969,19¢ 1.56
Grantec- Options (2) (685,500 857,474 4.05
Stock purchase rights ( (563,100 - -
Exercisec - (1,645,308 1.35
Canceled/Forfeite 147,027 (147,027 2.07
Termination of plans (76,860 -

Balance at March 31, 201: 375,546 6,034,33¢ 1.90
Change in options available for gr 4,100,00( - -
Grantec- Options (932,000 932,000 5.80
Stock purchase righ (443,436 - -
Restricted stock uni (25,000 - -
Exercisec - (835,246 1.49
Canceled/Forfeite- Options 139,545 (139,545 4.00
Canceled/Forfeite- Restricted Stock Unit 4,000 - -
Termination of plans (43,394 -

Balance at March 31, 2013 3,175,261 5,991,544 2.52
Change in options available for gr 1,000,00( - -
Grantec- Options (1,465,400 1,465,40( 9.66
Stock purchase righ (992,572 - -
Restricted stock uni (321,008 - -
Exercise( - (1,283,470 2.75
Canceled/Forfeite- Options 171,092 (171,092 5.25
Canceled/Forfeite- Restricted Stock Unit 146,828 - -
Termination of plans (100,258 -

Balance at March 31, 201« 1,613,94: 6,002,382 4.14

(1) The reduction to shares available for graniuides awards granted of 563,100 shares.
(2) The increase to shares subject to optionsandstg includes 171,974 shares subject to optisssraed under the 2003 Contactual Plan.

Significant option groups outstanding at March3&114 and related weighted average exercise prigeamtractual life information for 8x8,
Inc.'s stock option plans are as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate Exercise Aggregate
Price Contractual Intrinsic Price Intrinsic
Shares Per Share Life (Years) Value Shares Per Share Value
$0.55t0 $ 1.2 1,725,00C $ 1.04 3.8% 16,855,76( 1,725,00C $ 1.04% 16,855,76(
$1.27t0$ 1.7 1,257,17¢ $ 1.53 1.9 11,663,45¢ 1,257,17¢ $ 1.53 11,663,45¢
$1.80t0$5.8 1,564,614 $ 4.58 6.0 9,740,96¢ 774,413 $ 4.16 5,150,42¢
$5.881t0 $ 9.7 1,305,59C $ 9.40 8.9 1,847,19¢ 69,271 $ 8.79 139,929
$9.75t0 $11.26 150,000 $ 11.11 9.8 - - $ - -
6,002,382 $ 40,107,381 3,825,862 $ 33,809,57¢
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The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (theraggte difference between the closing stock
price of the Company's common stock on March 31424hd the exercise price for in-the-money optidha) would have been received by the
option holders if all in-the-money options had be&ercised on March 31, 2014.

The total intrinsic value of options exercisedhe years ended March 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 waswiBion, $3.3 million and $4.6 million,
respectively. As of March 31, 2014, there was $47il8on of unamortized stockased compensation expense related to unvestddagitions
and awards which is expected to be recognized awerighted average period of 2.84 years.

Cash received from option exercises and purchdss#saces under the Equity Compensation Plans toyéars ended March 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 were $5.2 million, $2.4 million and $3.1llion, respectively. The total tax benefit attrtble to stock options exercised in the year
ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was $142,000 an@@dXespectively.

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's 1996 Stock Purchase Plan ("Emplotask Purchase Plan") was adopted in June 1996 exahie effective upon the closing
of the Company's initial public offering in July9B The Company suspended the Employee Stock Fagd¢Han in 2003 and reactivated the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan in fiscal 2005. UttteEmployee Stock Purchase Plan, 500,000 shamswohon stock were initially
reserved for issuance. At the start of each figeaf, the number of shares of common stock suliebie Employee Stock Purchase Plan
increases so that 500,000 shares remain availabissiance. During fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012,@3&2 301,303 and 358,166 shares,
respectively, were issued under the Employee Sfackhase Plan. In May 2006, the Company's boadétedtors approved a ten-year
extension of the Employee Stock Purchase PlankBtdaers approved a ten-year extension of the Eyegl®Gtock Purchase Plan at the 2006
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held September 8862 The Employee Stock Purchase Plan is effeatinié2017.

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan permits eligiipl@yees to purchase common stock through payealuidtions at a price equal to 85% of
the fair market value of the common stock at thgifr@ng of each two year offering period or the efid six month purchase period,
whichever is lower. When the Employee Stock Puretizlan was reinstated in fiscal 2005, the offedagod was reduced from two years to
one year. The contribution amount may not exceegézcent of an employee's base compensationdingwommissions, but not including
bonuses and overtime. In the event of a mergdreoCiompany with or into another corporation orghke of all or substantially all of the ass
of the Company, the Employee Stock Purchase Plarides that a new exercise date will be set fohegution under the plan which exercise
date will occur before the date of the merger setisale.

Assumptions Used to Calculate Sock-Based Compensation Expense

The fair value of each of the Company's option tg&ias been estimated on the date of grant usinBlttk-Scholes pricing model with the
following assumptions:

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 64% 70% 72%
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Risk-free interest rat 0.7% to 2.2% 0.5% to 0.8% 0.3% to 1.2%
Weighted average expected option te 6.1 year: 5.3 years 4.8 years
Weighted average fair value of options grar $ 5.70 $ 332 % 2.30
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The estimated fair value of stock purchase righasigd under the Equity Compensation Plans wei@at®td using the Black-Scholes pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumpgio

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 40% 40% 73%
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Risk-free interest rat 0.09% 0.14% 0.10%
Weighted average expected rights t¢ 0.75 year 0.75 year 0.75 year
Weighted average fair value of rights grar $ 2.83 $ 1.78 $ 1.67

STOCK REPURCHASES

On October 19, 2010, the Company's board of dire@athorized the Company to create a new stoakchpse plan to purchase an additiona
$10.0 million of its common stock from time to timatil October 19, 2011. The stock repurchase piquired on October 19, 2011. The stock
repurchase activity since March 31, 2011 is sunmzedras follows:

Weighted
Average
Shares Price Amount
Repurchased Per Share Repurchased

Balance at March 31, 20: 3,870,98t $ 226 $ 8,022,69(
Repurchase of common stock 301,800 2.95 888,964
Balance at March 31, 20: 4,172,78¢ 2.23 8,911,654
Repurchase of common stock - - -
Balance at March 31, 20: 4,172,78% 2.23 8,911,654
Repurchase of common stock - - -
Balance at March 31, 2014 4,172,785 $ 223 % 8,911,654

The total purchase prices of the common stock w@sed and retired were reflected as a reductionnisolidated stockholders' equity during
the period of repurchase.

In fiscal 2012, the Company also repurchased inttawosactions at current market prices 352,030eshaith a total repurchase price of $1.5
million from former and current members of the lubaf directors outside of the stock repurchase.plan

In fiscal 2013, the Company also withheld 73,754rsh related to tax withholdings on restricted lsteards with a total price of $0.4 million.
In fiscal 2014, the Company also withheld 50,408rsh related to tax withholdings on restricted lsteards with a total price of $0.5 million.
6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

401(k) Savings Plan

In April 1991, the Company adopted a 401(k) savipigs (the "Savings Plan") covering substantiallptits U.S. employees. Eligible
employees may contribute to the Savings Plan fiweir tompensation up to the maximum allowed byitibernal Revenue Service. In January
2007, the Company reactivated the employer matotwmdribution. The matching contribution is 100%eaich employee's contributions in
each year, not to exceed $1,500 per annum. Theningtexpense in 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $0.4 mjl$0.3 million and $0.3 million,
respectively. The Savings Plan does not allow eyg@aontributions to be invested in the Company’sraon stock.
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING

ASC 280 "Segment Reporting " establishes annual and interim reporting starslfodan enterprise's business segments and releseldsures
about its products, services, geographic areasrajor customers. Under ASC 280, the method forrdeténg what information to report is
based upon the way management organizes the oppsagments within the Company for making operatiegjsions and assessing financial
performance. The Company has one reportable opgrsgigment. The Company's chief operating decisiakers, the Chief Executive Offici
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Technology Officevaluate performance of the Company and makisidas regarding allocation of
resources based on total Company results.

The Company's revenue distribution by geograptg@re(based upon the destination of shipments hadtistomer's service address) wz
follows:

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Americas (principally US 97% 99% 99%
Europe 2% 0% 0%
Asia Pacific 1% 1% 1%
100% 100% 100%

Geographic area data is based upon the locatitregiroperty and equipment and is as follows (ougtands):

March 31,
2014 2013
United State: $ 6,305 $ 6,673
Europe 1,087 -
Asia 319 -
$ 7,711 $ 6,673

8. ACQUISITION
Voicenet Solutions Limited

On November 11, 2013, the Company entered int@eegburchase agreement with the shareholders dimhlplders of Voicenet Solutions
Limited ("Voicenet"), a provider of cloud communiimams and collaboration services in the United Ko (the "Transaction"). The Company
completed the acquisition of Voicenet on Novemtr2013. The Company purchased all of the outstansliares of Voicenet for total
consideration transferred of $19.3 million; $3.0liom was placed in escrow and eligible for releisthe Voicenet shareholders and
optionholders in installments on the first and setanniversaries of the closing date. The shard®imienet are held by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of 8x8 recently formed in the United gdlom, such that Voicenet is an indirect, wholly-@drsubsidiary of 8x8.

The Company recorded the acquired tangible andifadnie intangible assets and liabilities assurbaded on their estimated fair values. The
excess of the consideration transferred over teeggte fair values of the assets acquired anilitie® assumed is recorded as goodwill. The
amount of goodwill recognized is primarily attribbte to the expected contributions of the entittheoverall corporate strategy in addition to
synergies and acquired workforce of the acquiresinass. The finite-lived intangible assets corfistustomer relationship, with an estimated
weightedaverage useful life of 7 years. The fair valuegssi to identifiable intangible assets acquired based on estimates and assump
made by management using the excess earnings métkemgible assets are amortized on a straigbtHesis.
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The preliminary fair values of the assets acquéned liabilities assumed are as follows (in thousgnd

Estimated
Fair Value
Assets acquirec
Cast $ 854
Current asse 1,114
Property and equipme 956
Intangible asset - customer relationship 6,381
Total assets acquired 9,305
Liabilities assumec
Current and non-current liabilities (4,132
Total liabilities assumed (4,132
Net identifiable assets acqui 5173
Goodwill 14,155
Total consideration transferred $ 19,328

None of the goodwill recognized is expected to éduttible for income tax purpost

Voicenet contributed revenue of approximately $8ilion and a net loss of approximately $0.8 mifliftor the period from the date of
acquisition to March 31, 2014. The Company deteeahithat it is impractical to include such pro forimfrmation given the difficulty in
obtaining the historical financial information obi¢enet. Inclusion of such information would reguihe Company to make estimates and
assumptions regarding Voicenet's historical finah@sults that we believe may ultimately provecmaate.

9. GAIN ON SETTLEMENT OF ESCROW CLAIM

In December 2013, the Company settled an escram ¢ta indemnification with the sellers of Contaatulnc. Under the terms of the
settlement, the Company recorded a gain of $0.Bomiin other income. Under the terms of the Contatmerger agreement and the escrow
agreement, each indemnifying seller paid his, néisqro rata share of the obligations owed toGeenpany on January 29, 2014. Upon rec
of the cash on January 29, 2014, the Company etlghg remaining escrow account balance to thersedf Contactual Inc.

10. PATENT SALE

In June 2012, the Company entered into a patechpse agreement and sold a family of patentshiodparty for approximately $12.0

million plus a future payment of up to a maximun®a{0 million based on future license agreementsred into by the third party purchaser.
In February 2013, the third party entered into@asate license agreement with its customer; thezetbe Company earned an additional $1.0
million under the patent purchase agreement. Utideterms and conditions of the patent purchaseeaggnt, the Company has retained
certain limited rights to continue to use the pttefihe patent purchase agreement contains repaéses and warranties customary for
transactions of this type.

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On September 30, 2013, the Company completed taetHs dedicated server hosting business to @ pany, Inc. ("IRC") and, as a result,
no longer provides dedicated server hosting sesvicethe transaction, IRC purchased 100% of theksdf Central Host, Inc., which had been
wholly owned by the Company and all of the assp¢iic to the dedicated server hosting business.

The Company sold its dedicated server hosting lessifor total consideration of $3.0 million in casich was received on October 1, 2013.
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The dedicated server hosting business has beerted@s discontinued operations. The results ofatis®s and financial position of these
discontinued operations are as follows:

Resullts of operations:

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue $ 1430 $ 3828 % 2,431
Operating expens 922 3,005 3,883
Income (loss) before income tax 508 823 (1,452
Provision for income taxe 188 334 -
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 320 489 (1,452
Gain on disposal of discontinued operatic
net of income tax provision of $45 596 - -
Financial position:
March 31, March 31,
2014 2013
Assets
Property and equipment, 1 $ - $ 845
Intangible assets, n - 8
Goodwill - 1,210
$ - 9 2,063
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) (UNAUDITED)

QUARTER ENDED

March 31, Dec. 31, Sept.30, June 30, March3l, Dec.31, Sept.30, June 30,
2014 2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012
Service revenu $ 32545¢% 29,737 ¢ 27,826% 26,499 $ 25,070% 24,023% 23,101$ 22,190
Product revenue 3,241 3,008 2,989 2,752 2,746 2,382 2,194 2,080
Total revenue 35,786 32,745 30,815 29,251 27,816 26,405 25,295 24,270
Operating expense
Cost of service reven 6,866 5,584 5,209 4,786 4,744 4,890 5,216 5,078
Cost of product revent 3,999 4,041 3,783 3,347 3,216 3,203 2,672 2,710
Research and developm 3,332 3,325 2,640 2,336 2,174 2,117 2,030 1,826
Sales and marketir 18,038 16,051 13,745 13,072 12,944 11,561 10,800 10,268
General, and administrati 3,924 5,547 3,125 2,772 2,332 2,119 2,054 2,053
Gain on patent sale - - - - (1,000 - - (11,965
Total operating expens 36,159 34,548 28,502 26,313 24,410 23,890 22,772 9,970
Income (loss) from operatiol (373 (1,803 2,313 2,938 3,406 2,515 2,523 14,300
Other income net 140 586 1 15 15 73 9 8
Income (loss) from continuin
operations before provisic
(benefit) for income taxe (233 (1,217 2,314 2,953 3,421 2,588 2,532 14,308
Provision (benefit) fo
income taxes (1) 1,738 (1,306 826 961 1,905 814 935 5,745
Income (loss) from continuin
operation: (1,971 89 1,488 1,992 1,516 1,774 1,597 8,563
Income from discontinue
operations, net of incon
tax provisior 19 - 154 147 145 146 144 54
Gain on disposal of discontinu
operations, net of income te
provision of $456 7 - 589 - - - - -
Net income (loss $ (1,945 $ 89$% 2231% 2139% 1661$% 1920% 1,741$ 8,617
Income (loss) per sha
continuing operation:
Basic $ (0.02 $ 0.00 $ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.12
Diluted $ (0.02 $ 0.00 ¢ 0.02 ¢ 0.03 ¢ 0.02 ¢ 0.02 ¢ 0.02 ¢ 0.12
Income per shar
discontinued operation
Basic $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.01 % 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.01 % 0.00 $ 0.00
Diluted $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.01 % 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.01 % 0.00 $ 0.00
Net income (loss) per shal
Basic $ (0.02 % 0.00 $ 0.03 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.12
Diluted $ (0.02 $ 0.00 $ 0.03 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.12
Shares used in per share calculatic
Basic 88,184 79,742 72,970 72,510 71,998 71,611 71,261 70,717
Diluted 88,184 83,182 76,232 75,756 75,053 74,988 74,558 74,110

(1) Comparability affected by the increase in the viadureallowance related to the deferred tax assétiwiesulted in an increase in the provision faoime taxes of $1.3 million a
$1.0 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014ch2013, respectively.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repgrtin

There have not been any changes in the Compangteah control over financial reporting, as suaimtés defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934rasnded (the "Exchange Act") during the most refiecal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, the Company's internal control over financédorting.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of DisclosarControls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, fesluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as such tedwefised in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeEttehange Act, as of March 31, 2014.
Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive @©ffemd Chief Financial Officer have concluded thatpf March 31, 2014, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over FirariReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Baider the supervision and with the participatidiour management, including our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, werdlucted an assessment of the effectiveness afiteunal control over financial reporting
based on criteria established in the frameworiernal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. On Novem29, 2013, the Company completed the acquisitidfoicenet Solutions, Ltd
("Voicenet"). As permitted by applicable guidelirestablished by the Securities and Exchange Coriamjghie Company's management
excluded Voicenet's operations from its assessofanternal control over financial reporting asMérch 31, 2014. Voicenet's operations
represented 2% of the Company's consolidateddstadts, excluding goodwill and intangible assed,and 3% of the Company's consolidz
net sales as of and for the year ended March 34.Zased on this assessment, our management deddluat its internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of March 3Q12.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risks that controls may become inadtgbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Moss Adams LLP, an independent registered pubtioaating firm has audited and reported on the datested financial statements of 8x8,
Inc. and on the effectiveness of our internal adrdwer financial reporting. The report of Moss AtaLLP is contained in Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART Il

Certain information required by Part Il is omittedm this Report on Form 10-K. The Registrant \ii#t its definitive Proxy Statement for its
Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Regaiafi4A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rasraded, not later than 120 days after
the end of the fiscal year covered by this Regort] certain information included in the 2014 Pr&tsitement is incorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our directors and corporateggnance will be presented in our definitive prexgtement for our 2014 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be held on or about July 24 22@dhich information is incorporated into this reploy reference. However, certain
information regarding current executive officerarid under the heading "Executive Officers” in Iteérof Part | hereof is also incorporated by
reference in response to this Iltem 10.

We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics fmiea to our principal executive officer, princigaancial officer and all other employees
at 8x8, Inc. This Code of Conduct and Ethics ig@@b@ the corporate governance section of our ikehbs http://investors.8x8.com. We intend
to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Ited ®f Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or wafk@n, a provision of this Code of
Conduct and Ethics by posting such informatiorhm ¢orporate governance section on its websitét/mvestors.8x8.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information relating to executive compensation Wwél presented in our definitive proxy statementfar 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockhold:
to be held on or about July 24, 2014, which infaiorais incorporated into this report by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information relating to securities authorized fegsuiance under equity compensation plans and etfeemation required to be provided in
response to this item will be presented in ourrdiiéfie proxy statement for our 2014 Annual Meetofdstockholders to be held on or

about July 24, 2014, which information is incorgerhinto this report by reference. In addition,atggions of our equity compensation plans
are set forth in Part Il, Item 8 "FINANCIAL STATEMYTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- Note 5 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required to be provided in responsthis item will be presented in our definitive prostatement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on or about July 24, 2@idch information is incorporated into this repbytreference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required to be provided in responsthis item will be presented in our definitive prostatement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on or about July 24, 2@idch information is incorporated into this repbytreference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements. The information required by this item is includedtem 8.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules. The information required by this item is includedtem 8.

(8)(3) Exhibits. The documents listed on the Exhibit Index appeairirthis Report are filed herewith or hereby inagied by reference.
Copies of the exhibits listed in the Exhibit Indei be furnished, upon request, to holders or Ilfiered owners of the Company's common
stock.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisgt 8x8, Inc., a Delaware corporati
has duly caused this Report on FormKL@ be signed on its behalf by the undersigneekghnto duly authorized, in the City of San Josate
of California, on May 27, 2014.

8X8, INC.

By: /s/ VIKRAM VERMA
Vikram Verma,
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each peratiose signature appears below constitutes andrappdikram Verma an
Daniel Weirich, jointly and severally, his attorisen-fact, each with the power of substitution, for himany and all capacities, to sign i
amendments to this Report on FormK,0and to file the same, with exhibits thereto aitder documents in connection therewith, with
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ragifgimd confirming all that each of said attorneyant, or his substitute or substitutes, 1
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesExathange Act of 1934, this Report on FormKLBas been signed by the following persor
the capacities and on the date indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl VIKRAM VERMA Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive May 27, 2014
Vikram Verma Officer)
/s/ DANIEL WEIRICH Chief Financial Officer and Secretary May 27, 2014
Daniel Weirich (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s BRYAN R. MARTIN Chairman and Chief Technology Officer May 27, 2014
Bryan R. Martin
/sl GUY L. HECKER Director May 27, 2014
Guy L. Hecker, Jr.
/sl ERIC SALZMAN Director May 27, 2014
Eric Salzman
/s 1AN POTTER Director May 27, 2014
lan Potter
/sl JASWINDER PAL SINGH Director May 27, 2014

Jaswinder Pal Singh

/s/ VLADIMIR JACIMOVIC Director May 27, 2014
Vladimir Jacimovic
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8X8, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Numbel Exhibit Title

3.1 (w) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registraiated August 22, 2012
3.2(a) Bylaws of Registrant
10.1 (b)  Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and each of its directors and officers
10.2 (c) Employment Agreement dated September 9, 2013 battteeCompany and Vikram Verma
10.3 (d)* 1996 Stock Plan, as amended, and form of Stocko®ptgreement
10.4 (e)* Amended and Restated 1996 Employee Stock Purchasea® amended, and form of Subscription Agreement
10.5 (f)* 1996 Director Option Plan, as amended and Formirgfcibr Option Agreement
10.5.1 (g)* Form of Director Option Agreement for 1996 Direc@ption Plan
10.6 (h) Employment Agreement dated September 9, 2013 battheeCompany and Darren Hakeman
10.7 (i)* 2006 Stock Plan, as amended
10.8 (j)*  Severance Agreement and General Release
10.9 (k)* Form of 2006 Stock Option Agreement under the 28tagk Plan
10.10 ()*  Form of Notice of Award of Stock Purchase Right &tdck Purchase Agreement under the 2006 Stock Plan
10.11 Reserved
10.12 (m) Lease dated April 27, 2012, between Registrant@ig| Office Holdings, LLC
10.13 (n)  Acquisition Agreement between 8x8, Inc., Centraktitnc. and Andrew Schwabecher
10.14 (0)* Employment offer letter agreement between 8x8, dncl Debbie Jo Severin dated March 5, 2009
10.15 Reserved
10.16(p)* Annual Executive Incentive Plan.
10.17(q)* Amended and Restated Contactual, Inc. 2003 Stotio®plan
10.18(q)* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the AmendatiRestated Contactual, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan
10.19(r)* 2012 Equity Incentive Plan
10.20(s)* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2012 Bguitentive Plan
10.21(s)* Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit Award alhgreement under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan
10.22(t)* Management Incentive Bonus Plan
10.23(u)  8x8, Inc. 2013 New Employee Inducement IncentivaPlI
10.24(u)  Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 NempByee Inducement Incentive Plan
10.25(u)  Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit Axdt and Agreement under the 2013 New Employee brdeat
Incentive Plan

10.23(v)  Share Purchase Agreement, dated November 11, B@Ehd among 8x8 UK Investments Limited and 8x8, and the
material sellers and the material optionholders\énidenet Solutions Limited

21.1** Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.1** Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on page 71)
31.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Reggant pursuant to Rule 13a-14
31.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Risgrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14
32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Reggant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedupntdo Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Risgrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedupntgo Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS** XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
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101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

* Indicates management contract or compensatory @larrangement.

**Ejled herewith.

(@)
(b)

()
(d)
(e)
®
(9)
(h)
(i)
)
(k)
()
(m)
(n)
(0)
(p)
(a)
(n
(s)
®
(u)

(v)
(w)

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.2 to theiRteant's Report on Form 8-K filed October 23, 2Q&Be No. 000-21783).

Incorporated by reference to the same numberedigxhd the Registrant's Registration Statemerfanm S-1 Commission File
No. 333-15627), as amended, declared effective Julp97.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to thgiReant's Form 10-Q filed November 8, 2013 (File. R00-21783)
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 to theiRtegnt's Form S-8 filed November 7, 2000 (File B83-49410).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5 to thgiBeant's Form S-8 filed September 26, 2006 (Ride 333-137599).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to thgiBeant's Form S-8 filed August 28, 2003 (File 1983-108290).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2 to theiRtegnt's Form S-8 filed November 7, 2000 (File B83-49410).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.6 to thgiReant's Form 10-Q filed November 8, 2013 (File. R00-21783)
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7 to thgiReant's Form 10-K filed May 26, 2009 (File N@(321783).

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8 to thgiReant's Form 8-K filed November 5, 2013 (File.Nd60-21783)
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to thgiBeant's Form 10-Q filed February 7, 2007 (File. R00-21783).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10 to tlegiBrant's Form 10-K filed May 26, 2009 (File N@0-21783).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.12 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-K filed May 24, 2012 (File 600-21783).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.12 to tlegiBrant's Form 10-K filed May 27, 2010 (File N@0-21783).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.13 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-K filed May 23, 2011 (File N@0-21783).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-Q filed July 22, 2011 (File 60-21783).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.16 and 1@olthe Registrant's Form S-8 filed Septembe2021 (File No. 333-176895).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.19 to tlegiBtrant's Form S-8 filed August 28, 2012 (File R83-183597).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.20 and 1@o2he Registrant's Form S-8 filed August 28,2(Hile No. 333-183597).
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.19 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-Q filed January 25, 2013 (Rite 000-21783).

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.23, 10.2d #0.25 to the Registrant's Form S-8 filed Septamib, 2013 (File No. 333-
191080).

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 2.2 to theiReant's Form 8-K filed November 13, 2013 (File A60-21783)
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to theiBteant's Form 10-K filed May 28, 2013 (File no0821783)
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8x8, Inc.

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Netergy Microelectronics, Inc. California, USA
Visit, Inc. California, USA
Contactual, Inc. Delaware, USA
Zerigo, Inc. Colorado, USA
Voicenet Solutions Limited United Kingdom

8x8 UK Investments Limited United Kingdom

EXHIBIT 21.1




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-3 No. 333-18748ad, Form B
Nos. 33:-30943, 333-15627, 333-50519, 333-49410, 333-66338-90172, 333-108290, 333-118642, 328337
333-137599, 333-176895, 333-183597, 333-1894523834.91080) of our report dated May 27, 2014, relatmghe
consolidated financial statements of 8x8, Inc., Hreeffectiveness of internal control over finaheeporting of 8x¢
Inc., appearing in this Annual Report (Form 10-&) the year ended March 31, 2014.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

San Francisco, California
May 27, 2014




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIERCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Verma, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f&x8, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

A. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

B. Designed such internal control over financialoming, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registram@asure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

D. Disclosed in this report any change in the regrgts internal control over financial reportingttoccurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anbalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

A. All significant deficiencies and material weakaes in the design or operation of internal cordx@r financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; ar

B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significée in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

May 27, 2014

/s/ VIKRAM V ERMA
Vikram Verma
Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.Z
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIERCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel Weirich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f&x8, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

A. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

B. Designed such internal control over financialoming, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registram@asure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

D. Disclosed in this report any change in the regrgts internal control over financial reportingttoccurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anbalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

A. All significant deficiencies and material weakaes in the design or operation of internal cordx@r financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; ar

B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significée in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

May 27, 2014

/s/ DANIEL W EIRICH
Daniel Weirich
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary







Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 1048®8, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended Me8d, 2014, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he "Report"), I, Vikram Verma, Chief Executi@ficer of the Company, hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aptatbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxtewf 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairlggents, in all material respects, the financiad@n and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ V IKRAM V_ERMA
Vikram Verma
Chief Executive Officer

May 27, 2014

This certification accompanies this Report purstiarg 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 andl siod, except to the extent required by
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or otherwise remgljibe deemed filed by the Company for purpos&s1@ of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 1048®8, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended Me8d, 2014, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date@h@he "Report”), I, Daniel Weirich, Chief FinaatiOfficer and Secretary of the
Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.i8ec350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 dbérbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairlggents, in all material respects, the financiad@n and results of operations of the
Company.

[s/ DANIEL W EIRICH
Daniel Weirich
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

May 27, 2014

This certification accompanies this Report purstarg906 of the Sarban@xley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the ektequired by th
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or otherwise requibeddeemed filed by the Company for purposes ofd1Be Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.




